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PREFACE.

HE previous volume of the Architecture of Ahmadabid took account of the

* principal Muhammadan buildings erected there from the foundation of the city
in A.D. 1412 to about 1520. There remained, however, several strnctures belonging
to the latter portion of that period that were excluded from want of space, and these
are taken up in the present volume, whilst the series is continued down into
the eighteenth century, Thus, together with volume VI of the Western India Survey
Reports, which dealt with the Muhammadan architecture of the districts outside
Ahmadibéd, this may be regarded as completing the survey of the Gujarit style
of Muslim Architecture, and the three volumes together as forming o monograph on
the subject. This volume has accordingly been supplied with an index to the
three.

But as the Muhammadan remains at Ahmadibid are so very numerous, it is
only a selection of them that could be surveyed and delineated in any defail; to
supply some idea, however, of those that have been passed over, short descriptive
accounts have been given in chapters XV and XVT of those within the city and in
the suburbs respectively. These accounts or notes are based on the returns prepared
for the Collectar in 1886 by the Deputy-Collector, Mr. J, F'. Fernandez, supplemented
by personal observation and from the Lists of Remains prepared by me in 1884-5.

With this survey it was necessary to include the step-well or Wav of Bai Harir,
constructed under Muhammadan supervision, but entirely Hindd in execution, and
with it both the adjoining early Hindd well of Méatd Bhavéni, and the sister well to
BAi Harir's at Adilaj; and with t}mag, ﬂldﬁﬁ&iiﬁn Jaina temple of Seth Hathisingh
together with a ﬂhg]u-angc%h.afﬁlm u.u_ﬁz*s in the city belonging to the
Srivak sect. I*urthwr—-ﬂune;rﬁ were also made: in the surrounding districts—at
Viramgdm, Mindal, Kapadvaiij, and barnulum remains, both Muhammadan and
Hindil, and some account of these has been added so as to include the whole of
the materials eollected.

The drawings, as in previous volumes, were mostly prepared under the super-
vision of Mr. Henry Cousens, to whom was largely entrusted the details of the
gurvey after 1886; and to him are also dume nearly all the photographs used. In
such a publication the illustrations are a most important feature of the work;
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vi PREFACE.

and, whether in plans or decorative details, these represent with architectural accuracy
the monuments described in the text.

The ornamental details are so beantiful and interesting that it may be regretted
that several of them ave mnot reproduced to larger scales: but finaneial considerations
interposed in this, in the arrangement of some of theé details, and in the reproducing
of more of the illustrative photographs made for the survey.

In the preparation of the texi | have received valuable assistance from Rev. Geo.
P. Taylor of Almadibid, and through him from the late Misé Miyin, the represen-
tative of the descendants of Shah ‘Alam, and from Sayyid Fakrud-din Abubakr al
Edriis, Huziir Dgguty Collector : 10 these my special thanks are due.

This volume complstes, T believe, my work for the Government of India.

Edinburgh, February 1905.

ERRATA IN PART L

P. 2, L. 24, for Nasirol din read Nasrat Khiin,

P, 2, 1. 29, for Mubammad Tughlaq IT read Mabmid Shih 1T of the Toghlagi dynasty.
P. 2, L. 32, for Muhammad Shith réad Mshmid Shib.

P. 7, L 6, and p. 8, No. 13, fir Mubammad ITT read Malmid LTI

F. 8, lust line, for imposter read imposior.

P. 14, under woodeut, for Vintara SAb read TEianrins Vastoriza.
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THE

ARCHZEOLOGICAL SURVEY OF WESTERN INDIA.

ARCHITECTURE

OF

AHMADABAD.

PART IL

CHAPTER L
MATA BHAVANI'S STEP-WELL,

Prates 1T, XIIT axp XIV.

N the previous volume on the Architecture of Ahmadibid, the principal féatures of

the Muhammadan buildings in that city were traced from the date when it became

the eapital of the Ahmad Shihi dynasty early in the fifteenth century, down to about

a century later. In that review, however, some monuments that belong to the end of

this period were passed over, from considerations of space and grouping, which may

now be taken up as preliminary to the account of the architecture of the city and
surrounding district during the subsequent sixteenth and seventeeth centuries.

First among the earlier buildings stands the old Hindli step-well at Asfrwi,
known as MAtd Bhavéni's, about threequarters of a mile outside Almaddbad to the
north-east, and three hundred yards to the north of the later Muhammadan well,
known as Dad8, or BAi Harir's Wiv, in connection] with which it may be most
conveniently treated.

A Wiv or bauli is a large structure, picturesque and stately as well as peculiar
in design, but eminently suited to the habits of the Hindis. It comsists of two
parts :—a well, ecircular or oectagonal, from which the water is drawn up for brriga-
tion, in skins, by the help of bullocks, the draw-ropes passing over rollers fixed on
the upper edge of the shaft; and secondly, a series of galleries or floors, connected

by flights of steps descending successively from the uppermost platform to a lower
A
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landing on which stand pillars supporting a roof of equal breadth above. A second
flight of steps continues the descent to a still lower landing, aver which are two storevs.
In this way the descent continues stage by stage till the water level is reached ; and
this level may vary with the season, This second portion ends in the cistern or
reservoir, which connects with the draw-well. Round the shaft of this reservoir are
platforms in each storey, protected by parapets surrounding the octagonal shaft—
their backs forming seats for loungers. To these platforms round the shaft descend
spiral stairs constructed in the side walls of the wiv.

The Hindd well at Asarwd (Plate IT) takes the name of Mitd Bhavéani’s from a
small shrine, formed in the back of the cireular shaft of the draw-well at the west end,
Just above the water level, and appropriated to that mother-goddess, the Sakti of Siva,
and, as a goddess of production, usually identified with Pérvati, This epithet for
the wiv, however, has no certain claim to antiquity, though the well evidently
belongs to the pre-Mubammadan period and probably goes back to the eleventh
century. Nor does the small shrine of Bhavini appear to be original—indeed it is
probably of quite recent date. It is built on to the circular wall of the shaft and
supported by cross-beams upon brackets. A Gosain or devotee closed in the
space on the middle landing, between three of the pillars and the wall, as a
residence, where he collected some detached figures of Durgf, Ganapati, &c., and
obtained a living from the people.

If Ahmadabid really oceupies the site of the earlier Karndivati, as is reasonably
supposed, then this wiv may probably belong to the reign of Karpa Solanki
(L063-1093 A.D.) the reputed founder of Karndvati.

Compared with the later wells of Didé or Bii Harir close by, and that at
Adalaj to the north of Ahmadfbid, it is inferior in plan, but is interesting ns one
of the earliest of the kind that has survived to our times,

The circular shaft of the draw-well is 16 feet in diameter and is connected by a
neck about 6 feet wide with the cistern of the well, which is some 31 feet in length
by 16 in width (Plate XIIT). The platform immediately in front of this is 17 feet
across, nnder a roof supported on six pillars, and is appreached by a stair leading
down from the gallery above, where is also another platform on which stand six
pillars supporting the roof over it again; and to this the upper stair leads down.
These stairs are not well arranged,—for, the ascent being too great for the space
allowed, each series of steps 1s broken about the middle, and short steps inserted at
right angles to the line of descent. These somewhat obstruct the approach; but, at
the same time they provide resting places, where the women ecan more easily set
down their water-pots and again lift them on to their heads,

Rising above the ground level, over each landing platform in the descent, is a
canopy supported by nine pillars (Plate II). These chhatris or canopies lave
projecting eaves and form an additional storey above each platform. The pillars
throughout the work are very plain, having square hases and lower shafts, changing
first to octagonal and then to cirecular, with bracket capitals (Plate XIV, fig. 2). At
the corners of the roofs of these canopies are conventional lions, and in the middle
of each side there were figures of secondary Hindfi divinities, now partly
destroyed.
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The frieze forming the face of the side parapets or sereen walls of the canopies
is earved in that old style which is found so often on the walls of Hindii and Jaina
temples of the tenth and later centuries—and derived from the Buddhist rail-pattern
of earlier times. This is illustrated in the photograph, Plate II, and on Plate XIV,
fig, 1.

The interest of this old wiv consists largely in its being almost the last
remaining example of purely Hindfi times, and in having supplied the pattern for
the similar structures of a much later period under Mubammadan rule. We may
easily trace this in their arrangements, as in that of the neighbouring one of full
four eenturies later date.
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CHAPTER IL
BAI HARIR'S WAV, MOSQUE AND TOMB.

Prates [1I, XIV-XVI, axp XVIIL

F second Wiy at Asirwd is known as Did@ Harir's or Bai Harir's wév

(Plate ITL.) Tt was constructed at the expense of a certain lady, who is deseribed
in a Sanskrit inscription placed in the first gallery, on the south or left side of the
descent, as B4l Sri Harira, “the chief superintendent at the entrance of the royal
apartments (or harim), the illustrious and pious lady Sri Harira, the chief adviser of
the king Mahmfid.” This epigraph is dated on Monday l3th Pausha-sudi, Samvat
1556, and Saka 1421: which would correspond to 15th December 1499 A.D. but
that day fell on a Sunday, though 13th Pausha-vadi fell on Monday, 30th December,
1499 Again, on a marble slab in the north wall, is another insecription, in Arabic,
which speaks of “this splendid building, enclosed by walls with carved ornaments
and a plantation of Ffruit-bearing trees,”” as constructed “during the reign of
Nisir-ad-dunya wa'd-din Abu'l Fath Mahmiid Shéh, son of Mubammad Shih, son of
Almad Shéh, &c., by Sri Bii Harir Sultini, whom his angust majesty made the
chief attendant at the door of the guarded entrance (harim). On the 8th Jumida I,
906 A.H.” or Monday, 30th November 1500 A.D., that is, a year later than the date
in the other inscription.’

The cost of the structure, as stated in the Sanskrit imseription, was 329,000 of
some unspecified coin, most probably however, the mahmidi—being the coin of the
reign, and which was valued at about 27 mahkmidis to 13 rupees:’ whence this
expenditure would amount to about 158,400 rupees.

This well and the one at Addlaj, twelve miles to the north of Ahmadibid, which
was also built about the same time, are by far the finest now left in Gujarit,—the
second being somewhat the larger, Bai Harir's, from the front of the ascent to the
pavilion at the entrance on the east end, to the west side of the shaft of the draw-well,
measures over all 241} feet; and from the first step of the descent towards the well
to the same point, 2154 feet. The width of the platforms in the galleries is 16 feet
13 inch, and of the stairs nearly 13§ feet.* But round the octagonal shaft, near the
west end, it widens into a square of 24 feet (Plates XV and XVI).

\ Epigraphia Indica, vol. IV, pp. 207-300, and vol. V, app. No. 300.

* Under the last syllables of the Arabic inseription are the figures “26" ; this cannot be the regual
year, for that wans in AH, 889, The date in this inseription has sometimes been misread ; the version
given bere was kindly supplied by Sir Charles J. Lyall, and confirms that of Mr. Briggs, Cities of
Gujarashira, p. 218,

¥ Wicquefort, Swite de la Relat, du Voyage & Adam Olearivs, (vol. 10), p. 232; Briggs, Cities of
Gujarashtra, p. 218. A muhmitdi was thus equal to 7 dpis, 8} paisa, or n hondred rupees would be
abont equal to 208 mafmidis, and 100 mafmidis to 48 ropecs.

¢ In the Bombay Gazetteer, vol. IV, p. 282, the date of the inseriptious is erroneously given ns 1485 A.D.|
the eost at 3,00,000 rupees, and the dimensions (taken from Briggs) ne 196 feet in length by 40 feet wide.
Conf. Forbes, Oriental Memoirs, vol. IIL, p. 140,
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At the east end, the well is approached from a pavilion, 14 feet 9 inches square
inside, covered by a dome which is supported by twelve pillars, standing on a
platform raised fully 6 feet above the ground-level and reached by steps on the three
outer sides. From the west side of this the stair leads down to the well, having
one broad step in the middle of the descent, and lands 11 feet below, on the
platform in the first gallery. This platform is 19 feet broad and is covered by a
roof supported on eight pillars standing on it with corresponding pilasters against
the walls. Again a second flight of steps leads down to the floor of the second
gallery, on a platform 9 feet broad with four pillars supporting the roof. TFrom this,
a third stair leads down into the lower gallery, at a depth of 32 feet Y inches—having
{hree tiers of roofs over it on the levels of the different platforms (Plates XV
and XVI). Unlike Mitd Bhavini's, the storeys over the platforms do not rise as
pavilions above the sides of the wiy (Plate 111, 1).

Usually the water stands well up in the third gallery, the fourth being always
submerged. Hence the depths—beyond about 25 feet—can only be found by the
plummet, and the floor of the fourth gallery must be covered with mud and debris
to some depth: the soundings give from 98 to 40 feet below the level of the
entrance pavilion, but it may be two or even three feet lower. The fonrth is the
lowest of the galleries, and its platform is carried forward to the octagonal well—a
length of over 50 feet. After the third gallery is reached and the depth exceeds
30 feet, the side walls require more support, and the builders, well aware of this,
divided the next opening, over the stair leading down from the third gallery, into
two, by lintels 4 feet broad, in each storey, supporied by two pairs of coupled
chafts ; and ngain, after another roof of about 19 feet in length standing on eight
pillars, a second chuft follows, similarly divided by lintels in each storey. DBy this
structural arrangement the side thrusts of the walls were effectively met and
OVETCOIE,

The octagonal well (Plates 01, 2, XV, 2 and XVI) is an open shaft 14 feet
9 inches across, with low parapet walls 2 feet high round it on each floor and at
the top. The faces of these parapets towards the shaft are elaborately carved in
tracery of purely Hindu pattern, though without figure seulpture. The whole width
of the structure here forms a square of 24 feet, allowing a passage quite round the
shaft,—the pillars being arranged as they would be to support a dome, that is, in
a square of twelve so disposed that eight form a regular octagon. In the side
walls of this area are spiral staircases by which access is found from above to the
platforms in the different storeys,—the entries above being under two small square
canopies or chhatris above the ground level.

Bétween the main shaft, which is over 46 feet in depth, and the circular
draw-well at the west end, there are also platforms in each gallery, the sections
next to the latter being about 5 feet 4 inches wide and having a seat with its
sloping back towards the shaft. Here, and round the main shaft, loungers could
enjoy a cool retreat during the hottest hours of the day.

The coping of the side walls :s carved on the lower margin after the same
pattern as at Maita Bhavéni’s, and the friezes round the octagonal shaft are only a
little richer in detail than those over the gallery fronts in that earlier work. The
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latter has also string ecourses introduced at intervals on the wall faces after the
manner in which they are employed to decorate the walls of mosques (Plate III, 2).
In line with the Hivors of the upper galleries are ledges projecting abont a foot
from the side walls and supported on the under side by carved brackets: these run
round the circular shaft also (Plate XVI).

In the walls of the first ‘gallery, between the pilasters, are three niches or
panels on each sides the central ones contain the inscriptions already mentioned,
and the others are ﬁ]!ed with tracery in the florid style of the similar niches in the
minarets of the mnaques “but these have higher pediments. Other niches, similarly
carved, recur in the galleries over the second and third landings, in the side walls
of the gallery round the main shaft, and one in the end shaft at the level of the
second gallery (Plate XVI). Of these examples—two from the lower and one from
the upper galleries—are given on Plate XTIV, fig. 3, and Plate XVIII, figs. 1, 2, one
of them presenting the purely Hindfi decoration of conventionalized peacocks and
snakes and the others showing patterns more like those employed in windows than
what are usual in the niches of minarets’

The whole work is admirably coneeived for its purpose, and the structural
execution is carefully planned to meet the thrusts of the side walls, whilst the
ornamental seulpture is rich and tastefully applied. |

The well at the west extremity is worked by one of the Gosvimi Mahirijas
of the notorious Vallabhichirya sect, for the irrigation of his land adjoining on the
north of the wiiv, the water being raised in the usual way—in a skin which is
drawn up by bullocks by means of ropes passing over an axle. The arrangements
for this are supported by masonry raised over brackets in the wall of the ghaft.

The adjoining land, measuring about 5} acres of which 4% acres are cultivated,
is held by the Gosvimi as jaf or personal in‘dm, and was granted to a predecessor,
in November 1833, in exchange for ground previously belonging to him in the
village of Vejalpur, lying to the west of Ahmadibid, which was then required by
Government for the erection of butts for artillery practice.”

About twenty-five years ago, Government spent a thousand rupees on repairs
to this well.

Tug Mosque axp Tous,
Prates IV, V, XIV, 4, axp XVII-XXL

At Asiarwa, Bai Harir is said to have founded a suburb that went by the name
of Harirptira; and to the west of the well are a mosque and tomb or rauza that
still preserve her name. In 1847 when Mr. Henry G. Briggs visited the latter,
he found the tombs inside destroyed—apparently by the Gosvimi's people, whose
encroachments, however, were stopped through the interference of the Qégi.

YIn the Jowrnal of Indian Ari and Inn'nrr_,-, val, ".'1 {Ict, 1895, on plates 79-81, are given some more

detnils of thess niches,
* Briggs, Cities of Gujorashira, p. 219; Crawley-Boovey, Scheme for the profection and conservation

of antient buildings at Ahmedabad (1886); spp. p. Ixxv.



PLATE IWV.

f-H”"l“ &l
*‘.‘tln l||

.m.,;

MASJID OF BAl HARIR AT ASARWA.






BAL HARIR'S MOSQUE AND TOMBE.

The plan of this mosque (Plate XVII) is a simplilication of those of Bibi Achut
Kuki and Miyin Khin Chishti,—the width of the building being in this case
restricted to the dinmeter of the domes—or 1D feet; but in length it has five
domes, each with its corresponding gibla or mihrdh in the west wall, Over the
walls the building measures 204 feet deep by 874 in length, and the pillars
supporting the domes are arranged in pairs. A
comparison of the plans of the mosques just
mentioned' shows that the stairs leading up behind
the minarets were managed in the same way in all
three ; the design of the fagade bears amalogy to that
of the Rajapur Masjid as well as to that of Miydn
Khan Chishti's; the turrets, though plainer in the
octagonal portions, are treated somewhat like those
of Bibi Achut Kuki’s; and the resemblances in
the details of the three mosqgues, sufficiently confirm
ihe tradition that this ome belongs also to the end

of the fifteenth century or the beginning of the

cixteenth. And mmong those of that period it 1s
deserving a place, which—owing to its locality and

its neglected treatment during the last fifty years—
has not hitherto been assigned to it.”
Unfortunately, about thirty years ago, the
sonth minaret had become unsafe and was taken
down by the Public Works Department, but no
attempt was subsequently made to vebuild it, and,
as in the case of other mosques similarly treated, f Ao
the stones were still lying in front of the mosque 1. Mmvarer ox BAT Hasin's Mosque?
at the time of the survey. The accompanying
illustration (No. 1), from a photograph taken about 1870, shows a large portion of
the south minaret as it then was. What is still left of these minarets i8

richly carved from the ground up to 2% feet ahove the front of the side wings,
or to 183 feet from the ground (Plates IV and XIX), Above this they were
octagonal and plain, except for a string-course at the head of the front screen wall
or central section of the fagade, which rises about 10 feet higher than the wings,

1 See Ahmadabad, Part 1, Plates Ixxvil ond xxxvit,

* Except by Briggs, in his Cities of Gujarashira, this mosque and tomb had searcely been noticed ;
Colonel Biggs took no photograph of it, so that it was not referred to in Hope and Fergnsson's
Ahmedabad (1866). After the survey, rome students from the Bombay School of Art were sent in 1893
to muke drawings, which were published in the Journal of Indian Art and Tndustry, vol. VI (1895},
where the north end wing of the mosque is represented, on Plates T4 and 73, with s wall on the sotith
gide, ns if it werd the whole structure, and egven the butiress behind the Mibrih is gmitted both in plan
and seetion.

* From Capt. Lyon’s photograph.  The minaret was then eutire though shaken, Whether any
drawing wans mnde before demolishing the minnrets here and elsewhere in Abmadibid, so.na to provide
for their correct restorntion, is not kpown., The oldest mosque—that of Abhmumd Shah in the Bhadr—
and others were similarly deprived of their turreis, and the stongs long left lying sbout instend of being

replaced whilst ench course of the original masonry Was gtill known.
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and extends to a length of 40 feet. At this height the minarets had projecting
mouldings, supported on small brackets, and with imitation antefixa carved in relief
on the octagonal shaft, which rose another storey above this and was crowned by a
carved projecting balcony supported on brackets. A short section above this again
was circular and upheld a second balcony for the mu’azzan, who came ont from a
door on this balcony:—it was the three upper storeys that were taken down. The
lower portions of the minarets are very elaborately carved in the usual style, and
the two front niches in the south minfir are represented on Plate XXI, fig. 3, and
another panel from the side on Plate XVIII, fig. 3.

The building has been long uncared for and roughly handled ; the entrances to
the wings have mostly been bricked up, and the beautiful perforated stone tracery
in the windows—of which there were tem in the west wall and two in each end—
has been much destroyed. In the front are two balcony windows supported by
carved brackets and sills, and a larger one of the same pattern in each end
(Plate 1IV),

The central dome, behind the front screen, like that of Muhédfaz Khén's and
other fifteenth-century mosques, rises on a second storey, the side walls of which
were of perforated work over a carefully carved frieze,~—but there is no inner gallery.
This arrangement is best explained by the section on Plate XIX.

The pulpit was also of the high pattern in use in the early mosques, but the
canopy over it has long since disappeared. The milrdbs or gqiblas are, as usual,
carved with taste, and there was an inseription over the central ome. The mihrib
in the north wing is represented in detail on Plate XVIII, figs. 4, 5 and 6.

The whole structure has been covered of late inside and out by thick coatings
of whitewash, which takes away from its appearance.

The tomb or dargih stands close to the mosque on the north-east, upon a low
base or platform, 50 feet square ; on this are twenty pillars which support the verandah
surrounding the domed room, 27 feet square inside (Plates XVII and XX, fig. 1).
These pillars are unusually richly carved with surface ornament on their bases and
capitals, and on the outer faces they have elaborately wrought projecting brackets, to
support the sloping drip or eaves that overhangs the fagade. One of the columns
is represented on Plate XXI, fig. 2.

The walls are faced by twelve pilasters corresponding to the pillars in the front
of the verandah, and support the lintels of the roof. The tomb itself is covered by
a dome resting on the four walls, and on arches thrown across the corners—heing the
earliest instance here of this mode of construction. To make room for these, the walls
rise to a height of 23 feet, and have a perforated window in each side wall of the upper
storey, These have been wrought, in some cases, with a single pattern running through
the different panels: one of them is represented on Plate XIV, fig. 4. The entrance
is on the south side, and the arched openings on the other three sides were probably
at first filled in with perforated stone work; but they have long since been bricked
up (Plate V). The dome is carefully carved with a small pendant in the centre
(Plate XVI, 3). There are three graves in the floor—two of men, and one of a

! These figures are from the dmwings by a Bombay School of Art Student in the Jowr. Ind. Art
aml Industry, vol. VI, plate 78,
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woman—but they are probably of a date not earlier than the commencement of last
century (Plate XVII), '

The corner squares of the verandah are roofed by small domes, and the rest by
flat roofing, and the whole has very projecting eaves. These small domes have been
earved with an elaboration and care that could hardly have been exeelled in marble
or ivory. One of them is drawn in detail on Plate XXI, fig. 1.

The antefixa, that crowned the eornice of the verandahs, and the walls sy pporting
the dome of this rauza, have heen largely destroyed or carried away, but were
of exquisite beauty and endless variety of ornamentation. An example of those from
the upper cornice is given on Plate XVII, fig. 2, and others appear in the photograph,
Plate V. The stops on the under edge of the cornice are also carved with taste
(see Plate XVII, fig, 4).

The corner openings into the verandah are filled by low breast walls, the outer
faces of which are beautifully carved im a remarkable variety of ornament, all in
perfect harmony and yet without repetition of the patterns. On the inner side this
wall is 31 inches in height, with a ledge 16 inches high on the outer face, sloping
outwards to form a back or rest for the seat formed on the upper plinth of the wall
such as is often found in the mandapas or halls of Hindd temples. A section of this
breast wall at the east énd of the south face is given in detail on Plate XX, fig. 2.
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CHAPTER TIL
THE ADALAJ WAV OR STEP-WELL, AND OTHERS.

Prares VI, XXII, axp XXX, rias. 3, 4.

ERIAPS the finest of the Gujarfit Wivs is that at the village of Adélaj, about
twelve miles north from Ahmadabid, buailt almost at the same time as, and not
very materially differing in plan and dimensions from that of B&i Harir. It varies,
however, -in the arrangements of the access; for here the entrance to the head of the
stair is from both sides, and is reached by a few steps from the ground level,
landing on platforms 23 and 26 feet across, from which again are descents of
11 feet on three sides to a spacious landing which measures 41 feet each way,
This wiv runs from south to north, and the stair from the north side of the landing
leads down to the reservoir (Plate XXII).

On the first platform stand twelve pillars, forming a square 221 feet across,
between their centres. These are arranged in the usual way, so that an octagon is
formed by the lintels connecting the inner eight, which support a deep frieze, richly
carved after the style of sculpture on the Ahmadibid wells (Plate XXII, plan),
Probably this supported a dome over the landing, which, however, has long since
disappeared. Behind these pillars, on each side, stand two others, which, with those
of the octagon, form porches on the four sides of the area. The pillars on the north
side stand on the descent and are taller than the others ; they are also more elaborately
carved as shown in the detail drawing, Plate XXII, p. At the corners of the platform
are four small rooms—each only about 4 feet square inside,—with balcony windows
facing east and west, and doors on the north and sonth sides. The details of the
window (o) at the head of the descent, on the right, are given in the plan, section
and elevation of it on Plate XXIT, ¢; and it will be noted that, though generally the
sculpture closely resembles that on Bai Harir's, there is inserted here below the sill
a course of Hindf animal figure sculpture. This is continued on the string-course
at the same level all along the walls of the wiv.

The descents of the stairs are gentle, every fifth step being of double breadth,
and the height of the galleries from floor to floor is about 11 feet G inches,

Carved niches occur only in the upper gallery and are of the patterns found in
the mindrs and giblas of mosques (Plate XXX, & #), showing how the Hindd
artificers applied their designs in the works they erected—to whatever religious class
they belonged.

In the second gallery on the right side of the octagonal well, over a door
leading to the spiral stair that comes down from the ground level (Plate VI, fig. 2)
18 a frieze carved with the Navagraha or lords of the nine grahas. These are the
sun and moon, five planets, and the ascending and descending nodes of the moon.
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The nine figures (illustration 2) are rather coarsely carved and have suffered from
age, damp, and possibly violence. They are perhaps a remnant of that Sun-worship,
once so prevalent in Gujarit.! The two on the right are Rihu—the ascending
node,—represented by a head (the Dragon’s head of western phraseology), and Kétu,
who has a head with the tail of a fish, representing the descending node (or
Dragon’s tail).

The Hindis arrange the planets, as in the classic systems of astronomy,” in
the order of their distances from the earth, beginning with the remotest: viz.
(1) Sani—Saturn ; (2) Tirihnﬁ}'mt-i——-]upiter, (3) Mangala—Mars, (4) Stirya or Ravi—
the sun, (5) Sukra—Venus, (6) Budha—Mercury; and (7) Soma—the Moon. As
with the Greeks, each hour of the day was assigned in succession to one of the
planetary divinities as lords or presidents, whilst the whole day is presided over

9 Tue Navi Guani 15 ApAnaz Waiv.

and takes its name from the lord of the first hour. Ravivara or Sunday 1s also
recognised as the first day of the present age; and so the enumeration begins with
Sirya, to whom is assigned the first, 8th, 15th and 22nd hour, the 23rd then falls
to Venus, the 24th to Mercury and the 25th hour, or first of the second day, to the
Moon or Soma as lord of Monday. In the same way the 49th hour and 3rd day
fall to Mangala, and so on,—always passing over two in the list—to Budha,
Brihaspati, Sukra, Sani, in succession.

In this representation, the planetary divinities are arranged in the order of
the days of the week: the first figure on ‘the left is easily recognised as Sfirya,
Lolding two sun-flowers or lotuses ; Soma or Chandra scarcely differs in form from
him; Mangala or Bhauma—Mars, is four-armed and bolds an ankufa or elephant
goad in his upper right hand,—the other emblems are defaced. The next figure shows
how the Hindfis themselves make mistakes in their own mythology, for, instead
of Budha or Mercury, who presides over Wednesday, the sculptor has here carved

1 See Arch. Sur. Westn. India, vol, IX, pp. 72-T4,
t Conf. Ideler, Handbh, d. Math, w. tech. Chronologie, B, I. Ss. 1786 ; Ind. dstiguary, vol. X1V,
p. 322 f. The month is always reckoned as of 70 solar daye, and follows the same system : if the first manth

begin with Sunday, Siiryn presides over it and the next month will begin with Mangala as its lond, and
s0 on, The artificial year of 360 days has also its presiding planetary divinities, fixed hy the same method
{ Siirya Siddhanta xii, 78-79).

2
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a figure of Buddha—the founder of Buddhism.! The presiding divinity of Thursday
is Brihaspati or Gurn—four-armed and recognised hy his beard; Sukra is also
four-armed and holds up something like three water-pots one upon another on his
upper left hand ; and Sani or Saturn, fourarmed, has a bullock at his left foot.
Rihn and Kétn,—the ascending and descending nodes—not representing real planets,
have no place in the astrological government of the day.

In one of the niches on the right side of the upper gallery is a Sanskrit
inseription which begins “Samvat 1558 (A.D. 1502) in the month Magha, Mahmid
‘adshih being king. Salutation to Vindyaka, to whose race belonged king Mokala,
chief of the district of Dand&hi. To lim was born Karna, whose son was Milarija.
Mahipa was Mdlardja's son, and Virasimha and Naisha were the sons of Mahipa.
Virasimha's queen, whose name is Rijhé (or Riid4) has constructed this well: it is
dedicated at the timeé when the sun is in the north, in the month Migha, the bright
fortnight, the fifth day, Wednesday, the lunar asterism Uttard, the karana Bava, the
voga being Siddhi.”

Then follows a glowing deseription of the structure, after which the consort of
the clief is praised in a few verses; and the cost is stated at 500,111 fankas.®
What this sum exaetly amounted to depends on the value of the tatka which is
rather uncertain ; if it were a third of a rupee the amount would be about 1,606,700
rupees or slightly over the cost of the Asirwd wiv of the same date. If, however,
the faika were two-thirds of a mahmidi, or searcely one-third of a rupee (and it
probably bore some such definite relation to these coins), then the sum named would
be somewhat less, or about 1,60,500 Rs. and 3,533,450 mabmudis. '

This Virasimha, whose consort constructed the well, was a descendant of
Anandadeva Vighela the chief of Kalol. With his brother Ajitrasimha, he is said
to have been at feud with the Muhammadans, who slew the elder brother and placed
u garrison in Kdlol. It was, however, held for several generations afterwards hy
Virpsimha's descendants till it was lost in A.D. 1728 by Bhagatsimha. That chief
retived on Limbodard, a village which he took from the Anjani Kubis, and it
continues to be held Dby his descendants who still claim to be the representative
chiefs of the Vighela family.*

As already mentioned, the wiv runs from south to north—the approach being
at the south end; and from the back of the irrigation shaft, at the north end to
the extreme south of the masonry is 251 feet, or a little in excess of the length
of Bl Harir's. The shaft is 17 feet in diameter; the width of the landing
platform 23 feet, and of that round the main shaft is 28 feet. To this latter
s spiral stair descends on each side as at Ahmadibid, but there are no canopies
or chhatris above their entrances: —possibly they have been destroyed.

| Even Europeans in their theorizings have nol eseaped this error : see Cuoningbinm, Bhilse Topes, pret
p. vil. For some pecount of the Noavagraba wand their cepresentations see my paper in the Jhdias
Antiguary, vol. XXXIII, pp. 61 1

2 Architecture and Scenery in Gujarat and Rojpulann, p. 7.

It mny, however, have been somewhat less, or abont o quarter of & rupee. Conl, Thomas, Chronicles
of the Pathan kings of Delki, pp. 30u. 224n.

¢ Rias Mala, vol. I, p. 345,
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The front of the frieze round the octagonal opening at the head of this main
shaft is carefully senlptured in that ever recurrent patiern in Hindfi ornamentation—
the Buddhist rail (see Plate XXII B). The depth of this reservoir from the top
of its upper frieze is fully 53 feet, and this is also about the depth of the draw-
well at the north end.

Two turrets, each 14 feet 4 inches high, stood at the sides of the two entrances
from east and west, Those on the west have been more or less ruined; but the
two on the east are still entire.

Oruer STer-WELLS,
Prarte XXIII.

Gujarit and the provinces to the north-east of it seem to have been a sort of
habitat of these wavs or step-wells; but, in the wars that ravaged the country irom
the twelfth to the sixteenth century, large numbers of them must bhave been
destroyed. Tn Northern Gujarit we still find examples at Roho and Vayad, the
fragment of a fine one at Pdtan, and others scattered over the province from
Ravoda northwards.! At Uvarsad, only three miles north from Adilaj is an old
wiv built of brick, with stone pillurs, lintels, steps, &c.; and at Chhatrdil, twelve
miles to the north-west of this and four miles from Kilol, is a step-well dating from
about the same time as this at Adilaj.

But one more wiv, two and a half miles south of Ahmadibid, near [sinpur and
hetween that and the lands of Dini Limda, still calls for mention, as being perhaps one
of the most modern examples of the regular wiv., It was constructed little more than
forty years ago by the late Jethabhai Jivanldl Nagjibhai (or Mulji)of Ahmadéibad.
To obtain the materials, he purchased from the holder of Shah ‘Alam the rauza
belonging to a masjid known as that of Malik ‘Alam or ‘Tlim, standing a little to
the north of Shih ‘Alam and described in the previous volmmne,! and from the late
(izi Hasan-ad-din of Ahmadabéad le bought the Nenpurvida masjid at Réjapur-Hirpur
together with its accompanying rauza. These were pulled down by the Hindii
purchaser and the materials used in the construction of this well and in putting up
a portico to his temple in the Shahrkotla suburb. In the ornamentation of the well
one of the mihrdbe of the mosque has evidently been utilized.

This wiv (Plate XXIII) is 210 feet in exireme length and from 21 to 22 feet
wide, with a dome raised on twelve pillars on the entrance at the west end. It has
the usual descents from platform or gallery to gallery. The first and third platforms
are about 18 feet wide each and the socond 23 feet across; besides there is a
narrower one of 153 feet broad, just in front of the shaft of the draw-well (Plate XXIII,
figs. 2 and 3). To the second, third and fonrth platforms [rom the entrance there are
small spiral stairs descending from above—that to the second platform being on the

\ Adrcheol. Sure. Westn. Ind. vol. IX, pp. 37, 101, 112, 116-117.
T fhid. wol. VII, pp. 26-29.
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north side. The pillars used are mosily from the old mosques and rauzas, but mixed
up with them are others of a totally different style from HindG or Jaina remaius,
clumsily fitted together. The whole work is devoid of any evidences of originality
in structnral or architectnral arrangements; and, moreover, it seems to have failad
of its purpose, for it is filled with fetid water and quite disused.

At the entrance to fsanpur village is another step-well of stone—known as
Jiji-bibd Rini's; and elsewhere in the vieinity are two others built of brick,
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SHAH ‘ALAM. I3

CHAPTER IV,

SHAH ALAM.

Prares VII, XXIV-XXVIII, 1.

'WHAMMAD Shih ‘Alam was the son of ‘Abdullah Qutb-al ‘Alam or Sayyid

Burhén-ad-din the founder of the Bukhariah Sayyids of Gujarfit, and

whose tomb is at Batuwd or Vatnvi, six miles to the sonth of Ahmadéabéd, and has
been deseribed in the previous volume.,'

It may help to the identification of the different members of the Bukhiriah
Sayyid family mentioned in connexion with these tombs if we give here the
genealogy of its representatives till the end of the seventeenth century :—

1. ‘Abdullah Qutb ‘Alam, styled Shaikh or Sayyid Burhin-ad-din, was the
grandson of Shaikh Jaldl or Makhdim Jahdniin Jahingasht Sayyid Jalil
Bukhari (A.D. 1308-1384), the son of Sayyid Ahmad Kabir, the son of Sayyid
Jalil., Shaikh Jalil was buried at Uehha;® and his grandson Qufb-al-‘Alam died
in A.D. 1453 and was buried at Batuwi’®

2. Sayyid Muhammad Shih ‘Alam, son of Qufb-al-‘Alam, died 20th Jamada’l
fikhir A.H. 880, or Saturday 21st October A.D. 1475, and was buried here.

3. Sayyid Raj Sattdr “Alam, son of Shih ‘Alam.

4. Sayyid Ahmad Shahid Pandh ‘Alam, son of Réji Sattar.

5. Sayyid ‘Abd-al-Ghafiar Maghir ‘Alam, son of Sayyid Ahmad.

6. Sayyid Hasan Nur ‘Alam, son of Sayyid ‘Abd-al-Ghafiir.

7. Sayyid Jalil-ad-din Mih “Alam, son of Sayyid Hasan.

8. ba}'yld Muhammad Maqbiil ‘Alam, son of Sayyid Jalil-ad-din Mih; he was
buried in the second large tomb at Shih ‘Alam.

9, Sayyid Jalil-ad-din Maqstd ‘Alam, son of Sayyid Muhammad Magbal.

10. Sayyid Ja‘far Badr ‘Alam, son of Jalil-ad-din Magsid.

11. Sayyid Muhammad Mahbib ‘Alam (eir. 1700 A.D.), son of Sayyid Ja‘far
Badr ‘Alam.

Sayyid Muhammad Shih ‘Alam Bukhiri is said to have been the eleventl of the
twelve sons of Qutb-nl-‘Alam and was known generally as Miyin Manjla. He
accompanied the Sultin Quib-ad-din when he set out to resist the invasion of
Mahmad Khilji; but, after encouraging his sovereign he returned before the armies
met at Kapadvanj (March 1451). He had married Mirgi a daughter of the Jim of
Sindh, whilst Muhammad Shah II. had married her sister Moghali. The latter had
a son Fath Khin who was entrusted to the care of his aunt, Shil “‘Alam’s wife, and
was brought up in his family and there protected from the jealousy of Qutb-ad-din.

t Ante, Part I, pp. 60-63 and Plares lxxiii, lxxiv.
® Thomnas, Chronicles of the Pathan kings of Delfa, p. 94n.

¥ Ante, Part 1, p. 60,
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The great influence and repute of the derveshes, however, was scarcely sufficient to
effect this, and had to be aided by means of disguises and stratagems. On the death
of the Sultan in May 1459, his uncle Diiid Shah succeeded him, but he soon proved
unfit for rule, and the nobles brought into the city the young Fath Khin, the half
brother of Quib-ad-din, then in his fourteenth year, and placed him on the throne,
18th June 1459, when he assumed the title of Mahmid Shih I,—also known as
Bigarah or Baigara. During his reign Shih ‘Alam died in 1475, and his ‘tomb at
Rasilibid, where he had lived, was afterwards built by Tajkhin Narpili,' a noble of
Mabuitids court,

Rasilabad, “the dwelling of the apostle’™ or, as the place is now usually styled,
Shih ‘Alam, is within the bounds of the village of Dani-Limda or Sundhal Khindrol,
about a mile and a quarter to the south of Ahmadabad, and two and a half miles
north-west of Batuwi or Vatuvd, where is the tomb of Shih ‘Alam’s father.

The group of buildings here was erected at varions dates between A,D. 1475
and 1570, Besides a number of smaller and miscellaneons structures, the chiel are
two large tombs, the Masjid, and the assembly hall.

What endowments were originally settled wpou the tombs and Masjid for their
maintenance is now unkwown, though they were doubtless very liberal. But not-
withstanding the strictnes: of Muslim law for the protection of such waqf endowments,
human faithlessness always finds means of evading it, and the incomes of these
establishments are usually alienated by their trustees and lost, A century after the
- extinction of the Ahmad Shihi dynasty, we find the Shih ‘Alam Rauza in want of
support, and a sanad was accordingly granted by ‘Alamgir or Aurangzib in A [, 1080
(A.D. 1670) assigning for the maintenance of the Rauga and the support of its
custodians—the Sayyids of Batuwa, the villages of Isanpur, S4 rsa, Wisna Fathepur
near Ahmadibid, Wisna Buzfirg near Mihar in Khédi, Wisna Miragiya, aud
Silajda in Dholki pargara,

By andther deed, fifty-four years later, in 1724, the Gaikwid Trimbakrio Dabade
assigned or confirmed the following villages :— Isanpur, Sirsa, Wasna Buzfirg, Bikrol
in Daskrohi, Wisna Sarkhej, Silajda, Paldi, Jalilpur, and Léli in Mahmdabad,

When Gujarit came under British charge, in 1817, most of these villages seem
te bave been again alienated or sold, and at a later date Wasna Buz irg in the
Mabmuodabid pargana of Kheda zilla,—whick the Sayvids still held on mn'dm, subject
W a quit-rent,—owing to their mismanagement, was made khalsa and placed under
Government control. All but three villages had then passed out of the hands of the
Sayyids; but no acconunts were available as to the circumstances op reasons for this,
Those remaining are Isanpur in the Daskroi pargana, valued in 1864 at Rs. 2000
per annum ; Sdrsa in Jethalpur pargana, worth about Rs. 2000 ; and Wisna
Fathepur in Daskroi, valued at Rs. Y60 a0 year.

' Bayley, Gujarat,p. 238, has Turpili, and at p, 12, —Nurpili ; Bird, History of Gujarat, 211,
hns Nariali; Sir T, (0 Hope, followed by the Bombay Gazetiver (vol. V. p. 288), hus also Nuriiali ;
and H. Briges, Cities of  Gujurashira, has Nirpoll.  Rev. G. P. Taylor has verifisd this reading
for me,

* From rasl, * pows"” comes rasif, g messengor "—also o title of Mubammad,
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The statements submitted in 1867 respecting these three villages were to the
following effect :—About 1826 the Sayyids obtained some 14,000 rupees on the
mortgage of Isanpur to a Hindf: this was repaid with interest, about 1856, by
Bibi Basti Begum the wife of Mir Ja‘far ‘Ali, and the mortgage was transferred
to her. Her father, the Qfizi of Almadibdd, was her agent, and in 1867 about
10,000 rupees of her claim was still nnredeemed, and a sum of fifty rupees was
said to be paid monthly towards the expenses of the annual ‘Urs, when offerings
are made at the shrine.

Sdrza had been leased to a Hindd in 1836 for a period of 32 years in
consideration of a payment of 23,000 rupees. And the revenues of Wisna Fathepur
were divided into six parts, of which one was in the hands of the manager, a
second with two Sayyids—Hasan ‘Ali Biqir ‘Ali and Fazl ‘Ali Diwinji, a third with
the heir of SBayyid Chulim Shuji‘at, for whose debts it was attached ; the fourth was
leased by Hasan ‘Ali Biqir ‘Ali to a Hindi{i; the fifth, on account of the debts of
Sayyid Hasan ‘Ali Gisa's heirs, was attached in favour of the same banker as the
third ; and the sixth had been secured by another in satisfaction of a debt of the
heirs of Fazl ‘Ali Diwdnji and Amir Miyin Siheb. The Rauza having sustained
considerable injury by the earthquake of June 1819, the Sayyids further averred
that as much as 45,000 rupees were spent in repairing it'; but, thongh some repairs
had been effected, it would have been hard to account for so large a sum spent on
them. This is a fair sample of how the endowments of these old foundations have
been diverted to private purposes, squandered and misapplied.

The late Sir Barrow H. Ellis, then Revenue Commissioner, started an inguiry
in 1862-63 into the revenues and administration of these and other Muhammadan
foundations, proposing to hand over to the Sayyids between Rs. 1300 and Rs. 1400
a year as surplus proceeds of the revenue of Wéasna Buzilirg, if they wonld
guarantee to keep the Shih ‘Alam buildings in repair out of this and the other
revenues. The collector, however, replied to this in 1867, objecting to the
expenditure of money on the preservation of buildings whose architectural beauties
he did not consider warranted it; whose keepers had hitherto neglected their duties;
and because the Musalmins were the most antagonistic to British rule. The then
Commissioner supported this on the ground of funds being more urgently needed
for public works than * for expenditure on these old buildings.”

The Government of Bombay next reminded these officers “that it was not
because these buildings are, or ought to be, objects of veneration to people of
any particular creed, that their repair is desirable, but because the remarkable
architecture of the structures renders them worthy of ecare on their own account.”
Three months later the acting collector declared that he did not agree with his
predecessors, and that the * Rauga partook more of the nature of a monument of
the wealth and character of the Muhammadan empire in Gujarit than a religious
building, and as such deserved to be ecared for at the hands of our Goyerument."
Immediately after this, Government, acting on the initiative given three years

1 A, W. Crawley-Boevey, Schome, &o., pp. 42f; in the Appeodix, p. Ixxix, however, the vi e
nnmed ns Sirsa, impur, snd Wisns Makhdumpur,
a
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previously by Sir Barrow H. Ellis, sanctioned a sum of Rs. 5300 for repairs at
Shéih ‘Alam and Rs. 5000 for the same at Sarkhej, the management of the repairs
being entrusted to the constituted authorities of the distriet. The double authority
of collector and the engineer, however, did not always work well, and very little
good was done.

The ground occupied by the Shih ‘Alam buildings is of very irregular shape
(Plate XXIV). Originally it may have been little more than an oblong area, about
100 yards from east to west, and 70 from north to south, including the sites of the
mosque and great tomb; to this other plots of varying sizes had been added from time
to time during the first century after the death of the Pir; and now its extreme length
18 221 yards, with a breadth close to the sonthern boundary of 185 yards ; but from the
entrance gate to the assembly hall, a length of about 80 yards, the width is only from
40 to 50 yards; in front of the hall it is 90 yards across to the back of the mosque,
The whole area covered ix about 24,400 square yards or somewhat over 5 acres. The
land is personal grant or in‘dm and is assessed at Rs. 13, as quit-rent, for which
(Government receives only R. 1, 14 finds! All the ground to the south of the principal
dargihs, extending to an acre and a quarter is simply a graveyard or gabrgdh ; for it is
esteemed a privilege by religious Muhammadans to be buried in or near the tombs
of such holy pirs as Shah ‘Alam.

The buildings in this enclosure are two dargihs of the same size,—one of the saint,
near the centre of the area,—and the other (H) to the south of the mosque; the masjid
on the west; the Jami'at Khina, Diwin Khéna or Hall, facing the principal dargih
from the north ; a number of subsidiary buildings and two entrances—one on the north
and the other on the west (K). The ground plan (Plate XX1V) shows the arrangement
and relative size of the different structures.

The dargih or tomb of Shih ‘Alam (Plate VII, 1) occupies the central position,
and was doubtless the first of the structures erected in the enclosure—and must
have been begun soon after the Pir's death in 1475, by Taj Khén Narpéli, and it
is said to have taken ten years to complete? It stands on a low base or platform
65 feet square, which supports three concentric squares of pillars,—the outer
consisting of twenty-eight commected by stone trellis work, forming the outer walls ;
the intermediate square of twenty pillars stands in a corridor round the inner
square of twelve which support the dome, under which is the sarcophagus or tomb.
There are entrances on each of the four sides, but on the west is the principal
doorway with a porch in front of it supported by coupled pillars. On this face
also the six other interspaces between the pillars are occupied by arched openings
filled in by wooden frames with wire gratings, and perforated stonework only
between the jambs and the pillars (Plate VII, 1). The arches over these openings

! Crawley-Boevey, Scheme, &e., app. p. |xxix.

* Briggs, Cifies of Gujarashtra, p. 322, says it was begun in the time of Mahmid Baiqara, “and in
the year AH. 938," or A.D.1532; bat this was twenty-two years nfier Mabmid's death, and sixty after
the death of Shah ‘Alam, As Thj Ehin was a notable in the eouris of Mubhmid Buiqura and Muznffar,
we may be eatisfied that the erection of the tomb was begun between A.H. 879 and 915, when Mahmiid
died, mnd that Tij Kbin's share in the work was completed before the desth of Mabmiid, and probably
hetween 1480 and 1500 A.D. (B85-905 A.H.).



SEHAH *ALAM. 19

are completely filled with pierced stonework, carved in beautiful and varied
patterns ; that on the left of the entrance is represented on Plate XXVIO 1. It
seems not improbable that the original intention was to fill the lower interspaces
on this side also, as on the other three, with stone tracery,—but that either the
funds fell short or some accident befell the structure, and it was completed after
the pattern of the neighbouring tomb. The corresponding spaces on the other three
sides are filled with stone trellis work from the upper line of the bases of the pillars
to the heads of the arches,—an example of which is represented on Plate XXVII, L.
In both these examples may be noted the carrying of the pattern through several
of the squares into which the astragals divide the windows.

The floor round the central tomb, on which stand the twenty pillars dividing the
aisles of the corridor, is paved with black, white and grey marbles; and with yelow
slabs in places, especially in front of the entrance to the tomb. The black slabs are
arranged in lines between the pillars and pilasters—[orming squares which are generally
filled in with white and grey slabs in alternate squares (Plate XXVI, 2). The outer
aisle is roofed by small domes—seven appearing on each face.

The inner chamber, containing the tomb, is surrounded by richly perforated marble
work between the pillars, with doors in three of the sides—but not on the north, towards
which is the head of the tamb, the foot being about the centre of the chamber. Round
it is a white marble perforated screen, about four feet high, with small doors on three
sides; and over this is a carved wooden canopy, similar to that at Sarkhej, and
elaborately inlaid with mother-o’-pearl in a florid pattern. The sarcophagus is of
the same general pattern as those in the royal cemetery of the queens, but plainer.

The roof over the chamber is stilted or raised on a sori of clerestorey wall above the
surrounding screens, and has on each side a pointed arched window, filled with per-
forated stone-work. Over this the dome rises in concentric mouldings richly decorated
inside with abundance of inlaid mother—o'-pear] and with the stone coloured—dark blue,
reddish brown, &e. This decoration is said to have been executed at the expense of
Asaf Khin, whom Briggs calls the brother of the celebrated Nir Jahdn';—but this
must be a mistake: this Asaf Khin seems more likely to have been Ghayas-ad-din
‘Ali Asaf Khén, who distinguished himself in the conquest of Gujarit under Akbar;
and died there in 1581.

The doors of this tomb, which are surrounded by richly-perforated stone tracery,
have been filled in, within recent years, by perforated brass work made in Ahmadibéd
from patterns derived from other buildings. The merits of this modern work may be
judged from the delineation of one of them on Plate XXV. The white marble work
round and about the door is represented in the same illustration, from which it will
be noted that the doorway is simply an imitation of a mihrdb, and has-an inscription
over 1it.

! Briggs, Citics of Gujarashtra, p. 322, There were four nobles who bore fhe name of Agal Khén :
Nir Jahin's brother was Mirza Abu'l Hasan Asaf Kbir, who married a danghter of Ghayas-ad-din ‘Al Agaf
Khén, and was the father of the famons Mumtiz Mala!, sometimes ealled the second Nir Jubin, He was
buried at Labor, Conf, Blochmann, Ain-i-Akbari, vol. I, pp. 369, 510 f.; Beale's Oriental Biog. Diet.
(ed. 1894), =.v. Asaf Khin.
o2
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In this mausoleum, at the east end of the south corridor, an area measuring
19 feet by 26, is screened off by trellis-work, having two doors in its west end. It
contains seven tombs of Sayyids, said to be those of four sons of Shih ‘Alam and
three of his grandsons: there is also a tiny one of a parrot. They are of sandstone,
To the west of the south entrance is a small toom in the corridor, surrounded by
exquisitely carved trellisswork. In this is said to be huried Sayyid Jalil-ad-din
Mih ‘Alam—the fifth in lineal descent from Mubammad S8hiah ‘Alam.! It has, however,
sometimes been loosely stated that it is the grave of a brother of Shih ‘Alam. The
Mirat-i-Ahmadi also informs us that Shaikh Kabir, the son of Shaikh Mundwar, a
man renowned for his learning, was buried in this mausoleum in A H. 1026, A.D. 1617,

At a distance of about sixty yards west-south-west from the central mausoleum,
J is a second on the same plan and scale, but having its main entrance on the east,
another on the south, and doors between the pillars on each face (H, Plate XXIV),
The arches over these deors are all filled with the same beautiful perforated stone
work as in the Pir's tomb; much of this, however, has probably been restored in
an imitative way, during the nineteenth century. The central grave in this tomb is
that of Sayyid Muhammad Magh#l ‘Alam, the son of Sayyid Jalil-ad-din Mah *Alam,
and sixth in descent from the pir. Over this grave, upon a stone tablet, are the
footprints of the prophet (gadam i-rasil yd sharif). Inside the dargéh also are three
other graves on the south eide; these are of Magbil ‘Alam’s son Sayyid Jaldl
ad-din Maqsfid ‘Alam, in the centre; of Sayyid Ji‘far Bhadr ‘Alam, the son of
Jalil-ad-din, to the west; and of his son Sayyid Mubammad Mahbb ‘Alam on the
east of Jalil-ad-din’s. The gadam i-rasil ar footprints of the prophet affixed to the
principal grave here is specially honoured on the bdri wafdt or wafdt sharif—the
anniversary of the death of Muhammad, on the 12th of Rabi‘u’l awwal.

This veneration of the footprints of their prophet by the Musalméns, bears a close
analogy to the worship by Hindds, Buddhists and Jainas of the pidukas of Vishnu,
Sakynmuni and the Tirthakaras respectively. Further, we learn that a deduction
from the reveuue was granted by Muhammadan governments to zamindérs to provide
for the upkeep of a dargdh or rauza, in which a tablet with the prophet’s footprints
was preserved for veneration ; but whether such a subvention had any influence in the
erection of this large rauga, we have no information. At Gaur in Bengal there is a
fine mosque known as the Qadam Rasfil Masjid, erected in 1530, in which is a slab
bearing the footprints, said to have been brought from Arabia by ‘Ala-ad-din Husain
Shih king of Bengal (1494-1521). In the time of Sirdij-ad-daunlah it was carried off,
but was restored to its place by Ja*far ‘ALl Khifn, and is still carefully guarded by the
Maulawi.® Among other examples of such objects, we learn that Sayyid Jalil-ad-lin
Makhdfim Jahiniin Jahingasht or Makhdum Jahdnidn Sayyid Jalili-Bukhiri the
great grandfather of SBhih ‘Alam, brought from Makkah in the time of Sultin Firiiz,
a large stone bearing the godam-i rasill, said to have been placed in a Jimi'
Masjid at Dehli, And in 1579 Mir Abd Turab, the son of Kamalad din—a teacher

! This is an the suthority of the late indmdir Mish Miyin Hammad *Ali, through the Rev. G. P. Taylor,
to whom I sm indebted for several details,
* Ravenshaw's Gaur, p. 20 ; Fergusson's Ind, und Edast. Archit. p. 348; see also inf., p. 50, note 2.
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and scholar—brought back with him from Makkah another similar stone, which, as
will be noticed below,' was afterwards placed over his tomb in the neighbouring
village lands of Behrmpur, to the north-west of Shih *Alam. The gadam i Mubdrak
in the tomb of Maqbfil ‘Alam, however, is said to be only a copy made from the
stone in the Jimi' Masjid at Dehli; but by whom made, or when brought to this
place is not known.

The dome over the tomb is quite plain, without mouldings or ornament. The
floor is of marble, but large areas of it are covered by irregular slabs, and some
of these are evidently the abaci of old pillars. In the north-west corner is a carved
slab of white marble, let into the floor and measuring 4 feet 6 inches by 2 feet

10 inches—apparently meant to represent a prayer-mat. There is no inscription in
this tomb.

In the south corridor, and also outside on the south are many graves—one
being in the middle of the porch.

On the domes of hoth these large mausolea are tall metal finials terminated
with the pipal leaf which seems to have been the symbol of the Muhammadan
rulers of Giujardt, and was placed on all their tombs and mosques.

To the south of these two dargihs is a large area containing a few canopied
tombs and a great many of the ordinary low type. One of the larger, about twenty
yards south of Maqgbiil ‘Alam’s (at J on the plan) is beautifully carved; and the
late Mfisi Miyin stated that this was the tomb of Saif Khin, who was an officer
of high rank under Sultin Muzaffar II, and was sent with Nizdim-al-Mulk Sullini
and others in 1513 from Dhir to Diliwada, when they were attacked near Mindu
but defeated the Malwd troops; and again in 1520 he was sent with Khizr Khin
Asad-al-Mulk to assist Nizim-al-Mulk against the Rand of Idar (A.D. 1520).

Between the two large rauzas there stands a small one (at M on the plan)
with pierced stone windows and containing a somewhat plain tomb,” which is said
to be that of Nawib Nasir-ad-din of Baroda, who was a murid or disciple of the
descendant and successor of Shih ‘Alam, living about 1780 A.D.

Eighteen yards north of the second mausolenm is the mosque, said to have
been erected by Muhammad Silih Baddkshi (Plate VII, 2). The minirs were
begun by Najibat Khin early in the seventeenth century, and after his death
were completed about 1620 by 8aif Khin—the same person who built a hospital
and college in Ahmadabad.®

This masjid is of a later style than any we have yet met with, and, with that
of Muhammad Ghaus in the city, is more of the usual form of such buildings in
other parts of India, and can scarcely be described as belonging to the local style.
“The interiors, however, of both these mosques are well worthy of study

1 Bee infra., p. 50. ! Bayley, Gujardt, pp. 251, 267,

 Hope, Ahmedabad, p. 96,

¢ Briggs, Cities of Gujarashtra, p. 322, and followed by Hope, Archit. of Ahmedabad, p. 61, Owing
to the frequency of the same titles among Mubammadan nobles, it is difficult—in the absence of dates—to
sny with any confidence, to which of several individuals a purticular work is to be nssigned,
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(Plates VIL, 2 and L, LI). The mode in which the pendentives are brought up
to receive the circular domes is quite as happy as any of the constructive
expedients of the Gothic architects and more elegant in execution. The Byzantine
architects never accomplished this—their peculiar expedient—so suecessfully.”

The masjid is 121 feet in length over the walls, and 51 feet across,—the inside
measurements being 116 by 51 feet. The minirs having been added afterwards,
stand forward about 9 feet from the end walls; they rise to a height of about
90 feet, exclusive of the finials, are of elegant design, and have four galleries
supported on carved brackets.

The whole area of the floor is divided longitudinally into three aisles—the wider
one in the middle being 18 feet 4 inches between the centres of the pillars, and
the other two 14 feet 8 inches; and across—it has seven bays, of which three are of
the wider size. This arrangement gives eight smaller square areas and three larger,
with ten that are oblong—measuring 17 feet 4 inches by 12 feet 8 inches within
the pillars. These areas are all covered by domes, of which the three larger, along
the middle of the roof, are higher and finished outside with finials. The domes
are supported by pendentives connecting the cross arches between the pillars, as
illustrated in the case of the mosqne of Muhammad Ghaus, Plate L.

In line with the principal domes are three mihribs or qiblas—the cenfral one
being much the larger—and all have carved recesses.

The great earthquake of 1819, besides injuring the minarets, had considerably
shaken the back wall, and outside, opposite each of the cross lines of pillars, a
heavy brick buttress has been raised against it. The minarets have also been
repaired since 1863.

In front of the mosque and about fifteen yards from it, is a large sunk
reservoir or tank, some 72 feet square, covered over on a level with the court, and
having open shafts in the centre, the two west and the south-east corners,—whilst
beyond it, to the north-east, is the open ablution tank, about 22 feet square, with
arcaded porticoes on its north and south sides.

To the north-west of this again is the Diwdn Khina, Jama'at Khina, or
assembly hall, which faces the south; it is about 61 feet by 41, open in front, and
supported by pillars, and is surrounded on three sides by small rooms,—in one of
which is a stair leading up to the roof. The hall is used for the accommodation of
guests, especially of such as come at the time of the ‘Urs celebration, whilst the
small rooms are for the safe keeping of their baggage and vessels,

The first erection of this hall is ascribed to the lifetime of Shih ‘Alam and
the reign of Muhammad Shih IT (1443-1451 A.D.), but it was restored under
Mugaffar Shih, the last of the Ahmad-Shihi kings (1561-1572). It was again
renewed, towards the end of the seventeenth century, by Sayyid Ja‘far Bhadr ‘Alam,
a descendant in the eighth generation from Shih ‘Alam. It is said to have had a
wooden roof covered with tiles; but, in the war with the Mardthas, when General
Goddard, in Febroary 1780, besieged Ahmadibéid, this hall was partly demolished

! Fergusson, AAmedabad, pp. 92, 93,
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to furnish materials for the siege. It has now a good terraced roof with a pavilion
over the west end rooms.

To the west of this, and extending as far as the north end of the masjid, are
a number of buildings of various heights (A, B, C, D, L, on the plan) and
probably of different dates, which are occupied by visitors at the ‘Urs, a festival
celebrated on the anniversary of the death of the saint,' which occurs on the
19th day of the month Jumfddl-akhar; but all the week from the 17th to the
93rd are held as high days. On the 23rd ladies alone (parda-nishin) are admitted
to the premises. The time of the festival is spent in social re-unions (majlis), the
reading of the Qordn and prayers.

At the north-west corner of the hall is the inner gateway, divided into three
by two rows of pillars that support the roof. On the north side it has a square
porch with two coupled pillars in front; and over the south side is an open
storey,—such as Muhammadans fancy for rest and conversation. About fifty-three yards
to the north of this last stands the handsome main entrance (Plate XXVI, 1) forming
a block about 33 feet square with an arched gateway in the centre, rooms for the
guard on each side, and an upper storey having two small pavilions upon the
roof towards the inner or south side (see the plan, Plate XXIV).

To the support of the establishment, besides the revenue of the villages above
referred to, Re. 148 8a. 8p. are paid annually to the manager from the Mamlat-
dir's treasury, Rs. 137 being on account of the annual ‘urs at the Rauza, when

offerings of food, incense, &c., are made, and the balance is on account of
compensation for the abolition of transit duties.’

L ¢fTrs also means marriage festivities; but it is likewise opplied to the eeremonies observed on the
anniversaries of the death of notable murshids or saints,
* Crawley-Boevey, Scheme, p. 24.
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CHAPTER V.

SIDI BASHIR'S MOSQUE, MINARS AT THE RAILWAY STATION, AND
DARVESH ‘ALI'S MOSQUE AND RAUZA.

Prates XXVII, 2; XXVIIL 2; XXIX avp XXX

ABDUT o quarter of a mile south of the railway station and nearly opposite the

Sirangpur gate, are the remains of a mosque known as Sidi Basir or Sidi
Bashir's, with an adjoining tomb. Nothing of the mosque is now left but the principal
entrance archway with its two lofty flanking minfirs which are in fair condition.
They have three balconies above the roof line of the front, with doors on the west
side: one of them is shown in the drawing, Plate XXVII, 2. They are 69} feet
in height, elaborately carved, in fairly good preservation, and have been compared in
style with the architecture of Miyan Khin Chishti’s mosque!, but are probably of
somewhat later date. 8ir T. C. Hope ascribed the mosque either to Sidi Bashir, a
favourite slave of the Sultin Ahmad, or to Malik Sfirang, a noble of the court of
Mabmfid Baiqara, who founded the adjoining quarter of the city, called after him
Sirangpur, and who is said to be buried in the adjoining Rauzga; Ridi Bashir's
remains do not lie there, but in a walled enclosure below the masjid platform to
the north-east.

This mosque was ruined in the contest between the Mardthas and the
Muhammadan Deputy-viceroy Jawin Mard Khin Bibi, about 1753. One angle of
the tomb with two pillars, has fallen, and the rest of it, supported by thirty pillars,
is occupied by fagirs and grass dealers, who have divided it up by mud walls, cook
in it, and keep it in disorder.

It stands on a piece of Government waste ground in the railway suburb,
measuring 2027 square yards.®

Minirs AT THE RAILWAY STATION.

North of this last, and at the south end of the Railway station platform, stand
the two largest and loftiest minarets at Ahmadibid. They are apparently ahout 95
or 100 feet in height. All traces of the mosque to which these magnificent towers
belonged have vanished and its very designation is lost. They narrowly escaped
removal to make room for the railway, and at a later date it was proposed to
incorporate them in a new station to be designed in the Muhammadan style.*

! Bea Part I, pp. 69, 70.

® Hope and Ferguseon, Ahmedubad, p- 34; Crawley-Boevey, Scheme, app. P. Ixiv; Lirsts of Remains,
Ist ed. p. 146, No. 21, or 2nd. ed. p. 70, No. 16,

* Hope, Ahmedabad, p. 57 and plate 58,
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The style and material seem to point to the period in which the Sidi Bashir
and Réjapur-Hirpur mosques were erected, or to the beginning of the the sixteenth
century as the approximate date of

the building. Though much damaged
about the bases, the stairs inside may
still be used (see illustration No. 3).

Darvesh ‘Ari’s, or Oai Bisi's Masso
ann Tous.

Prates XXVIII, 2, XXIX, XXX, 1, 2.

In  Jhaveriwadi, near Permad
Shiak's rauga, is a handsome little
stone mosque with a tomb, popularly
known as Darvesh ‘Ali’s, Tankawila,
or 0ja Bibi's Masjid; but properly,
it is said, it should be called Khonji
Bibi's—af whom, however, we know
nothing. But in an inseription we find
it dated in AH. 910, or August 1504,
so that we have no difficulty about its
nge.

In the City Survey of 1824 i
stood in an area of 10,009 square
vards or 2 acres and 10 perches; whilst
forty years later it was found that
nearly the whole of this had been
gradually oceupied as private property,
and all that was left was merely the
site of the mosque and rauza, measuring
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about 28} yards from east to west, and
8. Mixams AT AmMADABAD RAILWAY STATION. half as much from north to south, or

in all 410 square yards.

The mosque itself (Plate XXIX, 1) is only 37 feet in length inside, with four
pillars along the centre and as many coupled shafts in front; and is roofed by six
amall domes in two rows. In plan and style it bears a very distinet resemblance to
Bii Harir’s on the one hand and to Réni Sipari’s on the other'; and though it is
smaller, it does not suffer by comparison with the elegance of the latter. [ts
present position, however, in a dirty, crowded locality and off the street, has probably
tended to its almost complete neglect hitherto.—though its architectural merits ought,
long since, to have secured for o better Iate, for it is in various ways a gem of
Muhammadan architecture well deserving most carefol preservation.

L Part T, pp. 8487, il Plates avi~evili nnd suote, pp. 6-5.
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The facade, as a whole, is perhaps a little erudely managed: the second and
fourth interspaces between the front columns, being necessarily narrower than the
other three, are oceupied by carved balcony windows, about 2§ feet from the ground,
projecting outwards and supported on carved brackets; the other three interspaces
are quite open as in Réni Sipari’s. This feature of windows in the front was
judiciously dispensed with in the smaller trabeate mosques built immediately after
the date of this one,

The minarets are slender, in three storeys, and 30 feet in height (Plate XXIX, fig. 2).
Whilst ornately carved from base to summit, they differ from the usual pattern in
wanting the richly sculptured niches filled with interlaced floral patterns which are
so constant on the Gujarit mosques. But close examination of the details of different
mosques, of however nearly the same date, manifests in such sculptured work
distinet proofs of the independence of taste among the individual architects :—hence
the weak mistake of restoring lost lattice patterns in any one building by copying
those of another to fill their places.

These minarets are broken at the head of each storey by projecting mouldings
supported by carved brackets, and the line of crenellated antefixa or battlements,
that crowns the facade, is continued round the mindrs.

Inside are three mikrdbs, carved with the usual elaberation. Behind them, on
the outside, are buttresses—richly moulded in keeping with the details of the
minarets and mikrdbs (Plate XXX, fig. 2). The mimbdr has only three steps, but,
@8 in so many other instanees, it may have been altered at a later date. In the
back wall also are two windows, each filled in by twelve squares of perforated
stonework in varied patterns, Their jambs are orpamented with pilasters and
they are crowned by pediments much in the style usual for giblas (Plate XXX,

fig. 1).

The domes of the roof, though small, are also earved with much taste, the finest—
as usual—being that over the square in front of the central gibla, which is illustrated
in plan and section on Plate XXIX, fige. 3 and 4.

In front of the masjid, at a distance of about seven yards, stands the connected
Rauza or tomb, planned directly from the mosque, and measuring about 22 feet
square,—the four pillars in its west face corresponding exactly in spacing with
those of the masjid, The twelve pillats of the square are arranged in the usual
Indian style so as to support, on the lintels of a regular octagon, the dome—about
18% feet in diameter inside. The entrance to the tomb is, as almost always, on the
south face and is finished in the style of the mihribs, with perforated panels up each
side. The other eleven spaces hetween the pillars on the four sides are also filled
with perforated stonework of great variety of patterns, which is still wonderfully entire
(see Plate XXVIII, fig. 2, and XXIX, fig. 1).

Inside are three tombs, of which the central one only is of stone, and the others
of brick and plaster. Both mosque and dargih have been much neglected, and the
latter especially has not been kept decently clean.
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To the east of this area is a very large underground reservoir or Tanka. The
upper portion is carefully terraced and must formerly have been a favourite place of
resort and amusement. On another terrace in the area stands a small building, of
comparatively recent erection, used as a school of the Anjuman-i-Islim for Musalméin
boys; the rest of the ground is studded with huts and low houses occupied by

poor people.

p e
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CHAPTER VL

SARANGPUR MASJID.

Prares VIIT, XXXI-XXXVI,

OT far from the Sirangpur gate on the east side of the city, and opposite to

the minarets of Sidi Bashir's mosque, is the masjid of Malik Sdrang, but which

now frequently gua; by the name of the Rini's or Queen’s masjid in Sdrabgpur
ward.

It is understood to take name from Malik Kiwdm-al Mulk Sirang, a powerful
noble at the courts of Mahmid Baigara and his son Sultin Mugaffar II. He and
his brother, also a courtier, were of Rijjput extraction, taken as captives and ohliged
to accept Islim. About 1471 Sultin Mahméd appointed Malik Kiwim to the
government of the Godhrd district, and in 1480 we find him at the head of a force,
joining Imfid-al-Mulk in preventing an insurrection in Ahmadibdd: and at the storm-
ing of Piwigadh, November 20th, 1484, he distinguished himself in the assault ;
whilst in 1490, he was sent with an army to punish Bahidur Gilini at Dabhol in
the south Konkan, On the death of Mahmdad Baiqara, he supported the accession
of Mugzaffar II to the throne; but under his rule he proved turbulent and violent,
though retained in power. In 1513 he was sent to hold Dhir for Gugarat ; in 1517
he behaved notably at the siege of Mindii; and soon after, in 1518, he was sent
with *Adil Khin Asiri to repel the invasion of Rani Saigramasiaha of Mewid. In
1520, he was made governor of Ahmadibid, where he ruled arbitrarily, and, with
Malik Koti, he plotted against Malik Husain Bahmani Nizim-al-Mulk, who held
[dar for Gujaris, leaving him unaided when invaded by the Mewiid Rini. He is
spoken of later in the time of Bahddur Shih, as being placed by that Sultin in
charge of Diu, in 1528, when he captured a Portuguese ship—making the crew
prisoners.! He must then have been an old man, and probably died soon after.

Whilst he was governor of Ahmadibid under Muzalfar I, it is most natural
to suppose that he rebuilt the mahalla or ward in the south-east of the city which
still bears the name of Sérangpur, though there is no evidence that he may not
have begun the work in the later years of Mahmid Baiqara's reign. There he
erected the large mosque together with the tomb in front of it which, on completion,
must have been among the finest in the city, The tomb is now known as Réani
Bibi's rauza,—possibly referring to the wife of Malik Sirang, though this may be
doubted ; and the epithet has perhaps led to the mosque itself being sometimes
called the Rini’s mosque.

The mindrs of this mosque closely resembled in details those of the great mosque
at Rajapur®; but about forty years ago, the south minir was taken down to the

! Bayley's Gujarat, pp. 171, 193, 208, &e.
¥ See Part I, Plate Ixxxvii, and Plate lxvi of this.
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level of the roof by one Fazl ‘Ali Himmat ‘Ali, who then claimed possession of the
mosque and who sold the stones of the minaret. '

The north mindr, which was still entire, was also taken down by the Public
Works Department about fifteen years afterwards, as it was considered to be then
nnsafe ; and as in many other similar cases at Ahmadibid, no effort was made to
restore it, though the scaffolding used to take it down might have been economically
used also to re-erect it, That its form may not be
entirely forgotten, the accompanying illustration,
No. 4, from an old photograph is inserted here.

The masjid measures 147 feet 3 inches in
length inside by 36 feet 6 inches deep, and has
five larger domes over so many square areas,
which are separated from one another and from
the end walls by aisles 61 feet wide between
the shafts of the pillars, and also from the front
and back walls by two others 0 feet 10 inches
wide. In front of, and behind each of the larger
domes is a smaller one on the front and back
aisles, and the other portions of the roof are flat
(Plate XXXI).

In line with the larger domes are five arched
entrances in the fagade, the central one being
the largest and considerably higher than the
other four and richly carved on the archivolt—
the others being finished with simple mouldings
(Plate VIII). Three carved string-courses run
along the face of the walls and a fourth just
under the eaves, which are double.

On each side of the central arch stand the
hases of the minarets, which are all that is now
left of them. They are unusually massive and
very richly and elegantly carved (Plates VIII and XXXVI, fig. 2). The stairs
leading to the roof and gallery are carried up the interior of these towers, and are
entered from inside the mosque by doors with neatly carved architraves and arched

heads, over which are carved pyramidal fronts (Plate XXXVI, fig. 1).

4. MixareET oF Samaxerur Mosqus,

In the lower niches in front of the mindrs are two panels cut with a freedom
und taste that recall those in the fagade of the Jami’ Masjid and the panel at
Shaikh Farid's tomb at Pattana.' They are damaged in parts and suggest the
probability that they belonged to some older Hinddi building. On Plate XXXIII,
fig. 1, is a drawing of the front niche in the north mindr, and fig. 2 of that in
the south one. The panels on the north and south sides of each minaret are in a

1 See Part I, Plate xxxiv. ; and Arch, Sur. Westn. India, vol. IX,, Plate xvi,
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very different style and were doubtless carved for the mosque ; those of the north
tower are represented on the plate in figs. 3 and 4.

The front wall behind the minarets is raised, as in most cases, about ok f.ﬂe#-
above the rest of the fagade for a length of 42 feet. This gives room for the high

central entrance over which the projecting eaves are supported on carved stone
brackets.

Inside, we have not the two usual high columns near the entrance, but on
pillars of the usual height rests a breast or parapet frieze running across and
returning to the front wall at each end and forming a sort of baleony from the
gallery (sce the section, Plate XXXIL, fig. 1). Under the central dome, and
connected with this is a gallery with the usual seat having its kakshdsana or back

towards the open area under the dome.

The parapet or frieze over the pillars supporting this kakshdsana is carved in
the usual style, as a rail, and the area of the gallery extends back tg the next row of
pillars on three sides. These galleries seom to have been a favourite feature of the
larger mosques and were doubtless much frequented by the leisured class for
conversation and discussion : they are cool and sufficiently retired,

Some of the mihribs are Plainer than in many of the other mosques, and the
central one has a flat back, but the arch and inner architrave are ornamented by
stones of different colours let into them ; but it has been reft of the marble slab that
commemorated the builder and the date of completion. The bay of the roof in front
of this gibla is carved with g pretty rosette having a central pendant. The mihribs
on each side of the central one, are much richer in carving, as may be seen from
the representation on Plate XXXIV. They have cireular backs; and the end ones
have square backs and are quite as richly carved. The mimbgr or pulpit is in the
general style of that in Ahmad Shih's mosque, but the canopy has been carried off.

The interiors of the larger domes themselyes are plain, the smaller omes are

carved with leaf patterns, The only portion of the floor that is of marble is that
nnder the central dome.

In the front wall are four perforated windows—each divided into twelve squares
filled with a variety of patterns symmetrically arranged. These do not require
description, as they are represented, though on g small scale, on Plate XXXV, figs. 1-4.
In the back wall also are six windows and two in each end, of which Plate XXXII,
figs. 2 and 3, present those in the south end as seen from inside,

Though constructed on g large scale, and with a very considerable amount of
ornamental detail, this mosque is somewhat heavy in style and shows little if any
advance on those erected during the first quarter of the fifteenth century,

The tomb, like those of Réni Sipari, Sayyid ‘Usmén apd others, is right in front of
the masjid at a distance of 28 yards, and stands on a bage 74} feet square (see Plate
XXXD. It must have been g splendid mausoleum when entire—one of the finest jn
the ecity. On each face 19% feet from the corneps Was protected by walls, the outer
face of which has now been all torn off, and the interspace was divided by four pairs
of coupled pillars, as in the fagade of Rini Sipari’s wasjid. Tnside, the area is 07 feet
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5 inches square with thirty-six pillars and pilasters, about 13 feet high, supporting the
roof. Within this the second series of columns numbers twenty-eight round the sgquare,
the third is necessarily of twenty shafts, and within this again a square of twelve,
measuring 18 feet 4 inches inside the pillars, and supporting the central dome over the

octagon formed by lintels resting on them. This central square had its entrance on the

south side and was once surrounded by trellis-work screens between the shafts—mow
nearly all carried off or destroyed.

The square of twenty pillars rises through the roof on short upper pillars that
enclose a gallery surrounding the central dome, and the area—about 38 feet square—is
covered by this dome with four smaller ones at the corriers. The two tombs under the
dome have been robbed of their carved marble coverings.

The mosque has long been entirely disused; the open space between the masjid
and rauza is utilised for drying cow-dung cakes for fuel, spinning silk, preparing
rice, &c., and the interior of the rauza is full of rubbish, and—together with the
masjid—was long kept in a condition that is disgraceful to the Muhammadan
Panchdyat having charge of it.
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CHAPTER VIL

THE RANI RUPAVATI MASJID AND TOMB IN MIRZAPUR, KNOWN AS
THE QUEEN'S MOSQUE.

Prares I, IX, XXXVI, 3, avp XXXVII-XXXIX,

% Mirzapur Masjid is one of the most beautiful mosques in the city, and stands

on the main street leading from the Karafij northwards to the Dehli gate. Its
minarets fell from the earthquake of March 1819, and no drawing or view of the
mosque, while it was still undamaged, has come down to us.

It is said to take its name from two ladies of the royal household who were buried
i the adjoining Raugza, but in whose reign they lived or what the exact date of the
masjid is not on record. The Bombay Gazetteer (vol. VIII, p, 278), says that it was built
probably in the latter years (1430-1440) of Sultin Almad’s reign; but there seems no
record on which to base such a statement; architecturally it certainly does not belong
to an earlier date than the reign of Mahmid Shih I, and not improbably to that of
Mugzaffar Shih IT (1511-1526).

Comparing its ornamental details with those of Bibi Achut Kuki’s on the one hand,
and of the Rini Sipari's on the other, we must feel that it is later than the former
(A.D. 1472), though possibly not quite as late as the latter (AD. 1514). It belongs to
that mixed style or combination of the arcuate brought in by the Muhammadan
conquerors, with the trabeate which the Hindfi workmen manipulated with such
success. During the reign of Mahmid Shah I. both styles were prevalent side by side ;
and in the mosques just noticed we have some of the best surviving examples of
the trabeate Hindi style. In this mosque, however, we have a fairly snccessful
combination of the arch and lintel (see Plate I).

Over the walls it measures 103 feet in length by 46 feet from front to back, and
mside 93] feet by 361 feet (Plate XXXVII). The roof has three large domes, and
the fagude has a wide arched entrance opposite the central and higher one, Aanked
by the minarets, and smaller entrances—also arched—opposite the other two side
domes. These secondary entrances have balcony windows on each side, and again a
lattice window near the ends of the facade. In the back wall are also four lattice
windows, with two others and an open halcony one in each end.

[Gach of the three domes is supported by twelve pillars arranged in squares,
which leave a passage or aisle along the front, back and end walls, as also between
these squares. The domes are each 19 feet wide at the lintels of the octagons on
which they rest. In front of, and behind each of these are small domes, as also at
the ends of the mosque, whilst the other small spaces are roofed in the ordinary
way, by flat stones cutting off the corners of the squares, so that the remaining
space can be covered by one square flagstone.
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As in other mosques of the style, the central part of the facade, for about
46 feet in length, is raised considerably above the general level of the rest of the
roof, making room for the great central arched entrance, and at the same time
screening off a clerestorey by means of which some light is admitted under the
central and highest dome covering the gallery. This gallery—the parapet of which is
richly carved—surrounds three sides of the area, and the pillars within the entrance
are carried up through the second storey, a height of 18 feet, to ahove the head
of the central arch. They are in plan six pointed, and the adjoining faces are at
right angles to one another, so that there are six re-entrant angles between the
points of 1507 each. They have very carefully carved bases and cinctures at four
different heights and carry a carved frieze (see Plate XXXVII, fig. 2).

The gallery is roofed over to the mext line of pillars, about 8 feet beyond those
of the dome; but the trellis-work hetween the outer pillars is now wanting. It is
reached by the stairs that lead up from the jambs of the entrance and furn into
the minarets. They are narrow and dark with awkward turnings.

The minirs—thongh the turrets above the fagade wall have now totally dis-
appeared—are still remarkable for their richness of decoration (Plates T and XXXVI,
fig. 3). Every detail is ornamented, and the niches on the face and sides are varied
and beautiful; indeed, the ornamentation of all the parts of this mosque is striking
in its delicacy.

As Mr. Fergusson well remarked'—* perhaps, after all, the greatest beauty of
this mosque is to be found in its details, especially in that beautiful form of tracery
which fills the niches of the minarets. In every Jaina or Hindil temple there always
is on each face and on each storey a niche which is occupied by a statue or group
indicative of the worship to which the temple was dedicated.” Images, however,
ithe Muslim could not tolerate, * but as the niche was there and the Hinda architects
did not know what to substitute in its place, they retained it, but filled it with
tracery, sometimes pierced to form a window, sometimes blind, as a mere ornament.
Generally these were drawn with so free a hand, and at the same time so gracefully,
that they form the most heautiful details, taken singly, in Ahmadibdd. All are
different, not only in detail but often in character.” Two examples of these
niche ornaments are given in detail on Plate XXXIX, fice. 3 and 4 and a third
on Plate XLIV, fig. 2.

The same elaboration is bestowed on the windows as on the minfirs. The
balcony windows project from the wall, and are supported by most elaborately carved
brackets under the sills — the outer faces of which are covered with sculptured
foliage, as are also the lintels. The other windows are smaller, framed in sculptured
mouldings and filled with perforated lattice-work in every variety of pattern, usually
arranged symmetrically (see Plate XXXVII, fig. 1).

In the back wall, opposite each of the three domes, which are carved inside,
is a qibla or mihrdh® of white marble with an enriched pediment. These mihribs

1 Hope anil Fergusson's dAhmedabad, p. 85.
? For the origin of the Qiblu conf, Muhammadan Archit. of Gujarks, vol. V1, pp. 26, 37: Qoran,
gurs ii, vv. 136-143; snd Osborne, Tsldm wnder the Arobs, p. 58,
E
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are very elegant and not at all overlaid with ornament : the central and richest one
is represented on Plate XXXVIII, fig. 2. The rosette in the back and the lamp
hung from it by chains, is a survival and fully as prominent here as usual.

In the floor in front of the central mikrdb is laid a slab of black marble
measuring about 5 feet 6 inches by 2 feet 9 inches, the head of it rounded and
entering the recess of the gibla. The backs of these mikrdbs in this masjid are
square. Outside, on the back wall behind them, are the usual monlded and earved
buttresses, on which much attention was always bestowed.

The mimbar is ascended by a steep sandstone stair on the north or right side
of the principal qibla, but the canopy over it is gone. The roof, in the back aisle,
in front of the central mikrdh, is covered by an octagonal elab beauntifully ecarved as
a patera and resting on four corner pieces. The illustration (Plate XXXIX, figs. 1
and 2) will better explain the design of this than any description and may render
such superfluous.

To sum up, we have, in this mosque—to use Mr. Fergusson’s words—"an
attempt to combine the Muhammadan areuate style with the Hindd trabeate archi-
tecture ; and although the architects had got over much of the awkwardness that
characterised their earlier efforts in this direction, they had not yet conquered them.
There is, for instance, a very disagreeable contrast between the extreme richness of
the minarets on each side of the central arch and the extreme plainness of the arch
itself. The richness of the cornice above it adds to the discordant effect. These
parts the Hinddi architects could manage perfectly; but how to adorn an arch they
did uot know, and, strange to say, never learnt. Perhaps it may be said that the
building guins in majesty and variety of outline what it loses in unity, by the
introduction of these contrasts, and to some extent this is no doubt true.”

The tomb or rauze belonging to this masjid stands on the north-east of it, upon
a low platform 40 feet square, and has a verandah or corridor round it supported
on twenty pillars having a small dome over each corner, with some neatly carved
arabesques in the spandrels of the squares which they cover. Within these is a
square of twelye pillars which supports a frieze rising above the roof of the verandah
and supporting the principal dome of the tomb. This wall is pretiily carved inside
with square panels of geometric patterns and bands of frets (see Plate IX).

It is a similar structure to the tomb of Rini Sipari, “ but the architect has seen
the defect in proportion pointed out in speaking of that one, and lowered the base
of the dome so as to bring it more into harmony with the basement storey of the
building.” All remains of a screen of perforated lattice-work between the pillars
of the inner square have long since disappeared, except a base for such along the
east side.

The tomb in the centre of this was of white marble, but of the original
structure only the side panels now remain, carved with the usual ornamentation
of lamps hanging from chains. The upper portion has heen repaired in stone.

PPart I, p. 87 ; sud Ahmedabad, p. 86
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On the west side are the remains of another marble tomb, much dilapidated—only
one marble slab of the original remaining.

In 1824, the City Survey shows a ground area for the site of this mosque and
tomb, of 4438 square yards. Forty years later it was only 2376 square vards,
754 square yards having been taken up for roads, 83 as belonging to government,
and the remaining 1225 occupied as private property. About 1850 we learn that
what ground then remained on the north side, between it and the Traveller's
Rest-house, was bought or taken up by Mr. Leonard Hykoop, head clerk in the
Alimadabad Adailat, who built a liouse on it, the walls of the enclosure round the
platform of the masjid being utilized in the erection of outhouses! The place 18 In
charge of Musalman Lutchers, who live about the place and oceasionally hold services
in it. It was repaired about twenty years ago by the Public Works Department at
an expense to government af about 1529 rupees.

——

1 J. F. Ferunndez in Crawloy-Boevey's Schemie, App. po xxvi. The same gives the urea in the
City Burvey IRB3-67 aa 2876 sq. yda, ot p. XXV, bt &z 2990 sq. yds. at p. lxxxiv. The former ngrees
elpsely with the messuremeunts of the plan (Plate xxxiil. }

E2
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CHAPTER VIIL

FATH MASJID; GUMTI, KOCHRAB, AND IBRAHIM SAYYIDS
MASJIDS.

Prares X, X1, XLI, XLIL

IN the Darydpur maballa, in the north end of the city, between the Delli and

Daryipur gates, is a large desecrated mosque, now usually called the Phuti masjid
as being in decay but which is said to have been originally named Fath. Tt is of
considerable dimensions,—116 fect in length inside by about 261 feet deep from inside
the front pillars to the back wall. The whole facade is open, supported by eighteen
pillars, and it has on the roof five domes. The area covered by the central one is
separated from those on each side of it by a double aisle: the two at each end stand
close together. The structure is undated, but may with considerable certainty be
placed in the first quarter of the sixteenth century or at the very end of the
preceding (Plates X and XL).

The pillars have high square bases, and are themselves square to about half their
total height, above which the corners are chamfered off, making the upper portions
octagonal. All the seventy free standing pillars and twenty-eight attached to the
wvalls as pilasters are very plain,—except eight that must apparently have been taken
from some Hindii or Jaina temple. The minarets are slender, 25 feet high, in three
storeys, and with scarcely any carving upon them except the continnations of the
three string-courses of the end walls: like those on the Réni Sipari Mosque, they are
not minarets in the proper sense, being solid pinnacles without any stair for the
mu'azzin to ascend. In mosques of fhis type he could only have called the azén

from the corner of the mosque, and in the smaller masjids this was usually done Iy
the Tmim or leader of the prayers.

The Mikrabs are of three styles: those at the ends unusually plain—with little more
than moulding ornament ; the intermediate two are considerably richer ; and the chief
or central one—of a peculiar pattern, unlike those in other masjids—is very richly

carved, The last iz the only one having a buttress behind i, on the back of the
structure (see Plate XI),

The pavement—ijudging from what little remains near the north end—seems to
have been of marble, but it has nearly all been removed.

In the back wall are two windows, the perforated work of which is rapidly
disappearing ; and in each end is g projecting balcony window supporied on ecarved
brackets.

Opposite to the masjid on the other side of the hauz or cistern is a Rauza of

the general form, the dome being supparted on twelye well-carved pillars and richly
carved inside. It i entirely neglected,
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GUMTI AND KOCHRAR MASJIDS. a7

The area belonging to this masjid is 2231 square yards, but a large portion of
the ground has been encroached npon, and the small space that is left to it s used
by carpenters who work there and have done much damage. The premises have
been for long greatly neglected and are kept in a dirty condition. The well
originally belonging to this mosque, which now goes by the name of Sultin
Ahmad’s well, is some sixty yards away, near the city wall and beyond the present
limits of the area.'

[saxpur Gumrt MosgUe.

Other three mosques of similar style and probably of about the same period may
be here noticed. The first is at Isanpur, a village about three miles south from the
Astodiyi gate of the city, or nearly a mile and half beyond Shih ‘Alam, and almost
two and a half miles N.N.E. from Batuvi. The road to it from Shéih ‘Alam skirts
the east side of what was the original embankment of the great Handgld fank.
The villige is now held as an Inim belonging to the head of the Shih ‘Alam
establishment.

This Isanpur mosque is a small deserted one that seems to have no distinctive
appellation, though sometimes called the Gumti mosque. 1t is situated close by the
Jethdbhii- Jivanlil Mulji wiv or step-well. :

It is open in front, like the preceding, the fagade having four pairs of coupled
pillars in front, with other four single pillars along the middle of the floor (see
Plate XLI). These support the roof of two vows of three domes each with two
flat-roofed spaces between.

Tuside are three giblas, originally carved in the richest style, though now much
defaced, and the dedicatory inscription slab torn from its place over the central one.
In plan, two of these milirdbs are nearly semicircular and the central one is oblong.
The usnal ornamented buttresses on the outside wall at the back are wanting—their
places being ouly indicated on the hase.

In each of the end walls is an arched door and a window, and in the back wall
are two windows—most of the stone lattice-work that once filled them being now
broken away. The pavement was being gradually carried off in 1885 ; and the
north-west corner of the structure was also falling into disrepair.

The minarets are solid turrets, like the other examples of this class, but are
carved more elaborately, and are of a different style from any others in Ahmadibad
—nearly every inch of their height has been overlaid with sculpture and mouldings
to an extent that perhaps detracts from their elegance. They rise to a height of
97 feet, but the finials seem to be wanting, if not the upper portion also of the
pinnacles.

Piuor Kocuiap Masy,

Closely akin to the last in plan and style is a small but elegant mosque on the
south of the little village of Pildi Kochrab, across the river from Ahmadabdd, and

! Crawley-Boevey, Scheme, App. p. xxxiv.
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standing on Government Land.! Tt is locally known as the Rénfi's Masjid, but seems
also to bear the name of Biwa ‘Alishih’s, though it is not ascertained who the
founder was, and the inscription slah having been carried off from over the central
qibla, we have no means of learning its precise date (Plate XLII, fig. 1).

It is even more dilapiduted thau the last, only the hasement storey of the south
minaret is left, and one storey above the roof of the north one; the antelixa that
ran along the fagade over the eaves
huve been of very varied patterns, but
are also largely gone. The interior is
37 feet long and 9 feet From the front
of the pillars to the back wall. There
ure no pillars inside, only four in the
front, and the corresponding pilasters :
but these pillars are of very elegant
proportions  amd  have projecting
brackets against the capitals in the
front to support the projecting eaves
(Plate XLII, 2),

As in the Isanpur mosque, there
are three domes, one at each end and

8, Mosque at Paror Kooanan Fros THE Sovra-wgsr, CHE in the mid{ﬂe. "?lmﬂtEIJ" carved
inside, the two mterspaces being flat-
roofed. The three giblas are very

carefully finished, the central one being, as usual, the larger. thongh hardly differing

in other details; the supporting buttresses behind these are also models of rich
and beautiful carving. The illustration No. 5 shows the south end and back wall of
the mosque, which has heen quite recently repaired.

Of the north minaret, the two storeys of the original height that still reémain
show that they followed pretty closely the pattern of Rini Sipari’s* The baleony
windows in the end and back walls, supported on carved brackets, are also very
richly ornamented and inerease the correspondence in details with the SAINE oS e,
and with Shih Khuls. The two windows in the back wall were filled with perforated
stonework, but the original was almost completely destroyed, and recently restored
in the usual way. Altogether, when entire, this small mosque must have' Been one
of the prettiest and most attractive in or near the ecity.

Biwi Farzorian's Mosque ar Kocnras,
At Koehrab there is also another mosque and tomh, known as Bawa Faizullah's

F1e 1 a =
Fhey stand on 2 mound in an area of 9800 square yards surrounded by a wall
with an entrance on the east side. The Rauza is domed, and has fouy

carved clerestorey

Vo the Revised List of Antiguarian Remaing, Pp. TH-83, Nos. 101, 102

: y and 104, thesq interesting
Mosques bave boen nofortunntely olnssifiod us Unnecessary (o conserve. No mosque i Ahmaddbdd, on so smnl]
a sBenle as that nt Hm:ilnllr, sl!:uwﬂ e tlfegﬂ“t ‘I-'ml'kmntlrjhil.'l..

1-8ee Part T, Plutes X, evii,
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windows. Biwa Taizullah was a Sayyid of the family of the Imfm Shih of Pirina
in the fifth or sixth generation, and was buried here with his wife. The fombs are
of brick and lime and have a canopy over them, Connected with the Rauza is an
open masjid withont a roof; in front it has fonr plain arches and two low plain
minarets, The Rauza is well cared for, whilst the masjid is neglected. .

Inrinin Savvip’s Masa.

The third masjid of the trabeate style to be noted here is that of Ibrahim
Savyid or Shalid (martyr® which, with the connected rauza, is at Kangalpuri, in the
village ares of Rajapur Hirpur, on the way from the Astodiyi gate fo Shih ‘Alam
and north-west from the Kénkariyd Taliv (Plate XLII, 3). This mosque, in size, plan
and detail, is an almost exact copy of the Shih Khub masjid already described.*
It is much dilapidated, but repairable. The mindrs are solid and 32 feet high,
in three storeys and almost perfect. The panels or niches in the mindrs are filled
with beautifully carved foliage, of which an example from the south side of the south
mindr is represented in detail on Plate XLIV, fig. 1.

The open facade has six pillars, nearly equally spaced, and inside are other
two rows of the same number—the total length being 68 feet inside by 31 feet
deep; and the roof is covered by three rows of seven domes each., One of the
beams in the roof having eracked, two supports of brick and mortar have been
inserted. There are three giblas in the back wall, of sandstone—which perhaps
accounts for their still being left, though the inseription slab in the tympanum of
the central mikrdh has long since been removed, In the back wall were four
windows—one of them behind the mimbar—but the lattice-work has disappeared
from all of them, except in that next in the north end. In the end walls are
earved baleony windows supported on brackets, The floor has heen entirely dennded
of its pavement.

The Rauza is plain, the dome resting on twelve pillars, but the pavement has
been dug up and the gabr or tomb totally removed. To the north-east of the mosqne,
in the area where the faqir lives who claims to be the owner of the masjid, stands a
brick tomb on a platform, well cared for, and under which Ibrahim Shahid is said
to have been buried. It is shaded by a canopy painted yellow, green and red, and
the shrine is much venerated by the Musalman community. “Legend states that the
position of the tomb changes by the length of one rice grain every year: and to
have already moved some three yards from its original position.™ Without such an
indication we need have no difficulty, on architectural grounds, in ascribing the
building to abont the middle of the sixteenth century.

Graves in front of the mosque indicate that burials have taken place up to the
veéry entrance.

1 J. F. Ferunndez, in Appendix to Crawley-Boevey's Scheme, p. lxxii.

* Whilst shakid properly means s * witness ™ or * mariyr,” it is applied to any Muhsmmadan killed
in battle or slain unjustly, and besides to any who die snddenly or of malignant disease, or in & foreigo
country or even on Thursdsy night.

! See Part 1, pp. 82-83; and Plates lxviii and ev.

4 J. F. Foroandes, in Crawley-Boevey's Seheme, App. p. lxxvii; also p. xiii.
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CHAPTER IX.

ISANPUR MASJID AND RAUZA; SHAH ‘ALIJI KAMDHANTI’S,
‘ALIF KHAN'S MASJIDS, &o

Prares XTI, XXVIII, re. 3, XLITI, axp XLIX, rigs, 1-3

UST outside the hamlet of Isanpur is another mosque bearing the name of
Tmid-ul-Mulk Malik ‘isan, He was one of the great nobles in the court of
Mabmiid Baigara and of Mugaffar 11, having the title of Nizam al Mulk, and, as the
Mirdt-i-Sikandari imforms us, he built Isanpur—* Between Batuvi and Rasdlibad,
which is one of the most beautiful suburbs of Ahmadabad,” and the author further
adds that *“Shéh *Alam nsed to call it ‘Blessed on both sides,” because it had
Batuva to the south where is the tomb of the saint Quth al Kitih, and Ruﬂi}l.ﬁbﬁd
on the north, where was the house, and afterwards the tomb, of Shah ‘Alamn ™
Here Malik ‘Isan built Lis dargih and the accompanying fine masjid, planted groves
of Mango and Rivana trees near it, and made a tank to the east of it.*

Whilst this mosque differs considerably in conception from the other Ahmadabad
mosques, the general plan is a copy of that of the Jami' masjid, though on a smaller
scale, and a comparison with that of Dastur Khin will suggest some analogy, The
masjid is at the west end of an oblong court surrounded by a corridor with the
tomb—as iu the case of Sayyid Usman's, Malik Sirang's, and others—placed right
in the middle of the eourt, in front of the mosque, and having its eolumns arrangedl
in lines corresponding with those of the masjid (gee Plates XI and XLITI).

The court, with its corridors and mosque, stands on a raised masonry platform
107% feet from north to south by 138 feet from east 1o west, and has outside porches
as at Dastur Khin's, at the entrances on the east and north sides, each approached
by nine steps,

The Masjid occupies the west end of this area and is 50 feet in length over
the end walls and 34 feet in depth, but has at each end a wing, standing back and
extending to the limits of the platform, and each wing is covered by a dome, not so
high, Tut of the same size as the central one on the mosque. The outward thrusts
of these domes are met by pairs of conpled pillars on the north and south sides,

' Bayley, Guwjardat, p. 237, writes ‘Ainpirab, aud ealls the fonnder Malik “Aln, but iz is certainly
mistake, probubly due to o fanlt iy the MS. used; for there can be no Question that Iaunpur is meant,
*“The deseription of the beauties of "Alupiirah ™ is mnfortunately omitted by Sir E. C, Bayley in lis vorsion,
It is much to be regrettod that we buve not yor » complete version of eo valnable n work s the Mirdr i-
Abkmadi, which would throw sq muech light upon the whole history of Gujarit.

Tt iz probable, though difficult to determine with certainty, that the “ Malik "Ain ol Mulk,” mentioned
n little later in Bayloy's extrasts from the Mirdt-i- Sikandari ns Nizdm al Mulk and governor of Partay
ahout 1512, who was defestod by the Rajé of ldar, was the sume. person.  If so, ho was with Muogaffar 11

during his invasion of Milwi in 1518, and defeated the Méndu troops who attacked bim on lis way from
Nilehd. Bayley's Gujnrat, pp. 249, 251-3; ! .
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The area in front of the mosque is nearly square and is surrounded on the
three remaining sides by an open corridor or piazza 12 feet wide, with small domes
and flat roofs over alternate spaces between the pillars. Entrance porches on the
north and east sides lead into the corridors, which also run into the north and south
wings of the mosgue.

The enclosure within the corridors measures 84} feet wide by 923 feet in length,
and in the centre of it stands the domed rauza or dargih, 39 feet square, constructed
on the usnal plan, the roof being supported on two concentric squares of columns—the
outer of twenty and the inner of twelve, so arranged that eight of the latter form a
regular octagon, on which the central dome rests. Round it—at the outer corners
and middle of each side—are eight small domes. And while the arrangement of
the columns of the dargih corresponds in their spacings with those of the mosque,
the corridors on the north, east and south sides are also made to agree with those
of the tomb.

Inside the dargih there appear to have been two high gabrs or tombs, covered
with marble, but they have been destroyed, and now there are at least seven graves
ander the roof of the rauza. The floor has also been torn up and carried off.

This masjid has a distinct architectural character of its own. It has no minarets
or access to the roof for the mu'azzin, since, being a small and private or family
mosque, the azdn, or summons to prayer, would be given by the imfm or leader of
the devotions, whoever he might be,—even a member of the family.

The facade is supported on six coupled pillars with shafts about 15% inches
square—the two spaces at the ends and that in the middle being each 7 feet wide.
and the intermediate ones 4 feet 4 inches. These three openings have pointed arches
rising higher in the fagade than the side wings, which are trabeate. The central
arch is ecusped, and the pillars on each side of it are carried up in front of the
wall.

Behind the facade a passage 7 feet wide runs the length of the mosque, opening
‘throngh arched doorways at each end into the corners of the court. In the middle
of the mosque, as usual, is a domed area 18 feet square: the pillars round it are
square to about half their height, with sections of eight and sixteen sides, then round
to the capitals, which are more like the Hind@ type than the usual Muhammadan.
Over the architrave upon these, is a triforium flled in with large pamels of geometrical
trellis stone-work. This rises to about 18 feet from the floor, where the corners are
cut off and the arvea is covered by the large dome which is carefully carved inside
with a neat pendant from its apes. On the flanks of this only the central squares
on each side rise to the same height and are covered by smaller domes, whilst a
third small dome covers the middle space immediately behind the fagade. The rest
of the mosque roof is flat (Plates XI, XLIII).

Inside were once three very ornate giblas or mihrdbs—in line with the three
domes—but the central and finest one, which most probably had a historic inseription
over it, has been torn out and removed for the sake of the marble,

There are four windows of perforated stone in the back wall and three in each
¥
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end looking into the domed areas that flank the mosque. Twenty years ago most of

these windows were in fair preservation.

In this whole structure there is a unity and compactness of design and an
adaptation to its proper purpose as a private chapel that rank it with the best of the
Muhammadan remains in Gujardt. Tt is not so elaborately carved us Mubhiifiz Khin's
in the city, but the fagade is elegant in the tasteful application of the ornament to
its structural features. It belongs, as we may confidently assign it, to the first
quarter of the sixteenth century,

It is much to be regretted that it has been hitherto so utterly neglected. The
flooring has been largely torn up and destroyed for the sake of the slabs: much- of
the coping of the fagade is gone: and the whole area is overgrown with weeds,

The tank mentioned by the chronicler is in front of the east entrance, but is
now quite dry.

Suin ‘Aviyi Kiupuant’s Masip asp Bavza.

In Rayakhid-Rohilawid ward are three sites of which & word may be said in
passing. They are to the west of the street leading south from Kimashih's chakla
to the Jamdlpur ward.

Nearest to the road is Shih ‘Aliji Kamdhani's masjid and rauza. The rauza
is of stone, standing on a square basement, and its walls are pierced with rows of
stone windows—the beauty of which is now for the most part hidden nnder a thick
coat of whitewash. Inside, under the dome, is the tomb of Bhih ‘Aliji Kamdhani,
who was a grandson of Sayyid ‘Abdurrahim, a descendant of Bayyid Ahmad
Kabir, whose ‘urs falls on the 14th of Shawwil. He died on 14th Jumidi’l awwal,
975—(Friday, Tth December 1565). The ground all round is studded with graves,
and the area must at first have been very extensive.

In the City Survey of 1824 the area belonging to this mosque and tomb is stated
at 23,262 square yards or nearly five acres: it is now limited to 627 square yards
—uearly 4000 having been taken possession of and since claimed as private property,
whilst over 9500 were declared liable to summary settlement, and other portions taken
up for roads. The mosque now attached is quite a recent structure, to the west, and
of no pretensions whatever. In front is g small hauz for water,

‘ALir KniAx or Bipi Massm axp Toun,

To the west of this, at a distance of about G0 yards, is Alif Khin's masjid, also
known as Babi’s masjid, and between the two still stand the remains of two arched

gateways of stone. It was a stone mosque ; but its roof and all the pillars except one
have been removed : only the walls and minarets remaint

"1 learn from Rov. . P. Taylor of Abmadibdd, thai the tomb between this and Shil LAliji
Kimdhani's masjid, to the Esst, js known s *Alif Khio's fomls,
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In the back wall arve three giblas each with an inscription over it, that upon
the south mihrdh ending with the words—*the year nine hundred and sixty " or
A.D. 1553, and that over the north one indicating that it was completed in the reign of
Ahmad Shih [II], cousin of Mahméid Shih [II0], son of Latif Shih, the brother of
Bahidur Shih, &' Of course we know that Ahmad Shih [II] was not of the blood
royal, but was placed on the throne as a son of Ahmad Khén, a brother of Mahmfid

‘Shéh [IIT], who had been Governor of Ahmadibid. He began to reign in 1564,

apparently before the mosque was completed.

The mihrdbs are plain but neat: one is represented on Plate XLIX, figs. 1-3;
and the minarets, though with numerous mouldings on the lower storey, or up to
the Jevel of the roof, are simply slender round pillars 15} feet in height with
two cinctures round their shafts and a moulded finial. One is represented on
Plate XXVIII, fig. 3.

Between this mosque and Shih ‘Aliji Kamdhani's and quite close to the latter,
stands Alif Khin's tomb. It is not enclosed and has partly crumbled away.

Suip Guazxi's Masnp.

To the south of the last and south-west of the other, at a distance of
120 yards, is an old enclosure measuring 3380 square yards which sometimes goes by
the name of the masjid of Shih (Ghazni and contained the tombs of Bhih ‘Alj, Izat
Khéan, and Shah Ghazni. The mosque has entirely disappeared, but the Tdika and
the gateway of the enclosure remain ; the Rauza is a ruin, ut the tomb is left. There
‘s here also Ladle Pir’s rauza of brick in pretty fair condition. The ground is
largely covered with graves.

! Lists of Antiq. Rem. pp. 251 and 952 + or Revised Lists, pp. 297, 298.
# Qonf. J. F. Fernandez, in Appendix to Crawley Boevey's Scheme, p. xlix.
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CHAPTER X,

QUTB AL AULIYA SHAIKH HASAN MUHAMMAD CHISHTPS MASIID IN /
SHAHPUR, AND BABA LULUI'S MASJID IN BEHRAMPUR.

Prares XLIV-XLVIII, axp LIV, LV,

FPHE mosque of Quihb al Auliya Shaikh Hasan Muhammad Chishti is in the

north of the city, within about a hundred and eighty yards of the Shahpir gate,
It is the “Shahpir Mosque " of Hope, and must not be confounded with one standing
a little to the north-west of it, which, in the City Survey, is styled * the Shihpur
mosque.” This is owned by the descendants of Shaikh Hasan Muhammad Chishti,
for whom it was built and whose descendants are the hereditary Qiizis of the
Shiithpur division of the city,

Over the central mikrdb is u shor mseription written by Dosi M uhammad
Bakhar, whose name is engraved on the intersection of the fillets that separate the
lines vertically and horizontally by a cross.

It states that “the pole (qutb) of the age—Shaikh Hasan—built this masjid, that
in it pious people might pray for the Shaikh. When he erected this noble edifice,
the date of it according to F idd was bnai shaikh.,” This ahjad stands for A H. 973,
corresponding to 1565-66. It may hLave been begun in AH. 964, as a Persian

manuscript assigns its erection to that date.

Since Shaikh Mubammad Chishti died in 1574, at the age 59, and Akbar Lad
invaded and subdued Gujarit only two years previously, it was probably owing,
partly at least, to the disturbed state of the country previous to that event, that the
construction was arrested and the minarets raised no higher than the end walls of
the mosque ; or, want of means may have stopped the work.

His son became Qfizi of this section of Ahmadibad, and the office has since
been hereditary in his family. The present Qizi has the dignity of Piredda or
spiritual guide to several nobles in the Haidaribid and Baroda territories, but le
does not appear to be in easy circumstances, and does nothing for the upkeep of the
mosque. The area adjoining it has heen occupied by private houses, and what is
now ussigned to the mosque in the City Survey is only 1881 square yards ; within
this is also the shrine of Rashid Miyin Pir, for which the Mimlatdér’s treasury
makes a cash allowance of two rupees per annum.’

The interior dimensions of this masjid are 59 feet in length by 38 feet deep ;
and to plan the arrangement of the columns for such an area, a square of twelve
columns was formed in the centre, 19 feet 4 inches across inside the shafts, —the
middle pair on the east side being 8 feet 8 inches between centres and the others
G feet between centres. This fixes the lines of the pillars longitudinally ; and
transversely ; uisles 61 feet wide flank each side of the central square and run along

! {‘.rnwlay—]]-ne'-‘ey. Seheme, ko, p._23.
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the front, back, and end walls of the mosque, leaving the second from the end
7 foet 3 inches wide, or the same as the central cross aisle. The twelve pillars of
the central square are arranged in the usual way, so that by the linfels it is readily
converted into a regular octagon to support the dome (Plate XLVI). Including the
twenty pilasters against the walls, there are fifty-six shafts in all. The close resemblance
of this plan to that of Biba Lului's (Plate LV, fig. 1) will be at once remarked.

The pillars of the facade support nine Saracenic arches; and over the five
contral ones—crossing the whole depth of the building—is a second storey, consisting
of an outer verandah, within which are the upper tier of pillars supporting the
dome. The interspaces between these are flled with a rough sort of lattice-work—
perhaps meant originally as a temporary expedient. This upper verandah has a
sereen richly carved on the front (Plate XLV) and providing a seat on the inner
side; but the sloping back-rest upon it has either fallen away or had never been
fixed. Over the central entrance this screen Wwas broken by a small balcony
projecting on carved brackets. The frieze or screen with its balcony contributes
largely to render the fagade at Once simple and chaste, whilst, when complete, it
must have been of great elegance. 1t is, as remarked by Mr. Fergusson, a Very happy
attempt to combine for mosque purposes, the pillared style with a certain amount of
arcuation.

The minarets, so far as executed, are exuberantly rich in their carvings: in this
respect, indeed, they are among the most elaborate in Gujart, and the traceries of
the niches have attracted much attention, as surpassing almost all others. They are
frequently copied in wood for articles of richly carved blackwood furniture, and
formed the first models for an industry in this way almost special to the city.

A few of these niches are Mustrated in the plates. Plate XLVII, fig. 2
represents the lower niche on the front of the south minaret, and fig. 4 the niche
above on the same face. Often the upper niches in the minarets are much smaller
than the lower ones; but in this mosque they are of the same size. Fig. 1 represents
iho lower niche on the north cide of the south mindr, and fig. 3 the lower panel
on the face of the north minar, whilst on Plate XLVIII, fig. 5 and fig. 7 are drawings
of the lower and upper niches respectively on the <outh side of the north minfr; and
figs. 6 and 8 are two others also from the sume mindr. All the other niches would
have been equally deserving of representation had the limits of this work permitted.
And what still remains of the perforated lattice-work in the windows as well as
the mikrdbs is artistically worthy of representation.

In the morth and south walls are baleany windows similar to those in Muzaffar
Khan's, Rani Sipari's, and other mosques. These are always quite open to the light.
And in the back wall are four lattice windows, with three richly carved mikrdbs—
very shallow—and backed on the outside by richly carved buttresses.

Bisi Luvrur's Masmo.

This once fine mosque is in the village lands of Behrdmpur, about a mile south-
south-west from the city. From certain resemblances to the mosque of Qéizi Hasan
Mubammad Chishii in the Shiahpur quarter of the city, it has been assumed that it
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belongs to about the same date. But, whilst the Shihpur Masjid has manifestly
controlled the design, this one might possibly belong to a later period. This is
suggested by the minor details more than by the general style, and if the central
dome—now without finial—is deficient in dignity for its sitnation, the harmony
between the centre and wings renders it on the whale a more pleasing structure
than the Shahpur mosque. The want of the whole of the upper portions of the
minarets detracts most seriously from the effectiveness of the design: whether they
were ever built is long since forgotten.

Baba Luluni or Laulvi, also called Babha Mubammad Ja‘far, is said to have
been a pearl-merchant of the seventeenth century ; but if he is to he reckoned
among the “twelve Bibis" commemorated by the Gujarit Musalmans, it seems not
improbable that he may have lived at an earlier date, during the second half of the
sixteenth century, or as a contemporary of Shaikh Hasan Mubammad Chishti.

An area of nearly three and a quarter acres belongs to the mosque and tomb,
and is reckoned as government waste land, whilst the sum of three rupees 18 paid
to a Mubammadan for lighting on proper occasions.  His ‘urs or anniversary falls
on the 2nd Muharram,

The building was damaged by the great flood of 1875, but at a much earlier
date brick walls were built at the north and south sides of the eourt cutting off
the larger portions of the minarets which at first must have stood entirely within
the court, and this very seriously spoils their appearance: it would be of great
advantage if these could be removed four yards or so beyond the minarets, The
original entrance, now inuccessible, was by a domed pavilion on four pillars,

The masjid measures inside 69 foet in length and 37 feet deep from the front
of the flooring, and is arcuate in the open fagade but trabeate in the interior and
has one large central dome, with three smaller ones across near each end. Thers
are nine Saracenic arches in the front—three of them opposite the mikrdbs being
7 feet 1 inch wide, while the two on each side the central arch are 4 feet 6 inches,
the other. four being each G feet 7 inches between pillars, To correspond with this
arrangement the front and back of the longitudinal isles are made @ feet 7 inches
wide, the central one 7 feet 1 mch, and the two intermediate each 6 feet 4 inches
(Plate LV, fig. 1),

The twelve pillars of the central area support others of shorter height, on
which the principal dome is raised. There is here no arrangement for the
usual covered gallery, and whilst the light thrown into the interior would be
more than in the older form of construction, this arrangement would not protect
the interior so well from rain when accompanied by wind; for at the sides the
outward projection of the drip-stone of the upper roof over the face of the architrave
round the octagon upon the pillars is only ahout 4% feet. The corners are sheltered
by the extension of the roof to cover the square; and a flat stone bench runs round
the four sides of this square formed by the upper pillars (Plates LIV and LVI).

One of the corner lintels having cracked about forty years ago, it was supported
by the insertion of a heavy stone arch (Plate LIV), and the like expedient was
adopted in the corners of the large square helow,



BABA LULUI'S MASJID. 47

| _Tha four small windows in the back wall were filled in with carved stone
lattice-work, and in each end is a neat balcony window supported on carved brackefs.

The three giblas are of marble and tastefully carved, the pediments over them
varying somewhat in minor details from the forms of earlier date. Outside, behind
them, are buttresses, richly moulded as msual.

The mimbar or pulpit is of the high pattern rising by a stair 7 feet 9 inches
from the floor, but is of brick and lime.

The minarets project about 10 feet in front of the masjid and stand on bases
14 feet square. The recessed corners are strongly marked, and the mouldings and
florid work in the niches upon them are in the style of, and seem to have been copied
from, the Shihpur Qdzi's mosque, and are wrought with the same elaborate detail
distinctive of the latter. On Plate LV, fig. 2, is given a drawing of one of the
niches from the north minaret. The stairs enter the end walls and turn into the
bodies of the mindrs, which, however, are cut off at the level of the roof.

The Rauga stands to the south-east of the mosque, but is quite a low domed
building with one entrance, and otherwise dark. The principal tomb is of stone,
with others beside it. On a loose slab within it is an inscription which, after the
invocation, enumerates the names of Muhammad, ‘Ali, Fatimah, Husain and Hasan,
and adds the chronogram :—" The year 1117 (A.D. 1705). Mother of Muhammad
Ja'far, son of Sayyid Muhammad ‘Ali, son of Sayyid Mahmd,—S4dat Baiah, a
native of Kittirdh."”
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CHAPTER XI

MOSQUE OF MUHAMMAD GHAUS GWALIARI; AND TOMB
OF ABU TURAB.

Prates XII, XLIX, rigs. 4 axp b, L, axp LI,

HATKH Muhammad Ghaus-al-“Alam—properly Hiji Hamid-ad-din of Gwiliér,
was a notable Indian Pir or Musalman saint, who, after long practice of asceti-
eism, in which he acquired much renown as a prophet, went to Gwilidr, where he
obtained an estate as jagir yielding him a million faikas! He was the murshid or
preceptor of Wajih-ad-din ‘Alwi of Gujarit’ He was the son of Kiyam-ad-din, who
was buried at Kunbra in Ghizipur, and grandson of Mu‘in-ad-din Qattil. He died
at Agra 14th Sept. 1562, and was buried at Gwiliir, where a splendid mausoleum
was erected to his memory, Ghaug-al-‘Alam was the author of the Galzdr-abrdr which
contains the lives of all the Sifi Shaikhs of India with the places of their burial, &o.;
he wrote also the Jawdhir al-Khamsa and other works, L

In the survey of 1824 this mosque is called the Daulatkhina masjid, but
it is generally known as the Ektoda or one-turret masjid, It is in the Sarangpur
quarter on the Daulatkhina street and about 330 vards to the south of Malik
Sirang's mosque. Righty years ago an area of 10,560 square yards, or two acres
and 32 perches, belonged to it, but of this only half is now acknowledged as waqf
or religious property, of which the mosque and ranza occupy 2857 square yards.
The ground up to the sen is pow taken up by huts of cotton-printers who earry
on their trade in the area, On the west end and up to the back wall are several
private houses.

It does not belong to the local style of Ahmadibid, and was certainly never
planned by a Gujardt architect. It looks like a bad copy of the Jaunpur mosques,
and, though originally not wanting in a certain amount of grandeur, it is painfully
deficient in elegance.

But no building at Ahmadibad has lost more of its character at the hands of
the local Public Works Engineers than this. Tl about twenty-five years ago it had
a great propylon, quite 48 feet in height by 43 feet wide, with a recessed arch in
it about 38 feet high. This had survived the shock of the earthquake of 1819, but
the front over the great arch Lad become dilapidated, and the whole was taken

' The valve of the fmiika is very uncertain, [If the ropee waa equal to 40 ddms and 5 faikas went
to the dim, then the jigir yielded Rs, 50,000 rer annum.  Thomns, Ptk Kings of Delhi, p. 490
2231, ; Bloehman, ﬁiﬂJ-AMaH. vol. T, p. lbn. %

! His adventures were writton in 946 A.H. by Sayyid Fuaglulluh in his Munickib Ghauzia: and

biographies are given in the Madisir of Badioni, and the Khazinatulle'sfia, Blochmno, din, vol, 1
pp. 457-8. 2
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down to nearly the level of the roof, at a cost of 1160 rupees inclusive of some
repairs at the south corner and pointing the front. This entirely changed the

e |

appearance of the fagade— depriving it of all dignity. The illustration No. 6 from
(olonel Bigg's photograph, taken about 1865, will give the reader some idea of its
appearance at that time. The jambs of it were divided by carved string-courses into
nine divisions—all, except the lowest, with a small arched recess in each, and the
whole crowned by a line of antefixa. If we compare this with the facade of the
Lal-darwiza mosque at Jaunpur' we

cannot fail to trace the resemblance.
The triple entry within the arch is
the same: bnt at Jaunpur the
propylon served the purpose of the
yinaret for the mu’azzin, Here a
solid mindr is placed at the north
end of the facade 82 feet high,
octagonal above, but with the Hindi
hase of many recessed angles, and
continued up to the level of the
roof, where it becomes octagonal and

is broken by five small balconies

supported on brackets 8% to 9 feet
above one another. The faces
of the shaft are also ornamented

with small arched recesses in two
rows for each storey. This is
entirely different from any other
minarets at Almadibad, and has
no counterpart at Jaunpur. Al
the south end of the fagade an

octagonal minaret, with quite @
[!lllil‘l base, rises one storey above 6 Urrer Figane oF THE Mosqre oF Muaawmap GHavs
the toof; though it was probably et

intended to raise it to the same

height as the other, it had perhaps never been carried farther (Plates XII and Ll).
In this is the access to the roof, the entrance to the stair being in the south wall,
in which also are two small closets about 2 feet by 5 feet U inches each. In the
north wall are three somewhat larger chambers, measuring 4} feet by 11 feet (Plate
XLIX, 4). Such an arrangement is quite anusual in a mosque. The pillars and
lower portions of the walls have now been whitewashed.

Besides the three entries under the propylon, there are also three others in
each wing, all arched with massive piers. The interior area is divided into squares
by two rows of six pillars each, with corresponding pilasters, and, as in the mosque

' Fergusson, Ind. and Eastn. Archit, p. 523 Shargi Archit. of Jaunpur, Plate zxix, also the Jimi’
masjid, Plate xliii,
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at Shih ‘Alam, the whole are connected by groined arches with carved pendentives
supporting the almost flat domes of the roof (Plates L and LI),

“The mode in which these pendentives are brought up to receive the cirenlar
dome,” Mr. Fergusson has remarked, *is quite as happy as any of the constructive
experiments of the Gothie architects, and more elegant in execution. The Byzantine
architects never accomplished this—their peculiar experiment—so suceessfully.’

There are three narrow giblas in the back wall with but little carved work, and
the pediments of which differ considerably from the usual style (Plate LI). Outside,
behind them on the back wall, are the usual buttresses with uumerous horizontal
mouldings,

To the north of the mosque is an open space with & rausa in which is said to
have been buried two of the sons and a wife of Muhammad Ghaus, but this has
been rented for a shop, the doorways and windows having been filled up with brick
and clay ; and of the three graves inside one has been robbed of its marble wains-
cotting.  Sayyid Mugzaffar, another son, was buried in the graveyard to the south,
The present holders claim to he descendants of a danghter of Mubammad Ghaus.

Tous or Ani Turip.

Prate XLIX, rig. 5.

Abit Turib, a Salimi Sayyid of Shiriz, was the grandson of Mir Uihyds-ad-din,
who came to Gujarit during the rejen of Quth-ad-din (1451-1459), but returned again
to Persia. During the reign of Shih Ismd'il i Safawi, however, political disturbances
obliged him again to seek refuge in Gujarit, where he arrived in the reign  of
Mabmid Baigara and settled with his son Kamal-ad-din ay Champanir. There he
became a teacher and writer of school books.  Kamél-ad-din was also renowned for
his learning, and his son Mir Abit Turib was a man of note  When the Emperor
Akbar invaded Gujuarit he sent Shil Fakhr-ad-din and Hakjm ‘Ain-al-Mulk to him
and Itmad Khin, On the way they met Abl Turib, who was thus the first to pay
his respects to the emperor, and was subsequently distinguished for his fidelity to
his new master! He prevented I'tmid Khan from joining the rebel Ikbtivar-al-Mulk
and was afterwards sent by the emperor to Makkah as Mir Hajj in {‘.t;m]]lﬂ.]]{l of
numerous nobies, among whom was Ftmidd Khin and g large party of begams. On
his return, A.H. 987, he brought with Lim a large stone, whiel, formed an elephant load,
bearing the impress of the footprints of the prophet®, which was received with great
éclit, though Akbar is said to have looked on the whole asa pious faree but graciously

' Beale’s Riog. Dictionary, s.v. Abi Turgl, » Bloehmann, 4in i Akbari, p. 508,

? Blochmann udds : The stoue was said to be the same whicl Sayyid Jali] i Bukhiri in the time of Sultan
Firnz had bronght to Dehli, This seems 1o be n mistale, though the stones may have been alike, T the east
of Dehli is a tomh known as Qadam Sharif, ergstod by Sulthy Firiz in 1373 for his eldest son Fatl Khin, over
the gruve in which was placed o marhle glal hearing 1le gadam-i-rasil, said 1o lnve bheen sant by the Khalifal,
of Baghddd : bot ns the Khalifat of Baghdad tinully ceased in A, 1238, this ennnot have been the case, and
the stove probably eame direct from Makkaly, and was that hroosht by Makhdnm B T Julél-i-Bulkhiiri,
See ande, p. 20+ Carr Stephen's Archaology af Delhi, P 147, The' dute or tarikh of Ahfy Tordb's return is
khair wl agdam, ATT 487, or “the best of the I'(rur~;rrIum,“—-—'.fffn-.‘a.-iﬂ.uiri. vol. T, p. 507.
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allowed Abii Turdb to keep it in his own house. It is reported to have been
afterwards placed over his tomb to the south of Almnadibid, where for many years
it became an object of pilgrimage. It was removed, it is said, by a Nawib to
Khambay.

When Itmiid Khin Gujardti was appointed viceroy of Gujarat in 1533, Abd Turdb
followed him as Amin of the Siibah, and was accompanied by his sons, Mir Muhibbullah
and Mir Sharaf-ad-din; his third son, Mir (iadii. though he held a mangab and m
1601 served in the Dakhan, “adopted the saintly mode of life which his ancestors had
followed.™™

Abil Turib died in 1597 (A.H. 1005), and was buried in the tomb lie had erected to
the sonth of the city within the limits of Berhampur village, a little to the east-sonth-east
of Baba Lului's mosque. It stands on a platform 41 feet square, and consists of an
outer enclosure of twenty pillars, being six on each face, forming the piers of the
structural arches supporting the roof (illustration No. 7). On the south side are two

7. Toup o AbU ToRAN.

advanced pillars at the entrauce, and inside the verandah, which is partly flat-roofed and

partly covered by eight small domes, is another square of twelve piers or pillars, also

connected by arches, which support a deep architrave over which isa sort of clerestorey—

once filled with stone tracery between the pillars under the principal dome. When

complete, it presented the peculiar phases of the art in its most pleasing form, being of
- 5 :

I Blochmann's Ain-i-Akbari, p. 50T,
a 2

1§29
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one uniform style throughout. It is still strictly in the Ahmadabid style, though by
the period when it was built the columns had entirely passed away to give place to
piers supporting the arch which here pervades every part,

This tomb, however, is a more pleasing example of it than the Shihpur mosque
of Husain Mubammad Chishti or Babi Lului's, because it is of one wuniform
style throughout. No minarets, in quasi-Hindd style, contrast with its plainness
and disturh the harmony of design. Three larger and two smaller arches on each face
point to the existence of the central octagon dome and relieve the sides from monotony
without disturbing the symmetry of the whole,)! The detail is generally simple and
effective, without the minute surface chasing that prevails so much on many of the
mosques,

As in other tombs, the inner arches were here also originally filled with perforated
stone-work, but all except one screen had disappeared by 1888. The inside of the
dome itself is plain; the pavement of the foor had also been torn up, and the central
tomh had been shorn of its marhle covering and is now in decay. There has been
a grave on each side of the central one, and there are other two in the verandah
(Plate XLIX, fig. 5).

The Masjid which stood to the north-west of the Rauza was of brick, but is now
a complete ruin, The place is locally known as the Kichni masjid. The area of the
ground is about an acre and four perches.

This tomb, though deserving of conservation, has heen hitherto much neglected.

' Hope and Fergnsson, Ahmedabad. P 92,
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CHAPTER XIL

TOME OF WAJIH-AD-DIN ; ‘ALI KHAN'S OR CHHOTA IDRUS MOSQUE AND
SHAH ‘ALI RAZZAK'S RAUZA.

Prates XLIV, 3, 4, LII, LIX.

SHM:KH WAJIH-AD-DIN was a disciple of Shaikh Muhammad Ghaus Gwalidri,

and had considerable renown as a scholar, being the author of several works. His
poetical or literary name was ‘Alwi, and lLe was regarded as a pir or saint. He
died on 20th November 1589, and was buried here in the Khinpur ward, about
150 yards north of the walls of the Bhadr and little more from the city wall!

The Rauza and Masjid stand in the middle of a large walled enclosure and are
attributed to Amir Sa‘idat Khin and Shaikh Farid-i-Bukhéri the son of Sayyid
Ahmad-i-Bukhéri, who was the eleventh viceroy of Gujarit, had the title of Sayyud
Murtazi Khén, and ruled 1606 to 1609.7

The buildings may have been begun early in the Emperor Jahingir's reign by
Sa'ddat Khan in 1602, but Sayyid Murtezi Khén gets the credit of having adorned
a mahalla in Ahmadibid to which the name Bukhira was applied, and of having built
this masjid and tomb of Wajih-ad-din Shaikh, as also of repairing the fort at Kadi.

The dargili (Plate LII) measures about 30} feet by 58} imside, having two rows
of five pillars each along the floor. The tomb of the pir occupies the central space
of the west half of the struciure, under the principal dome, whilst four squares in
the south-east are occupied by nine graves, said 1o be of the pir's relatives: two
of them are of marble.

The principal tomb is of marble, as is also the pavement in the half of the area
in which it is, whilst the rest is laid with square bricks. The pillars are 10 feel
4 inches high. Of the eighteen square roof areas formed by the lintels, thirteen
are covered by small low domes: over the pir's grave is a tower with a square base
having windows on each side and changing to round, surmounted by a dome, the
lower portion of which projects beyond its eircular support; also the four areas
entered by the side doors are covered by truncated pyramidal roofs rising but little
outside above the level of the crenellation on the wall heads. Tt has two doors in each
side and one in each end: these are square headed and are approached by steps from
the level of the court; but there are four other openings in each side and two in each

L Mr. Hope nseribes this tomb to the time of Aurangzib (A hinedabad, p. 64), but this is quite o mistake.
The Ahmedabad Gazetteer, p. 278 n., places the death of Wajib-nd-din in A.H. 958 by mistake for 998, —
Blochmauv, Ain, vol. 1, p. 538.

t He wae n man of the greatest liberality, nud died st Pathankét in AH. 1025 (A.D. 1616), but
was buried st Dehli—DBlochmann, Afn-i-Akbari, p. 415.
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end with cusped arches, and though they come down to the foor of the dargih,
they may be regarded as windows closed with wooden shutters,

‘Aui Kain's or Conora Toris Masiin sxp Smin Aut Razzik's Ravza,

Nearly opposite the Civil Hospital in Jhaveriwidd, in the centre of the ecity,
about 400 yards north from the Jimi’ wasjid and on the east side of the Ghi
Kinthd, stood the fine mosque known eighty years ago as ‘Ali Khin Qézi's, but
later styled the Qazi's, Ninhi Idriis, or Chhota Idriis Masjid : properly the two
rauzas close by, are of Ninhi Idris and Shih ‘Ali Razzik. The mosque was built
by Qizi Abu’l Farah Khin during the reign of ‘Alamgir (1658-1707).

Formerly this mosque was a very fine one with considerable architectural merits,
but some twenty-five or thirty years ago the northern half of it was pulled down by
Husain-ad-din, the Qizi of Abmadibad, and the materials sold, probably for his own
private advantage. On the ground thus cleared, and upon the large area in front, in
despite of all sacred law, he erected a rauge of shops and small houses or huts, of
which he and his successors drew the rents.

In 1824 the area belonging to this establishment was 13,756 square yards—or
close upon 3 acres; now it is only about two-thirds of an acre—10,521 square vards
having been alienated. The whole place is kept in a filihy condition,!

From what remains it appears that the mosque had originally three giblas, and
the roof, which was flat, was supported by pillars in three rows, one of them forming
the fagade, and all joined by arches (Plate LIX, 1), The depth of the building
was 23 feet 4 inches, and it had two windows in the ends and four in the back wall
with neatly carved buttresses behind the mibrdbs.  The only mikrdb left is of
sandstone with a good deal of carving., A tastefully sculptured panel is inserted in
the south wall, and two others in the modern wall that confines it at the north end
(Plate XLIV, 3, 4). The four pillars inside are square for the lower 4 feet with the
upper sections octagonal.

In frout of the masjid stands Shil ‘Ali's Rauza, supported by sixteen pillars,
open on all sides and roofed by nine small domes all beautifully carved. The tomb
must have been of marble, but it has quite disappeared and the place is filled with
rubhbish.

Farther off, and to the north-north-east, is another mausoleum whieh has been,
and even still is, a beautiful tomb, known as the ravza of Ninha Idriis, which stands
on a base 40 feet square, having twenty pillars on the outer square and in the
inner twelve, which support the large dome over the tomb (Plate LIX, 3),

This dome is slightly stilted, the dram or base rising 4 feet, and giving effect
to the dome. It is carefully carved inside. The supporting pillars, 11 feet 5 inches
in height, are connected by perforated stone-work with doors on the west and <onth
sides (Plate LIX, figs, 2, 3); but the building is suffering from shameful neglect-—

! J. F. Fernandez in Appendix to Crawley-Boevey's Seheme, pp, =xxvi s XXXV,
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severnl of the perforated panels have been broken and carried off ; the floor has been
torn up; and the stone tomb in the centre has heen ruined.

The entrance gate, originally of elaborate workmanship, is completely dilapidated.'

Mosque axp Toss oF Nawies Saepir KHAN.
Prares LX, axp LXL

In 1659, when the unfortunate Dari Shikoh had been defeated by his younger
brother Aurangzib and fled to Ahmadibid, where Sayyid Abmad was deputy viceroy
for Shih Nawdz Khin Safivi, Aurangzib’s father-indaw, we find Nawib Sardir
Khiin had imprisoned Sayyid Ahmad and closed the gates in face of the prince.
Yor this he was thanked by the usurping Emperor. Four years later he was made
governor of Bharoch, and a little later governor of Sorath, to which in 1666
Nawinagar was also added: in 1670 he was sent to idar, and in 1685 he died at
Thatta in Sindh, to which he had been appointed governor. His tomb, with the
accompanying mosque, was doubtless begun when he was at Ahmadibad or before
1664, though it may have been completed whilst he ruled Sorath or Idar, or at
latest by 1683,

The masjid and tomb stand a little to the east of the Jamilpur road, behind
Muhammad ‘Ali Siheb’s masjid, about 360 yards north of Haibat Khin's, and
occupy & space of one acre enclosed by high walls, to which there is an imposing
gateway.

Neither structure is large, but they attract attention as being of quite a different
style of architecture from any in Almadibad, and the crescenis on the domes and
minarets may indicate that Sardir Khin, like ‘Alam Kibén and other viceroys, had
come from Persia. The mosque is but small, is built of brick, stands on a brick
platform, has one gibla of stone carefully plastered, and has three pointed arches
in the fagade. The minarets are of four storeys, the lower ones octagonal and the
uppermost circular; but they are solid turets without any staircases to the roof
There are balcony windows in the ends, and the floor seems to have been at one
time paved with marble, The roof is surmounted by three domes that taper upwards
and seem to be imitations of what is met with in Parsian Saracenic architecture.
The whole has been beautifully finished with that perfectly smooth white plaster so

often seen in India.

The rauza is inside a separate court with large gates, and stands on a raised
brick platform : it is in the same style as the mosque and on the usoal plan of two
concentric squares, the outer of tweaty pillars enclosing the verandah and the inner
of twelve surrounding the tomb. It is roofed by one large pear-shaped dome
terminating in a brass crescent and star, very much like the Brihman trifula; over
the verandah there are eight smaller domes of the same patiern round the central
one. 'The two spaces at each corner of the verandah and the sides of the inner
chamber are filled with perforated stone panels in varied geometrical patterns and

L T O sxxvil-
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of exceptional beauty. The floor is of white and yellow marble, much in the character
of that of Nawab Shuji‘at Khin's mosque. It contains three tombs, two of which
were in good condition fifteen years ago, with the marble coverings complete, but the
third seemed to have been despoiled of its arnamental slabs.

This tomb enclosure is entirely overgrown with trees and bushes and has been
utterly neglected. The area in front of the mosque is used by silk-weavers for the
preparation of warps for looms, and the rent from this is 20 ripees per annum,
The south walls of both enclosures have been built against by private dwellings.'

1J. F. Fermnndez in Appendix to Crawley-Boevey's Seheme, pp. xxxix aund Txxixa,
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CHAPTER XIL

SHAMILBAGH AND A%ZIM KHAN'S PALACE, NOW
THE JAIL.

Prates LIIL, LVIL axp LVIIL

BOUT a mile and a half north from the Dehli gate of the city and a very little
beyond Miyan Khin Chishti's masjid, stands the Royal Garden Palace or
Shéh-i-Biagh, built on the lefi bank of the Sibhramati, by Prince Mirza Khurram,
afterwards Shih Jahin when viceroy of Gujardt in 1616-1623. His minister was
the able Mubhmnmad Safi, who alterwards received the title of Sail Khin, and who
was really the governing spirit in Gujarit. In 1624 he was appointed seventeenth
viceroy until the death of Jahingir in 1627, when Shih Jahin caused him to be im-
prisoned because of his loyalty to Jahingir. Tradition alleges that Shih Jahin built this
residence and pleasure-garden to give work to the poor during a season of geareity :
possibly it was partly also to please his wife, the famous Arjumand Bino Begam,
styled Mumtéz Mahdl, when she might come with him to Ahmadibid, and in her
honour the suburb was named DBegampur. But Jahangir preferred generally to live
at Ujjain, leaying a deputy al Ahmadéabad, which, however, he visited occasionally,
Mandelslo in 1638 deseribes the Qhih-i-Bagh as “the king's garden, very large,
shut in by a great wall with ditches full of water, with a beautiful mansion having
very splendid rooms. A walk leads thence,” he says, “by a stone bridge to another
garden four hmndred paces distant. which was styled ‘The Jewel® and was planted
by a beautiful and wealthy maiden. This garden is not large, nor is the house to
which it is attached ; but both are most advantageously sitnated on ground so raised
as to overlook all the surrounding country and to present at the approaches to the
bridge one of the most beautiful views I have ever seen. The mins that tall in
winter fill a large reservoir or pond in the middle of the garden, but in summer
the water is drawn by machines worked by oxen from wells which are so deep
fhat they mnever run dry.” Thevenot adds that “in the centre of four walks
which make a eross, there was a pavilion covered with green tiles, and thither went
all the young people of the town to take the fresh air upon the banks of a hason
full of water underneath.™

A little beyond the Shah-i-bigh was an older garden, called the Andhéri-bigh
or dark garden, with large ruins.

About 1781, when James Forbes visited Ahmaddbid, he states that the Shih-i-
bigh park and pleasure grounds had once extended to the city gates; “they were
enclosed by a high wall, which is now in rnins; little of the gardens remnain except
broken fountains, aqueducts and @ few trees,—some of foreign appearnnce. The

! Wiequofort, Seitte de la relation du Voyege, tom. 11, p. 143,
¢t Thevenot, Travels, purt 111, p. 10.
H
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zanina, or Sultina’s palace was situated at a little distance from the royal mansion,
on the bank of the Sibhramati, with separate baths, gardens and fountains, Tt is
now known as the Chhota Shib-i-biigh, and is the offieial residence of the Superin-
tendent of Police, The apartments for the officers and attendants of the court
were still further detached Everything indicates fhe taste  and Judgment of
Shah  Jahin in planning this lovely retrest Ffrom the cares of royalty. It now
exhibits a scene of solitude and riin, except the palace itself The zanfina seems
to have been intended to accommodate o great number of females.™ Further, he
adds that the grounds stil] boasted of “some noble Cypresses, cedars, palmetos,
sandal, and cassia trees with mango, tamarind and other spreading fruit-trees, and
large and small aqueduets, admirably contrived for conveving water to every tree
and bed in the garden. ™

The Plate LI shows the style of this royal garden house, The whole is raised
on a sunk storey of Tah-khdnas or cellars, which form cool retreats during the hot
days in April and May. Over these the palace rises in a large square block twe
storeys in height, with a third storey over the front only. The hall is a very fine
apartment, the walls divided by deep recesses— four on each  side, with two
doors in each end—front and back—an(d another recess hetween each of these, In
the words of Forbes,—* The saloon, spacions and lofty as the building, was a fine
room;: the wall covered with shell chunam,” or white stucco, * polished like the
finest marble, and the ceiling painted in smal] compartments with much taste, The
angular recesses lead 1o eight small octagon rooms, four helow and gs many above,
with separate stairs to each: they are finished in the same style as {he saloon, the
walls like alabaster and the ceilings neatly embossed. The flat ro0f commands an
extensive prospect, the substructions form a cool retreat under the saloon and a
surrounding platform, Ornamented with small eanals and fountains, These substrue-
tions are on a level with the Aower-garden, which reached fo the river; everything
appears to have been elegant and splendid. Tt wys during the reign of Shil Jahin
that architectural faste in the Muhammaday structures of Indis attained its neme™

About 1835 the two wings on the terrpee and some other additions were ade
by Mr. Williams of the Civil Service. “How far this alteration was an improvement
is very doubtful,” Mr. Vaupell re:unrked,—addiug that it had “entirely changed the
character of the building."* Tt is now the official residence of the distriet judge,

In the great flood of 1875, the strong stone wall which prevents the river from
passing south towards the City was slightly injured, and sand was washed over it,
covering ani destroying the garden beds, Sipee this flood the water 18 muech deeper
and the eurrent muek stronger along the base of the wall than before *

A'zin Kuin's Pavace, xow g Jap,

Among the sixty VICETOYS appointed by the Muglal Ewperors between the
conquest of the country by Akbar and 1748, when the Marithas seized the provinee,

! Forbes, Orientat Memoirs, 3 o vol, 11, pp.Eﬁ—b‘,
* Bombay Geagraph, Soe. Trans., vol, Vi1, p. 110,
* Bombay Gazettesr, vol, IV, p. 253,
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fow were so efficient as Mir Mubammad Baqir, the brother of Asaf Khin Jéi‘far Beg,
who in 1606 had been honoured by the Kmperor Jahfingir with the mansab of 1000
and the title of Tridat Khidn, bad the office of Wizirat Kull con ferred on him by Shih
Jahan in 1628, and two years later received the title of A'zim Khin, He was
governor of Bengal when the English obtained permission to irade at Pipli on the
Orisstt coast in 1634, and was selected as vieeroy of Gujurat by the Emperor Shih
Jahin at the close of 1635, when the native chiefs and predatory tribes were holding
that province in a state of turmoil. and he at once adopted firm and even severe
measures. To ensure peace he fortified posts wherever they seemed required, as at
‘Azimdbid snd Khalilabad in the Koli country, at Shihapur, near (hudd Rénpur
in the Dhandhuké distriet, and in fact all over the country of the Kolis and Kathis.
From this circumstance A'zim or Aqzam Khin came to be nicknamed Uddi or the
White Ant, which builds its house wherever it goes, He was apparently of Persian
origin, born in 1576, he died at Jannpur in 1649,

What is the present jail was built by this Azim Kbdn as a residence, and it is
still spoken of us his palace. It stands at the south-east corner of the Bhadr about
330 yards to the west of the Tin Darwiiza. The plan (Plate LVIII) shows that it
consists of 4 main block 210 feet wide by 240 deep, with an extension on the north
side through which is a passage into the Bhadr or fort, and another addition extending
950 feet to the south, which abuts on the front wall.

The stineture (Plate LVII) has a handsome entrance on the east face about
18 feet high, leading into a very elegant octagonal hall 374 feet across, in the
upper storey of which is a gallery faced in froni by a low balcony hreast-work
of open cat stone. Each section of the gallery is rvoofed by a cupola whose marble
chequering is concealed by - coatings of whitewash, The walls are ornamented in
plaster patterns. Beyond this hall is a large court 1506 [eet wide by 146 deep.
surronnded hy rooms in two storeys, now converted into cells for the prisoners,
those on the left or south side being used as the hospital and female wards.

Over the entrance is a magniloquent Persian inscription stating that *this
mansion (sara’e) like which the vision of the age has not seen the equal, was erected
in the reign of Shihjahin Shahab-ad-din Muhammad, by the brave A'zim Khin,
the souree of justice, whose sword is the soul of the kingdom,” an edifice * whose
height towers ahbove Saturn in the sky—its beauty and grace is like to paradise, and
is worthy that Ridvan (the gatekeeper of paradise) should be its porter. The sari'e
and palace being completed by order of the Khfin of Justice (‘adl) the jewel of men,
1 asked echo for its chronogram, when the invisible herald replied— the place of
goodness and beneficence | "—(makdn Ehair w ihsan). The unumerical values of the
letters in which give 1047 AH. or 1637 AD.

It was during A‘zim Khin's own time that the Holstein traveller Mandelslo
visited India, and was twice received by ‘Azam Khin in 1638, apparently in the
palace which he had built only a year or two previously. After visiting the fort,
he says, the English agent and he “entered, also from the Maidin Shih '’ or area
between the Tripoli or triple gateway and the Bhadr, “a mansion built of brick
which is called the Royal Palace. Over the entrance extends a corridor for the

n 2
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music of violins, hauthoys and bagpipes, which are played at morning, noon, evening
and midnight, as in Persia,” &c. All the apartments of this mansion “were beautiful,
gilt and painted in distemper, in the fashion of the country; but more satisfactory
to such as take delight in variety of colours than to those who seek it in invention
or in exactness of proportion.™

Architecturally, it is a veally fine building, though what the internal arrange-
ments exactly were in the seventeenth century may not now be quite clear; the
plans show the present arrangements of the two storeys, as it has been adapted
to the requirements of a prison. Thevenot, about thirty years after its erection,
mentions “a caravansary, a great omament to the square’ with its gate on the
south; but he speaks also of “the palace belonging to the king " here. It was at
a later date turned into a madrasa or college, and under the Marithas (1753-1820)
it was occupied as the residence of one of their military ehiefs, whilst lastly, under
the British (1820) it was turned into a jail and still continues to be used as such.

! Wiaquofort, Svitte, &e. tom, II, p. 135, The Bombay Gazelteer says Mandelslo does not mention
the palsce—Vol. IV, p. 274 n.
# Thevenot, Travels, tr. by A. Lovell, part IIT, p. 9,
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CHAPTER XLV,

MOSQUE AND TOMB OF SHUJAAT KHAN, AND HIDAYAT
BAKHSH MADRASA.

Puares LXIT 10 LXV.

T[E:E masjid of Nawab Shujd’at Khin stands on the west side of the road leading
north from the Karafij to the Mirzapur ward, and is about 120 yards north-east
from the T4l Darwéza of the Bhadr.

Kartalab Khfin appears to lave succeeded Sardir Khin as governor of Sorath
in 1685, but very soon afterwards, on the death of Mukhtar Khinin 165586, he was
raised to the post of viceroy, being the thirty-ninth in cuccession, with Mubammad
Tahir as his minister. In addition to Gujarit he was also placed in charge of
Jodhpur. In 1639, whilst he was on his way 10 Jodhpur, the troops in Ahmadibid
grew mutinous, when he immediately ceturned and by his firmness promptly restored
order. His conduet so pleased the Emperor ‘Alamgir that he hestowed on him the
title of Shujaat Khan, e was an able ruler, and for fifteen years held the office
of viceroy at a critical period, till his death, which, according to the Mirat-i Ahmnadi,
ocenrred in 1703, but the inscription on his tomb here—without indicating his name
says, “date of the decease, Thursday the 14th of the month Safar in the year 1113
of the Hijra,” which corresponded to 21st July, 1701

The mosque stands behind an open court abont 30 feet by 70, and measures
73 feet by 41 over the walls: to the north of it, in an area about 100 feet square,
is the Magbara or tomb, and to the south—in an enclosure about 140 feet deep by 100
from east to west was a building containing many separate TOOMS round an open eourt—
variously styled a mugaffar khina or rest-house, a madrasa or college, and a palace.
The rooms have now been converted by the Muhammadan banch into small dwellings
in order ta raise an income, and are let to low people, including Goanese servants,
who keep the place in a filthy eondition.

The whole site occupies 4133 square yards, of which the mosque with its court
covers 1150,

The mosque and tomb are built of brick, and, with those of Sarddr Khin, are
almost the only structures of that material in the city that can pretend to any

magnificence.  The ahlution tank in the front court Was once lined with marble
slabs, but they have long cince been all removed (see Plates LXII, LXII).

The mosque is of the Indian Saracenic style, with five arched openings in front,
the central one being the largest—9 feet O :nohes wide and 12 feet 10 inches high
to the apex of the arch ; the other four each measure 7 feet 3 inches wide by 10 feet
in height. Two slender minarets are attached to the fagade—three bays apart—and
are of similar pattern to those of Nawib Sardar Khan's mosque, being octagonal
and of four storeys. The stair up to the roof ‘s in the south wall. The roof is
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supported inside by eight square piers connected by pointed arches, and has three
bulbous domes of the form prevalent in Northern Tndia and Sindh in the seventeenth
century, which are wanting in the expression of restful stahility so marked in the
earlier hemispherical form (Plate LXII).

The walls and piers are wainscotted with marble to a height of about 7 feet
and above plastered with fine lime, perfectly white and so carefully polished as to
rival marble or ivory in smoothness and brilliancy. The floor is of white and yellow
marble wrought in compartments, in the pattern of a number of mugallds, jdi-namds,
or prayer-mats, divided from one another by varti-colonred mosaics, These features
gave rise to its being populatly known as the * ivory " and the * marble mosque,"’

The mikrdbs, of which there are five, are very plain hut highly finished, and
over the central one is a Persian mscription containing the Mubammadan creed and
the date A_H. 1107, corresponding to 1605-96, when the mosque would be finished '

The mimbar is of yellow marble aud of three steps, as all pulpits in the time
of Aurangzib were formed. Perforated windows are over the mikrdbs aud differ
in character from those in the earlier mosques.

To the north of the mosque is a nearly square enclosure in which stands the
magbara or raugze upon a raised platform 54 feet square. Tt has twenty piers in
the verandah that surrounds it, connected by arches in the facades and with the
chamber containing the tomb, This room, about 28 feet square outside and 21 feet
iuside, is covered by a good-sized dome and has four smaller ones at the COTHETS ;
it contains one tomh only, on which is the mscription already quoted. The foor
was of marble but is now muech destroyed, and the plastering on the walls s gone.
Behind this is a small rauza, close wpon the wall of the court and much dilapidated,
in which it is said a daughter of Nawil, Shuji’at Khin was buried *

This mosque is eclaimed by the Shiah sect of Muhammadans, who, though the
predominant sect in Persia, ave in g small minority in India, but are largely prevalent
in Audh.  Their peculiar practices, however, have been popularised among the
Sunni sect in many localities. They deny the title to the Imimate of ‘Abj Bakr,
‘Umar, and ‘Usman, and elaim ‘Al the hushand of Fatimah as the first legitimate
Imim or Khalifah.

Tue Hiivar Bignsy Mabrasa axp Qizi's Mosqre.
Prates LXIV, LXV.

The Madrasa-i-Hidayat Bakhsh, formerly known as the (izi's Mandir-sila, is on
the south side of the Oliphant Road in the Astodiva quarter, about three hundred
yards west from Dastur Khin's masjid and close to the City Qazi's mosque, which
indeed may be regarded as part of the group which Occupies an area now reduced
to 4129 square yards—much of the original land having been privately appropriated,

o e o —_—

Y Aroh. Sur. W. Ind. vol. I, p. 10,

* H. Briggs, Cities of Gujarashtra, p. 292, hys given u tolerably yood plan of this whole group, only
hiz senle is too small for the sketel ; instend of “ 10 feet,” it ought to he abont 72 feet to the iueh,
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The Ahmadidbad Qdzi’s mosque is a very small stone building of the heginning
of the eighteenth eentury. It has eight windows, of which two in each end and two
in front reach to the floor, whilst the two in the back are smaller and nearly square ;
these as well as the mihrdb appear to have been carried off from some earlier
structure. It has an inscription giving the date. The Hidiyat Bakhsh Mosque' was
built about A.D. 1699 by Munhammad Akram-ad-din, styled Shaikh-al-Islim Khin,*
the Sadr-subhih of Ahmadabad, who built the madrasa and masjid at an expenditure
of 124000 rupees and whose marble tomb stands in the court. The mosque
(Plates LXIV and LXV) is built of stone and brick, much in the general style of
Shujd'at Khin's, with five bays in length having lofty Saracenic arches in the fagade.
The length inside is 00 feet and the depth 36% feet within the front piers, and the
area is divided into three aisles by the pillars, which are all conmected by arches.
The roof has three domes of the nsual form over the central aisle, whilst the other
sguares have coved roofs.

There are three milrdbs, of which the central one and the low mimbar are in a
recess. In the back wall are two windows, and in ecach end three, all above the
level of the spring of the arching and are perforated in unique designs. The minarets
are solid octagons after the style of those on Shuji'at Khin's.

Tao the east is a walled enclosure containing the marble tombs of Maulani
Niir-ad-din Sidi-—for whom the college was built—and of Qazi Muhammad Nizam-ad-din
Khén, the first Qazi of Ahmadibid city, who died AJH. 1165 (A.D. 1752) at the age
of 114 lunar yvears. These are under a small wooden shed, and to the west of it
are the tombs of Qazi Muhammad Rukhn-al-Hagq—with an inseription—and of Qizi
Mubammad Saleh—hoth of marble.

The mosque stands in a large court cprronnded by arched rooms intended for the
residence of the madrasa students—but they are now much dilapidated and are
oceupied by Mirwadi dyers, who ply their occupation in the court, which is uneared
for. To the south and west sides of the enclosures over the tombs, low rooms have
been built within the last twenty or twenty-five years by the Qazi who holds the
property, and the whole is rented to occupanis.

For the support of this madrasa three villages were originally assigned—one in
Chiumpanir district, one in Kadi pargana and the third in Pattan pargana along with
an allowance of 2 rupees from Abmad Shib's Langarkhina or almshouse. Nothing
now remains of these endowments.”

1 Hidiyat hakhsh means © imparting guidusee,” & penching.”

2 Shaikl al-Telim is = title given to ilie chiof Maulavi or Qégl of the gities of Stambul, Damascus,
Cairo, &e, This Mubsmmad Akram was u diseiple of Tazrat Manting Nir-ud-din Siheb,

3 J. F. Fernandez, In Crawloy-Boevoy's Scheme, App. pp. xliv, xlv.
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CHAPTER XV.

OTHER MOSQUES AND TOMBS IN THE CITY.

HERE are many other mosques and tombs both within and without the walls
of Ahmadibid that have not been noticed in the preceding account, but of
which some such notes as the following may be found nseful. It wonld be impossible
to classify them chronologically, and probably a sort of topographical arrangement
may be fonnd even more useful.! Accordingly, they will be taken in order generally
from the morth of the city toward the south.

1. Gaxy “Imivar Suin’s Mosque

Nang Sara, Gagd Nasd, or Ganj ‘Tudyat Shih's masjid is close to the Shihpur
gate, on the west side of the street, and, though of brick and mortar, it appears to
have been of some architectural pretensions. It was built in the time of Mahmad
Shah IIT (1537-1554) in lionour of Ganj ‘Infiyat. Tt has five brick qiblas and an
mscription on a marble tablet over the central one, but the building has for long been
roofless and ruined. The inseription reads thus:—

“The confider in the gracious Allah,—Nasir-ad-dunyi wa'd-din Abul Fath Mabmid
Shih, son of Latif Shah, son of Mugzaffar Shih, son of Malmad Shih, son of
Mubammad Shih, son of Abmad Shah, son of Mubammad Shilh, son of Mugaffar
Shah the Sultdn. For the purpose of worship Shams Khin bnilt the masjid : the
year nineé hundred and (forty?) six was found to be the date of the building
(A.D. 1530-40).  Written by ‘Abdu’l-Haiy."

The area of the site is 1004 square yards. (Lists of Antiquarian Remains,
p. 160, No. 74 and p. 251; or Revised Lists, p. T4, No. 47 and p. 297)2

2. Cuanri-gl Masnn iy SoAurcn.
About 80 wards south from the preceding, on the west side of the Shilipur
cakla, is a small mosque built of brick with a tiled roof and having three plain

¥ The following notes are largely bueed on the statements of Mr. J. F. Fernaudez, Deputy Collector anid
Cty Mugistrute, forming Appendix C (ppe xix-lix) to A, W. Crawley-Boevey's Scheme Sor the protection
and conservation of Antient Buildings at Ahmedabad (1886). The tabular form of armogement here
slopted is not suited for general vse mnd is quite different from Mr., Crawley-Boevey's: own armngemont
(App. B. pp. v—xvii): in the Lists of Autiguariun Remainy in the Bombay  Presidency ns revised by
Mr. Consens snd supplemented from the shove, anoilier order has been followed, but it is also irregulnr. The
principal structures. having been aiready deseribed, the srrangement here employed applies only 10 the
remuinder ; and of these, several of little necount have been viitted, There is considornble uneertainly, too,
ubont the correet names of many of them,

* For brevity, the references to the Fists of Antiguearian Remzing in the Bnmhy Presidency (1883}
andl  the sume Lists ns revised by Mr. Cousens (1897} will be referrod to Imlﬁ ns L, and R.L.
respectively,



OTHER MOSQUES AND TOMBS IN THE CITY. 6

mikrdbs in the back wall. On the survey map it is styled Shihpur mosque, bt
from an old champa tree in the court it is locally known as the Champd ki masjid.
1t is said to have been first erected about AH. 920 or A.D. 1515, by Makhdiim
Jamil-ad-din Jamman Shih, whose tomb (now dilapidated) stands on the west side
af the Sabhramati in the village bounds of Naurangapira.! The original masjid has
entirely disappeared.

9. Kparirr Masaip.

The Khardti masjid inside and on the west of the Delhi gate, which is half a
imile to the east of the Shihpur gate, is a very small brick structure roofed with
tiles. It contains an inscription of four lines on a marble slab, but this may have
been brought from elsewhere. It begins with a guofation from the Qordn,
sura Ixxii, v. 18, followed by the nsual saying of the prophet about the house in
paradise ; then the statement .__tThe erection of this blessed Jami' masjid (was) in
the reign of the ruling Sultin Nigir-ad-lunyd wa'd-din Abuwl Fath Mahmid Shéb,
son of Mubammad Shib, &c. . . . may Allah perpetuate his kingdom !—hy the
worshipper hoping for the merey of Allah, the Malik Malik Ghani . . . Sultdni
who received from his most exalted majesty the title of Malikn'l-barr and
Qawim-al-mulk—may his exaltation be permanent ! —desirous of the approbation
of Allah and craving Lis abundant reward. On the cixth of Dhul-Qa'dah in the
year 880, i.e. Saturday, 3rd March, 1470.

4. Bipsuin Sayym's Masab,

Badshah Sayyid's or Nagind Pol masjid is a small mosque of brick and mortar
in the Daxyipur quarter, about a hundred yards east of the Daryapnr chakla. Part
of the entrance is of stone and the mosque is kept up and used by the people of
the district. There are tombe in an enclosure about eighteen yards distant, among
the houses on the opposite or north side of the street which must have originally
belonged to this mosque, The site now claimed for it is only the ground on which
it stands, measuring 111 square yards. (R.L., p. 70, No. 83.)

5. Mimi Savvip ‘Aui’s Masain.

Mira Sayyid ‘Ali's or Mirina Chhulini Masjid in Lunsiwida, south of Jordan
road and about 230 yards south from the Fath Masjid, is dilapidated, but las a
good entrance : it is a plain stone structure, and has several tombs in front. The
ground measures quite a quarter of an acre but has been encroached upon: Mird
Sayyid ‘Ali died about the end of the fifteenth century and was buried at Unio
near Uiijhi in north Giujart, where his tomb is much frequented as a place of
pilgrimage by the Muhammadans. (R.L., Nos. 27 and 70.)

1 This mosque is not mentioned in Mr. Fernandez's enumerntion. The Rev. Geo. P, Taylor obtained
pars of the whove detajls for me from Farid-nd-din Chishti, the pephew of Qari  Silah-sd-din Chishti
of Shibpur.

1
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6. MivA% Mumanaan Husars's Masiin,

Miyin Mohammad Husain's Masjid, also known as Dada Miyan's, otherwise called
Roshan Pir, is near Chandan Talivdi, south of Jordan road and about 230
south-east from Bidshih Sayyid's. It is a good family mosque built of brick, about
the last quarter of the eighteentl century.  Didd Miydr was the son of Sayvi
Mustafa, and great-grandfather of Naral Husain Shihib-ad-din to whom & sunad of
possession was granted in 1870. The walls are ornamented with carved arches;
the pillars are of carved wood, connected by wooden arches with carved panels,  1In
the yawza are buried Didd Miyin Mash-heddi and his younger brother Ghulim
Nabi, On the other side is a second rauza containing the tombs of Sayyid Mustain
and other members of the family, The buildings oceupy a site of 740 square vards,
but are badly kept. (R.L., No. 73.)

7. Hisi Sinee's Massio,

Haji Siheb's or Hiji Sikhi's Masjid in Lil Bawi's Tekra in Darydpur, about
120 yards S.5S.W. from the preceding, is a brick mosque of about the middle of the
seventeenth century, now in a dilapidated eondition, and part has been walled of as
a dwelling, To the north-sast lie the tombs of Haji Sakhi and Shil Nur, of plain
marble, nuder a canopy supported on carved wooden pillars —also decayed. On the
east Js a large graveyard with many tombs. TIn the survey of 1824 the ground
belonging to this mosque measured 1564 square yards, but since then 285 square
yards of it have been taken possession of as private property. (R.L., p. 76, No. 72,)

3. ‘Awpurii Razzig's Ravza axp Massm,

‘Abdu’l Razziq or ‘Aldulli Razziq's Rauza and Masjid are on the road leadi
from Dhalgarwadi to Popatiawid aud about 80 yards west from Hiji Saheb's masjid.
The mosque is a small plain stone-built one, with narhle flooring.  The Rauza is
octagonal and domed, with walls of perforated stone, but all whitewashed, Tt is the
burial-place of ‘Abdu’l Razziq, and the tomb is of marhle, though the rest is now of
brick and mortar, but shaded by a handsome wooden canopy,  Close 1o it is g

Divinkhina, the terrace of which forms a verandah to a private dwelling built over two

graves. A large part of the Tanka of the Masjid lies outside the present enclosnre, and
the aren, now only of 470 Square yards, has been much contracted from encroachments
and probably by sales, Ap allowance of one Topee per annum is made from the
collector’s trensnry. From the lands and houses belonging to the mosque and rawga
the holder derives ay income of 200 to 250 rupees per amnum. In the village of
Sharkotda also, land mensuring nearly five and a half acres belongs to this estahl ishment,
andl is assessed at 63 ripees, but pays only 15} mpees as quit-rent.  Tq was granted
by Sanad to Aras Bibi, who died iy 1883, when the property was entered in name of the
Panchiyat ; the manager of the Rauza, however, enjoys the usufruet, the Muhammadan
Panclidyatl paying the quit-rent,  There were besides 13 acres 2% roods belonging to it
outside the Kalupur gate, which was taken up when Sir Th. (, Hope laid out the
Railway suburb in 1862-63. The compensation for the land was settled at Rs. 2850,
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but Aras Bibi demanded land in exchange and refused the money. This had accumulated
in 1886 to Rs. 7758, partly snvested in Government securities.  (R.L., No. 28.)

0. Pin-1 Dastain's Masnp axp Ravza.

Pir-i Dastgir's Masjid and rouza are in the Ghikdnta road, near Dayabhai's widi,
about 110 wards south from Muhifez Khin's masjid. The Masjid here lhas entirely
disappeared and the site has been built over, whilst the rauza is in o dilapidated
condition ; the arches on the east and west have been filled in by a wall, and the spaces
converted into rooms. The title Pir-i-Dastgir is a name applied to Sayvid ‘Abdu'l

adir aldilini, the famous saint of Baghdad (A.D. 1078-11606) and founder of the
Qadiriyale order of faqirs, the most popular sect of ascetics among the Sunnis of Asia.

The area is 963 square yards, but amch of the ground formerly attached has heen
lost, and part of the Tinka or reservoir of the Masjid is now in an adjoining property.
(R.L., No. 67.)

10. Pir Vazirsuan's Mazsam axp Ravza,

Wihidshah Pir's, otherwise called Pir Vazirchah's Masjid and Rauza, is in the
Mirzipur quarter, 160 vards sonth-west from the English church and ahout 100 yards
north-east of the Mirzipur Queen’s mosque. It is o small one and, with the raiza
formed by a few arches roofed -1 with outer walls, is of hrick and mortar with no
architectural elaims. Wiahid Shah, who died about 178000, is reputed to have heen
‘& man of piety, and his tomb in the Rauza is canopied and held in great veneration hy
Muhammadans who visit it from distant places. Within the enclosure, which has an
area of 1460 square yards, are a few honses which, with a piece of land attached to the
rauza, yield an income from which repairs and upkeep are provided. [(R.L. Na. 80,

11. Suin ‘Anv-an Fapu's Massn ¥ SyAnren.

Shél ‘Abd-al Fath's Masjid, in the Shahpur guarter, sonth of the mills, and 420 vards
north of Sayyid *Alam-ad-din’s masjid, has a site measuring 1736 square yards, and is
entered in the registers as twaqf property, 1o name being mentioned as manager or
holder. The mosque is small but massive and perfectly plamn, with two slender
minarets, and the domes are surmounted by finials. Tt has three qiblas. The interior
is whitewashed and daubed in places with green, vellow and blue. The sen und hauz
are in good repair, and the mosque is kept up by the Muhammadan workers of the
adjoining wills of the Spinning and Weaving Company. Rooms are attached ot the
ends of the mosque for residence.

On the area to the north-east are tombs in good preservation, among which s
that of *Abdal Fath. The land to the east and south, measuring 54 perches, is held
on summary settlement tenure by a Musalman who professes to be the helder of
the mosque, but he spends no part of the income on the huilding.

12, Sitin ‘Aspar WRHHAB'S Masam axp Havza.

Shith ‘Abd-al Wilihab's Masjid and auza are in Khinpur, in o seclnded place

without auy entrance to it, and about 29() yards east from the mosque of Sayyid
12
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‘Alum-ad-din. The mosque had almost disuppeared twenty years ago, but was being
replaced by a modern structure, altogether out of keeping with the Rauzas.

The rauga of Shah ‘Abd-al Wahhib is to the east of the mosque and must have
once been a somewhat imposing building. The central avea is domed on arches and
the surrounding double colonnade is roofed by smaller domes on numerous stone
colmmus : but the whole structure has fallen into decay, the marble has disappeared
from the tomb, and the canopy over it—similar to that over the tomb of Shil
Wajili-ad-din—which must have cost a large sum, is also dilapidated. The shrine
is highly venerated and on certain days it is visited by Hindds as well as
Musalméns. The mosque was to the west of it, aml near it to the north-west
stands the Rauza of Shih Ghyis-ad-din, the father of Shah ‘Abd-al Wahhib, and of
Sayyid ‘Abdul Jalil, the grandson of the latter. Though plain and much ruined, it
appears to have been once a fine building, In the mesque were a number of
mscriptions on marble slabs  containing usual quotations from the (ordn, one
mentioning the Rauza of Shih Ghyfds-ad-din and his son Malik Sarirat Sayyid
Jalil, whilst another mentions the death of Rukn-al-haqq in AT 1200 or A.D. 1786.
The area belonging to these buildings in 1824 extended to 2 acres 3 roods and
I8 perches : since then a small portion has been appropriated as private property
and another for roads, leaving 2 acres 1 rood and 29 perches. (L., p. 160, No. 66,
and pp. 262-3; R.L., No. 40, and p. 308.)

13. Nawis Suimianiy Kuix axp Momiy Kuix's Massn, &e.

Nawib Shihjahin Khin and Momin Khin’s Masjid and ‘Alikhin’s Masjid were
situated about 330 yards from the Mirzipur Réni Rupévati Mosque and half that
distance east from the preceding. These buildings, up till about fifty years ago,
occupied a large area: but a Faqir squatted in it, assumed the position of owner,
and then began selling the land.

In 1864 he sold an area of 2285 square vards to a Mrs. King, a Eurasian,
who built a dwelling-house on it. Gradually she appropriated other portions and
removed all the original structures except a small Mausoleum with perforated walls,
built for a Muhammadan wife of (General Ballantyne, which she used as a fowl-house,
after removing the tomb. On the ground she built other two houses, and in 1874
the spoliations were finally confirmed by Mr. J, I, Oliphant, the Collector.' All that
remains of the original property is a small enclosed graveyard with an area of
150 square yards, without any means of access {o it. In the eentre of this enclosure
is a marble tomb with a headstone bearing an inseription in memory of Mirzi
Mubammad Ja'far Najm-nd-daulah Sahni, alias Momin Khin, who figured largely
in the struggles in Gujarit, with the Marithas, and was fifty-seventh viceroy of
Gujarit from 1738 till his death. He was the first of the Nawibs of Cambay,*
and died Sth Muharram 1155 AH., 1742 A.D. (R.L., No. 89,) I

! Crawley-Boevey's Soheme, pp. 39-40, _
_ ® His son-in-law Zimal Abid-din Najm EKhiin was governor of Khambay till 1748, when he was
poisoned by his brother-in-law  Muftakhir Khin, who succeoded ns Momin Khiu IT, and ruled i1l 1783

Nujm Khin's son Mubammad Qali suecseled as Momin Khin 111 aod died in 1789 —Bambay Gazettecr,
val. V1, p, 233, :
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14. Musaasian Savvio’s Mosque.

Mubammad Sayyid's or the Ghikintd Masjid, about 170 yards sonth of Pir
Dastgir's, on the same reatl, is a private mosque helonging to the family of the
Dattawalds of Ahmadibid, A sanad was issued in October 1883, to "_\:'&nh.ﬁ Mivin
Muhammad Afzal as owner. The site covers 1498 square yarils and in front it is
studded with torabs of members of the family of past times; another portion is used
as a firewood depit. (R.L., No. bb.)

15. Sparka Mugawap Jimp on
Moux: Masnw.

Shaikh Mubammad Jahid or
Morki Masjid and Rauza in
Ghikintd Road, stand about 120
yards south of the preceding. Of

i.
.

the mosque a part of the back
wall containing the fine central
Mihvdh® is all that remains, Lhe
rauza is in fair preservation. The

gite covers 797 square yards, but
the ground to the north and east
has been built over with houses
and shops by the D nchiyat.

16. Ravza oF Savyip ABDULLAL
+fprus 18 JHEAVERIWADA.

The Rauza of Sayyid Hazrat
Shams al-shamas Qhaikh bin Abd-
allah  alfdris  in Jhaveriwhda,
lying about 92() vards to the east ol
the preceding, is @ {ine mausolenm
of stone, of the nsnal domed type _'__-_
enclosed with perfm‘:lh‘ll slone g Ravza OoF Sayyin SHAME-AL-SHAMAS SHAIRI attlpeus,
panelled screens. The accom-
panying Mustration (No. 8) will best help to explain this building. It belongs to
the family of Sayyid ‘fdriis or Edrus, and contains three large and two small tombs,
the central one being that of the first ‘Idriis that came o India? over which is a canopy
inlaid with mother-of-pearl. Suyyid Abiibakr ‘fdriis, the ancestor of the Idris family,
is gaid to have come tO Western Indin m the sixteenth century OrF in the Teign of

! Conf., Hope and Fergusson's Arehil. of Ahmadabad, Plate 92,

¢ The descendnnts of o lint sun of =ons, Sayyid Abavakr {iriis absndonad sltogether their own Innd,
and, attracted by the Sultdn's (Mahmud THL) henevolenee, settled at _'Lhu-.:uhﬂ-iu]."—.l.h'r:':r-i-n'-.'.hmu‘r:rl in
The illastration (¥o. 3, with information relating 10 it, I owe to the kindness

Bayley's f;:{jrrrﬁ!. p. 442,
of Bayyil F. Ahiibaler Edriz, o msmber of the family and Huglir Deputy Collactor, Ahmadabid.
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Malmiid TII and died in 1623, In his honour Mirzi Sayyid Beg built a mosque in
Sayyidpura, Surat in 1639. The Rauza here is all whitewashed and is held by the
present Sayyid ‘Idriis who lives at Surat. Tn the old survey of 1524, the area is stated
at 3921 square vards, of which 226 have since lLeen declared private property, but
from the survey of 1863-67 Mr. Fernandez gives the aven in 1886 as only 1926 square
yards.'

17. Qizi ‘Ari’s Masnn, &e.

Husain Sayyid's Masjid, known as Qazi ‘Ali’s Masjid in PiAnchapati Road, at the
entrance to the Mughal Pol—on the outer side of the gate and lying about 80 yards west
from Sakar Khin's masjid, is a small one, probably not the original strueture, and is in
charge of Sunni Bohris, On the other side of the entrance to Mughal Pol stands a
very old marble tomh on an gpen platform which probably was originally in the same
area. (R.L., No. 76.)

15, Asurar Kuis's Mosque, &e.

Ashraf Khin's Masjid and Badi Mivan Saheb's burial-place are in Navi-Moholat
and Suigari-pol in the Kalupur quarter, ahout a (uarter of a mile south-south-east of
the preceding and o hundred vards from the city wall. The original mosque was
built by Ashraf Khén, a noble under Shih (uth-ad<lin, Tt has long since entirely
disappeared ; and the Bohris, who own it, have erected a modern brick structure on
the site, with carved wooden pillars and ceiling. Part of the west wall is constructed
with perforated stone slabs. The structure js whitewashed and kept in gool order,
Built into the walls are two inscriptions on marble slabs that must have come from
mosques that have long since been destroyed ; the first is of the time of Abmad Shah,
and reads thus:—

“An atom of Thy grace, O cherisher of (thy) servants!

Is better than a thousand years of gifts and prayers.
In the reign of the Khalifal of the age, who trusts in Allah and asks Lis lielp, Nasir-ad
dunyd wa'd-din Ahi'l Fath Almad, son of Mubammad Shih, son of Muzaffar Shah
the Sultin—may Lis Khalifah be perpetuated and his clemency extended '—this house
and noble graceful place was built for Allah by the mean weak worshipper ‘Alamgir
who hopes for the mercy of the creator, The 10th of the holy month Mubarram the
year 826 " —24th December 1423,

The other inseription is on the wall on the right hand and belongs to the reign
of Mahmid Shih I It begins with the verse Qordn, s, Ixii, v. 18, and the wusual
saying of the prophet about the *house in paradise,” and adds,—*The work of the
great Sultin, the defender of the world and of the religion, the possessor of victory—
Mahmild, sou of Mubammad Shah, son of Ahmad Shih, son of Mubammad Shih,

1A, W. Cruwley-Boevey's Scheme, pp. xlii, No. 36, and Ixxxiv, No. 18; L, p 124, or R.L., No, 57.
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son of Muzaffar Shih the Sultin—may Allah perpetuate his Khalifat! . . . The
- eighteenth of the month Muharram in the year eight hundred ninety=six'" (2nd
December 1490).

To the north-east is the Rauza of Sayyid Shams-ad-din, with a canopy over
the tomb. He is said to have been & man of learning and piety who died about
1735, snd has since been recognised as a Pir To the north-west of this raunza are
two tombs in niches . the one of Shih *Abd-al Rasstl Khoda Noma, the pir of
Shamsad-din and father of Badd Sileb Khoda Noma, who ie buried in the other
tomb; he was the first pir of the Junfigadh Nawdbs, and his sixth direct descendant
was Sayyid *Abd-al Qadr, alias Biwa Miyin—the pirzida in 1835.

A permanent annual allowance of 155 rupees is drawn from the Collector’s
v for this moesque and rauza. Adjoining the mosque is a small low room
where are buried fifteen “Alim—men Very learned in Muhammadan theology. The
area belonging to this establishment is 1438 square yards. (L., p- 160, No. 724
R.L., No. 45.)

19, Pipmap Smiu’s Mosque AND Ravza.

Pirmad Shah's mosque and rauza are . Thiveriwadd, near the civil hospital, vn
the way from Pankornaka to Ghikéntd, and about 170 yards south from Shaikh
Muhammad Jahid's rauza. The mosque is of brick, was erected about the middle of
the eighteenth century, but is of no merit. The raugae contains the grave of Pirmad
Shith, and s well looked after ; it is the principal masjid of the Sunni Bohriis, and
the site has an area of an acre and 113 square yards: it possesses altogether
gronnd of the extent of 2 acres 2 roods and 39 perches,—only 274 square yards
having Dbeen alienated since 1824 Behind the rauza is another of Bada Miyin
Saheh—built of brick, of offoctive appearance, with a small ynined mosque having
a Divinkhina used as a dwelling. It bhas a site measuring 990 square vards
(R.L., No. 81).

20, SmasH MOmANMAD Cmsari's Ravzs.

Shaiklh Mubammad Chishti's, otherwise called Shaikh Ahmad (‘hishti’s rauza, 1o o
secluded corner, off Patwasheri Khas DBazdr, is u fine domed brick structure €on=
taining three tombs with four arched doorways, and possibly has originally belonged
to a mesque of which the site is now built over, leaving only 48 square yards for
the rauza.

91. Biwa Auwan’s Masa.

Bawid Ahmad’s (or Adham's) Masjid in Salopos Road is to the west of Malik
Shiban’s in Khis Bizdr. The original has disappeared, and a poor cubstitute with a

L Lists, pp. 257 208.: or R.L., p. 303.
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qibla, has Deen erected on the site. The rauga is also a small tiled building in
memory of one of the twelve bibds who are said to have aided the four Ahmads at
the founding of the city, Tuesday, 3rd March, 1411 A.D.!

22, "Ater (or Apguan) Mumraza's Masai,

‘Alef or Ahmad Murtaza's masjid in Khis Bazar, near the Karanj and across
the street to the sonth-west of Malik Shibin's, is a small building on a high plinth,
origimally built, it js said, about the same time as the Jimi' Masjid, and was finished
i the fifteenth century. It is in use and in good repair, The dwarf minarets have
been renewed. The property extends to 512 square yards,

25. o Maxpiug's Toun,

The tomb of Khin Juhin or Rdo Mandalik of Sorath, who was defeated by
Mahmad Baigara about 1472 and accepted Muhammadanism?, is in the Kandoi O] at the
commencement of Kalupur Road from Minik-chauk, on the right side going eastwards.
It is a small room about 8 feet square, part of which is let. The shrine is still venerated
and flowers placed on the tomb daily.

24. Garrvied's Masamy anp Pie KaMir's GravEvARD,

These are on the way from Khadivi Chauki to Navi Darwizd, about 80 and
100 yards north-west of Sirangpur masjid, and 50 vards apart. The original name
of this fine little mosque is lost: it is peculiar in style—the entrance is surmounted
by a finely carved stone arch. It must have stood in a large enclosure, as there is
reason to believe that Pir Kamil's graveyard formed part of it; but it Las been entirely
built over on the sonth and east right up to the sen. In the graveyard enclosure, now
measuring ouly 66 square yards, are three tombs, two of them still of marble, said to
be of the time of Shah ‘.—ihm, and held in veneration by the Bolirdt sect of Musalmins,
—devotions being paid at them on the oecasions of weddings, &e. The site of the
mosque measures only 7 perches (R.1L., Nos. 58, 59).

' The legend respecting the fonnding of Ahmadibid by the help of “the fonr Ahmnds "—Sultin
Abmad I, Shaikh Abmad Katti, Qfzi Ahmad and Malik Abmad—hes beetr given elsswhere (Arehs
Sure, Westn, India, wol. TI, p. 2; Couf. Bayley, Hist. of Gujaras, p. 805 Jad, Aat, vol, IV,
po 289),  Bui an addition is mude to the story, suying that they were belped by “twelve Babds™ or
notable Qulindar fagirs. Colonel John W, Waison gave their numes ns :—Babd Khboju, Bibi Larn, Babi
Kariimal, buried st Dholks; Bibd ‘AR Shir and Bild Maohmiid, buried at Sarkhej; another Biba Al
Shir, who used to sit stark naked ; Biba Tavakkal, buried fn the Nasiralad suburb ; Bibd Lalni, baried in
Mafjhuri ; Baba Abmad Nigori, buried near the Nilband Masjid; Babd Ladba, boried vear the Hilim
wicket pate ; Baba Dhokal, boriel between  the Shahpur wnd Dehli gntes, and Bibi Bayydh, buried ot
Virnmgim, There iz another—Babi Kamil Kirmini, about whem authorices diffey (Bom. Gaz., vol, 1V,
e 249 L), ;

* Couf. Bird, Hist. of Gujarat, p. 209; Burgess, Tarikh-i-Sorath, p. 1177 ; Bayley, MHist. of Gujarit,
po 189 ; and Ras Mila, vol. 1, p, 274 I
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95, ‘Aram Kuin's Ravza.

iAlam Khién's rauza is in Danapeth or the Grain Market, close to the municipal
office. “Alam Khin is said to have been a noble of Ahmad Shal’s. The rauza is of stone
with some architectural pretensions, but it has been got hold of, with the surrounding
graveyard, by a family of fagirs who have built rooms against all sides of it and use
it as a store room. The area is 1553 square yards or fully 51 perches.

365, Ravza Nuar THE RAYAKUAD (FATE.

A small rauza stands near Réiyakhad Gate, at the south end of the Jail garden,
on the west of the city. This has been a fine domed brick building with two perforated
stone windows to the north and south, and the entrance door to the west—also of earved
stone. It is in the middle of a site measuring 1907 square yards, in which are several
tombs: but this is one of the glaring instances of spoliation ; for the rauza itsell has
been declared and confirmed by the City Survey Departinent as private property, while
the surronnding area, which appears to have been a cemetery, has been brought under
the Summary Settlement Act. The rauza and land are now in possession of a Parsi
family, and were probably aequired in the same way as Nawib Shéih Jahdn's and
Momin Khiin's Masjids were by M. King.' (R.L., No. 56.)

27. Sayvin MUBANMAD Jakar AND Sarizi Sines’s Rauzas.

The rauzas of SBayyid Muhammad Ja‘far and Sardzi Sdheb are in Oliphant
Road, about 270 yards W N.W. from Dastur Khin's masjid. One of the rauzas is of
stone with perforated panelled windows, and contains three tombs—now stripped of
their marble easings. The other is of brick, but the tombs have been removed to
convert it into a storehouse. (R.L., No. 60.)

98, ()izi Simes's Masy.

Qazi Saheb’s or Rayapur Masjid, originally called Nasir Sayyid's, in
Péanchhatdi Riyapur, about 670 yards EN.E. from Rani Sipari’s mosque, is 8 gmall
masjid in ruins—the roof having fallen.

Though it once had extensive grounds, they have now been largely appropriated,
leaving only 730 square yards chiefly in tront and occupied by potters and dyers. Its
adjunct rauza stood forty yards distant, where is a fine marble tomb over the grave
of Nasir Sayyid, carved in the style of the royal sarcophagi at Sarkhej and in Ahmad
Shdh's rauza ; portions of marble, however, have been removed and replaced by
plaster. (R.L., Nos. 61, 62.)

24, BAYYID Ja'ran's Masno.

Sayyid Ja‘far’s Masjid near Sayyidwida in Astodiya Chakla—nearly opposite
Réni Sipari’s mosque— .« of brick but well built. In the rauza was buried Sayyid

1 Supras, No. 9.
¥
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Himid Ja'far Shirdzi, the founder of the sect of Sunni Bohris—an offshoot
from the Shiah Bohris. Another rauza contains nine tombs, and the area is full
of graves. The property extends to 1419 square yards, (R.L., No. 69.)

0. Suin Mumamsap ‘Ari's Masin.

Shiah Muhammad ‘Ali’s masjid in Jamilpur chakla, about 380 yards from
the gate, is a stone and brick building, partly modern and very plain: the minarets
rise ouly about three feet above the roof. Opposite to the mosque is the rauza of
Shah Mubammad ‘Ali, the floor and tomb of which are of marble. There is also another
rauza of brick within the enclosure, which extends to 2203 square yards, and is let
to workpeople, (R.L., No. 64.)

31, Mustard Savvin's Masi,

Mustafd Sayyid's masjid, about 100 yards to the south of Nawab Sardir
Khan's masjid and ranza, is a small stone mosque and whitewashed, It had once
extensive grounds, but they have all been encroached upon. (R.L., No. 36.)

32. P Quys-an-pis Sayvin's Ruauza.

The Rauza of Quib-ad-din, Quth Shah Divén, or Pir Quth Sayyid is about
80 yards to the east of Mustafi Sayyid's masjid. Tt is aseribed to the time of Ahmad
Shih, and contains three tombs, but was taken possession of by a Faqir about
twenty years ago, when the area unappropriated was 608 square yards. An inserip-
tion in it, after quoting Qoran, sura xv, v. 46, proceeds in rather more than wusual
grandiloquent terms :—*“During the time of the conquering rule and in the days of
the permanent reign of the crown-bearing celelrated Khidiv, the Sultan of the Sul 4ns
of the age, the abolisher of wunbelief and rebellion, protector of the world and of
religiom—Ahmad Shah, son of Mulammad Shih, son of Mugaffar Shih the Sultin,
son of a Sultdn (fwice}—may Allah perpetuate his kingdom and increase his rule and
Sultanship. This tomb was built by the slave, hoping for the mercy of the
*Nourisher,” Quth bin Khéjagi, The completion of this pious good work for the
object of acquiring joy, in the month Mubarram.” Bat no vear is stated, (Rev. Lists,
Nos. 34 and 65.)

It probably had at one time extensive grounds, but they had been reduced to
782 square yards in 1824 and to 608 in 1863

53. MaxnnOm Sinen's Massmn, &e.

Makhdim Saheb’s Masjid, rauza and graveyard, near Dathapathar, in
Jamilpur, has now an area of 1976 square yards, 115 square yards having been
appropriated before 1863. The mosque has disappeared and is replaced by a brick
and clay erection; the rauza was of stone, but has lost its verandah on three sides.
The tomb of Makhdiim Siheb, said to have been a Vazir of Shéh ‘Alam—is of marble
under an ornamental canopy. (L., 59, or R.L., No. 35.)



OTHER MOSQUES AND TOMBS IN THE CITY. (i)

24 Suan Bapi Qisiv's Ravza.

Shah Badd Qdsim's rauza close by the Kachni masjid, at Téjpur in Jamilpur
quarter, abont a hundred yards north-east of Makhdiim Shih's, is a fine stone building,
the outer dome resting on twenty columns, and the walls formed of carved stone
dlabs resting on a base. Some of these slabs have been destroyed or removed and
the spaces blocked up.

Within are four tombs, the chief having a canopy over . Shah Badd Qasim
s said to have been the teacher of Shih ‘Alam. The grounds to the north and west
have been encroached upon by private houses; they were at one fime extensive
and in 1824 measured 1645 square yards, now reduced to 092, (R.L., p. 80,
No. 114.)

35, Kicuxr Massin.

Kachni masjid in Téjpur, Jamilpur, is about 170 yards east from Makhdiim
Shah's. This is a notable mosque, built of stone, the original name of which has
been lost. 1t has a storey on timber beams which was formerly roofed with glazed
tiles of a bluish colour—hence the epithe of Kach (glass) mosque. The two pillars
in front and the walls arve of stone. It has three mikrdbs and a mimbar of five steps.
On the walls are a number of inscriptions, among which the kdlima appears 8iX
times ; but the slabs over the central and left milrdbs have beeu removed. The
bases of the minarets are carved, but not richly. The  terior is whitewashed and
coloured. The court has a porch on the north cide and has been enclosed by a high
wall with balcony windows. In it is a water-cistern. The ascription of its erection
to Mahmiid of Chazni is evidently an unfounded tradition. The area in 1824
measured 904 square yards, but it has now lost 192,—mostly declared private property.
(L., p- 189, No. 60, or R.L., p. 80, No. 113.)

26. Pirineir's Dageii

The Pirdupir or Bila Muhiad-din's Dargdh is in Jamalpur, near the
Khaiji CGate, a furlong west from Jamélpur chakla. ‘Abd-al Qadir Jilimi,' also
called Ghaus-al-A‘zam Muhi-ad-din Pir-i-Dastagir and Pirén-Pir, a descendant of
the Imém Hasan, the grandson of Muhammad, through his daughter Fitimah and
the Khalifah *Ali, is the most aotable Pir of the Sunni sect of Islim ; and one of s
descendants—Shah ‘Abd-al Khalak Sayyid *Abd-al Qadir—is said to have come
from Baghdad and settled here about the beginning of the seventeenth century.
He is buried in this rauza, which has perforated walls and contains the marble

tomb. The masjid is in a separate enclosue, and having fallen into decay, was

1 He was born A.H. 471 (A.D. 1078) and died AH. 561 (Feb. 1166), and was buried at Baghidid.
He was the founder of the Qadiriyn sect of Dorvishes and is saild to have written many books on mystical
theology. A son named  Sayyid ‘Abdullah is eaid to have come to Bindu, unid his tomb is shown
ut Tatin,

k2
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rebuilt of brick in a plain style not long since. The rauza of Hazrat Pir connected
with these is of brick and contains two plain marble tombs, said to be those of
Sayyid Miydn and Sayyid ‘Askari Miydn, belonging to the Piranpir family ;
and, outside the enclosure, which has been encroached upom on the east, under a
tamarind tres, are two tombs of rough marble. These are the graves of Rajé
Sharifa, daughter of Mahbib Alla, AJH. 1150 (or AD. 1738) and Sayyid Qisim
of the family of Shamé Burhini. The ground extends to 3287 square yards, and
the rauza receives from the collector's treasury an allowance of two rupees annually.
(R.L., No. 73.)

37, Kuiy Janin's Masaip.

The Khén Jahéin Masjid, near the Khifiji gate, and close to the Protestant
cemetery, on the river side at the sonth-west corner of the city walls, is a cut
stone building of trabeate style and apparent antiquity, but in good preserva-
tion, but whitewashed inside. Tt
is roofed with small domes and
has three mihrdbs,—from over the
central one of which the inscription
slab has been removed. The
mimbar has seven steps. The
rauza in front has partly fallen—
only two of the original domes
being left—but the tomb of Khan
Jahan still remains, and is said
to belong to the earlier half of
the fifteenth century. The grounds
extend to 10668 square vards.
(L., p. 160, No. 69.)

In aeity like Almadabid, where
Sriivaks and other Hindit sects, that
lay s0 much stress on the preserva-
tion of animal life, are so numerous,
and where the hereditary office of
Nagar Seth or “eity chief " belongs
to a distinguished Srivak family, we
naturally expect to find a Panjrapol
or amimal asylum. In the district
there are nine such established—

9. Mopenyx Banp-mOOsT AT ARMADARAD, at Ahmadibid, Dholerd, Viramgim
Mindal, Dholka, Sinand, Parintej,

Goghi, and Barwald, of which those at Ahmadibid and Dholeri are the most
mmportant,—the first having an annual revenue of about 15000 rupees and the second
of 10,000. In these the inmates are cows, bullocks, buffaloes, blind cattle, goats,
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horses, cats, monkeys, fowls and birds wild and tame. To each paijripol is
usually added a Jivat-khana or insect room for maggots and small vermin. These
institutions are supported by taxes on marriages, mercantile transactions, &e.’

And as it is a work of merit to support all living creatures, We find bird-roosts
erected in the sireets where birds can be fed with grain.  Some of these are of
considerable elegance of design and deserving attention. As an example the
illustration No. 9 will convey a good idea of the usual style of these.

1 Dy, Drummond, in the glossary to his Iltustrations of the Grammatical Parts of the Guzeratiee,
Mahratta, &c. Tanguages (1808) has some SEVEre remarks on the management of these asylums. But
see also Bomb. Gazetieer, vol. IV, PP. 114-116.
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CHAPTER XVL

MUHAMMADAN MOSQUES AND TOMBS IN THE SUBURBS, &c.

HE survey of the architectural remains in the suburbs of Ahmadébéd, as of

those within the city, has only included the more notable and better known;

the number in the suburbs and neighbouring villages is not ascerfained, but a few

notes respecting some of them may be added in closing this account of the
structures witnessing to the former greatness of the city.

1. Touss oF ‘Azam axp Mu‘azzan Kuixw,

To the south-west of the city on the way to Sarkhej, and scarcely a mile
beyond Pildi Kochrab is a massive brick mausoleum, like that of Daryd Khén, and
probably of about the same age, A.D. 1457. Tt is the tomb of two brothers—'Azam
and Mu'azzam Khan, who were Khurisinis and said to have been very skilful
archers, The Mirdt-i-Sikandari says they built this tomb at Shih Gumén with a
masjid close by, and a tank, but because one of them had committed a serious crime,
the tank would not hold water. Tradition would have us believe that they were the
architects of Sarkhej, and enriched themselves at the expense of the workmen they
employed.! The mosque seems to have entirely disappeared.

2, Ravza or Qisin Kmis.

About half a mile north of Kochrab, and about as far west from the Bhadr is
the small village of Chhudavid, where is the rauza of Qfisim Khin. It stands on
Government land of five and a third acres in extent, and the building—once a fine
one with a high dome, but much dilapidated from neglect—is not elaimed by anyone,
but is used by the tenants of the land.

3. Misi Swvnia's Mosque axp Ravza,

To the east side of the river in the lands of Daryipur Qizipur village, to the
east of Darydi Khin's tomb, is the Rauza and mosque known as Hazrat Misa
Suhdg's. They are in a fortified enclosure with a large gate at the entrance.
Within the walls is a second enclosure arched on all sides, in which is the rauza :
the buildings are of brick and lime: the masjid is low and has three arched
entrances in the facade. In it is a dedicatory inscription stating that it was built
by Ja'far * with elegant arrangements” in AH. 101 or AD, 1680. The buildings
have no architectural merits, and the tradition that they belong to the time of the

! Hope, Ahmedabad, P- 82 ; Bombay Gazetteer, vol. IV p, 291.
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Ahmadibid Sultins, has no support. The legend of Msd, however, is curious : —He
was a fagir, generally known as Auliya or the Saint, and the story is that “ once,
in answer to his prayers, rain was sent and a famine stayed. Then the people
pressed after him so much that, to escape their notice, he dressed like o woman. At
his mosque there are five tombs, four of them inside and one outside of the mosque
enclosure. The story of these tombs is that once the rains were too heavy and the
king (or viceroy) went to the holy man to ask him to pray to have the rain stopped.
But he, fearing a fresh attack of popularity, prayed that the ground might cover
him. His prayer was granted and when the king tried to dig him out, his head
rose in another place, and again disappeared. Digging at this place the head
appeared in a new spot. And so it happened four times. Then the king said, ‘ Let
as offer flowers at his tomb.' But the saint again appeared, this time ountside of
the mosque enclosure, and said he wanted no offerings. The five tombs mark the
five places thus consecrated. In the mosque enclosure is a very old and large
champd tree with mauny of its twigs and branches hung with glass bracelets. Those
anxious to have children come and offer the saint bangles, 7, 11, 13, 21, 29, or
126, according to their means and importunity. If the saint favours their wish,
the champd tree snatches up the bracelets and wears them on its arms. From Musi
Suhdg sprang an order of beggars who, like their master, dress in women's clothes
and wear nose-rings.”

The place is all studded with tombs. The land connected with it has an area
of nearly 22 acres, assessed at 101 rupees, but the quit-rent paid to govermment 18
less than 13 rupees, the difference being 88 rupees (i annas of loss to the revenue.
This mosque has also another tract of land measuring fully 7 acres and 31 roods,
assessed at 20 rupees, for which a quit-rent of only an eighth of the assessment 15
paid to the treasury.

Though Ahmadibad is the headquarters of the tollowers of Misé Suhig, there
are usually only two men at ihe rauza. Celibacy, which formed the distinctive rule
of the sect, and used to be rigidly observed by his disciples, is now set aside at
pleasure ; and the order is rapidly diminishing.’

4. Tue Bapiui MosqQUE.

In the same vicinity is a plain massive brick structure known as the Badimi
mosque with adjoining rauza. The mosque had three domes and as many milrdbs,
but was seriously damaged by the great flood in 1875, whilst the rauza—of more
ornate style—was less injured. There seem 1o have been two graves in it, but the
floor has been robbed of its pavement. It is in possession of the Qazi of Shihpur,
but the land belongs to Government and measures three and a half acres. Tradition
aseribes its erection to the workmen employed in building the masjid of Achut
Bibi close by, who subseribed a badam or fortieth of a pais per diem.

L GGasetteer of Abmedabad, p. 3813 J. F. Fermnndez, in Appendix to Crawley-Boevey's Seheme, p. lxvii
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5. Mosoug axD Ravza or Biwi Biraxaira Cmisngi axp OTHERS.

Near by is the ruined mosque and rauza of Biwia Barakalla Chishti, a
contemporary of Shih ‘Alam : also the Bidi masjid, and that of Shih Isra ‘Allah,
the son of Shih ‘Abdul-Fath, whose mosque is in the Shihpur ward. Besides
these other brick remains in the same locality are enumerated in Lists of Antig.
Rem., p. 164 ; or R.L., p. 8.

6. Two Tomps opposiTE Daryi KuAN's.

On the way from the city to Shih-i Bigh, and nearly opposite to Daryd Khiin's
Dargih, stand two low tombs of a style quite different from anything else about
Ahmadibid. They are represented in the accompanying illustration, No. 10, and
are of brick, well plastered, and
nearly square with two doors each
—on the east and west sides, and
three on the others, the arches over
them being secalloped. One of them
has a small porch standing on two
advanced pillars. DBut the striking
feature iz their roofs, which come
down at the corners, so as to present
an arched facade on every face. This
roof is ornamented by Tosettes In

10, Ewsureesre-cesrury Touss Nonti oF plaster at the corners, middle of each

SENERAALS: side, and summit. The style is of

Bengdli origin and seems to have

arisen from the form of huts in Bengal, constructed of bambu, in which a corvilinear

form of toof is always employed ; this, converted into brick and plaster, became the

style of Bengal, and spread in the latter part of the seventeenth century to Dehli, and

later to the Panjib, and since has become largely adopted all over Hindustan.! Thus,

early in the eighteenth century it appears in the great palace of Jayasingh at Jaypur,

and in the nineteenth it has been adopted by an English engineer in the Albert
museum at the same citv.

This style is exemplified in these two tombs at Ahmadibid, constructed in the
eighteenth century, but in troublous times which perhaps prevented any further
imitation.

7. Smin Bipsnin Pin's Ravza.

In the suburb of Shahrkotdd, on the east side of the city, are several rauzas,
among which may be mentioned Shah Bidsh&h Pir's, built of stone and standing
on twelve pillars, open on all sides. In it are three graves (gabr) constructed of
gtone, one of which is said to be that of the founder. It is known by the name of

' Fergnsson, Tnd, and Eastn. Arch., p. 5461 R, Phené Spiers, Arehit. Exst and West, p. 18,
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Kasbin no Ghumto, as the ground round it is used as a cemetery by the courtezans

of the eity.

3. Cuie Tori QABRASTAN.

(Chér Told masjid or Chir Todd (Jabrastfn, in the same village, iz a stone
masjid without minarets. It has three mikrdbs—but the central one has been carried
offi—the other two are well carved and in good preservation, but whitewashed. The
jand belonging to it extends to 947 acres assessed at 152§ rupees, but granted by
a sanad at a quit-rent of one-eighth of this.

-

0. Pir Qismn Knix's Ravza.

Pir Qdsim Khin's rauza near by is of stone and brick. Under the dome
are three tombs on a marble platform, over which is a gaudily painted ornamental
canopy. The floor is of marble, as is also the floor of the vestibule leading into the
rauza. The walls from about six feet above the floor are faced with carved stone
panels, and in the middle of the side walls is a carefully wrought mihrdb under a
domed vestibule. Qasim Shah was nephew of Imim Shih the founder of the Pirind
sect of Musulméns and his shrine here is held in great veneration by his followers.

10. Pir Biqir Suin's Ravzs.

Near it is the rauza of Pir Biqir Shih—a heavy brick structure containing the
tomb of Biqir Shah, the son of Tmim Shih of Pirind. It is also held in great
respect, and people come from a distance to make offerings and pay their devotions
here.

11. Pig Masmiver's Ravza.

Pir Mashiyek's rauza, also in Shahrkotda, stands in a fortified enclosure and
iz a fime stone building with a verandah round it, having twenty pillars in the outer
sides supporting the roof and connected by arches. The inner walls are formed of
carved stone slabs between the pillars, The central tomb has a canopy over it, and
round it are six other graves. To the west of the rauza is a plain but deep masjid
of stone and brick; and a cecond ranza contains the tomb of Pir Abd Talib, the
grandson of Pir Mashfivek. This was formerly open on all sides, but the arches
were blocked up about twenty years ago. All the buildings here are whitewashed.

12. Spin Manets Maszue's Ravza.

Shih Mahbib Majzub's rauza is a low-roofed brick building in the railway
suburb near the Kalupur gate, and iz said to be the tomb of Shih Mahbib, u
contemporary of Shih Khiib, about 1530-40, a man of great piety sud much
venerated and in whose honour an ‘urs is held yearly on the anniversary of his death.

The original mosque and rauza have disuppeared.
I
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CHAPTER XVIL

HINDU AHMADABAD.

Axomxt Crry:  Jamsa Teseres v tag Crry ; Sera Heuasmar's Tesere
Prates LXVII-LXXIT.

ONG before Ahmad Shih laid out the capital for his kingdom, there had been

a town on the site of the modern city. About A.D. 1070 Karna Solanki is

said to have attacked a powerful Bhilla chief named A&, who ruled at Asdpalli
or Adival, close to where the old step-well of Miti Bhavini is—and whilst in the
district, he huilt a temple to the goddess Kocharabd, which must have been at
the present village of Kochrab on the west side of the river, opposite to Ahmadibad,
He is also credited with founding a city under the name of Karnfvati, which has
been generally regarded as the predecessor of Ahmadibid. In the following reign
Srideva, a great Jaina doctor, is mentioned as residing in an Upééraya, connected
with a Jaina temple there, and the famous Hemachandra seems to have been brought
up in the house of the minister or local governor Udayana of the same ecity. At
a later date we find the city designated as Srinagara, and evidently a place of

great importance.

But though the Bhadr still retains its old name, from a temple of Bhadrakali,
there is scarcely any reference in Muslim history to this earlier city. We find pillars
and carved slabs, indeed, in the earlier mosques, that were certainly taken from much
older Hind{i temples.

But during excavations made in the Bhadr some twenty vears ago, considerable
portions of ancient Hindl sculptures were brought to light. Of these several examples
are illustrated on Flates LXVII and LXVIIL. Figures 1 and 2 are probably from
some panelled screen of a Jaina temple of about the twelfth century, and bear some
descriptive inscriptions in characters of that period; 3 is a form of Siva as Natééa;
4 represents Vishnu mounted on Sesha, in a way quite analogous to that in the
roof panel of the Minod temple,' though the knotting of the bedies of the Nigas
more closely resembles that on a large slab in the great Jaina temple at Rénpur
in Godwir. Figures 5 and 6 are representations of Mahishamardani or Mahishaghni,
—a personification of Durgd or Chandi—slaying the Asura named Mahisha®. Figure 7
has represented Ganesa, the chief of the goblins, and fig. 8 is the same divinity
with a female seated on his knee :—who this may represent it is diflicult to say,
since it is gemerally understood that the elephant-headed god has no Sakti aseribed
to him—on the ground that he has never found a partner equal in beauty to his
mother Pirvatl. Figure 9 has represented a four-armed Kali, the terrible Sakil of
Siva, holding a skull in one of her left hands; fig. 10 perhaps represented a form

L Arch. Sur, Westi. Ind,, vol, 1X, p. 1049,
* Another Mahishiisura appears in the Mababhirata, nod is killed by Skanda or Kirttikeya,
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of Siva or Bhairava, and fig. 11 is a form of Niriyapa or Vishpu. Figures 12,
13 and 18, like most of the others, are from the outer walls of a temple and
represent those dancing Yoginis that are favourite subjects for such decorations; fig. 14
has been a small figure of Narasimha or Vishnu tearing up the body of the Daitya
Hiranyaka$ipu: fig. 15 is another small fragment; and fig. 17 represents Vishpu
on Garuda, whilst fgure 16 is a pilivi or monumental slab, dated Bamvat 1359
or A.D. 1302

Tt will be notad that though the majority of these fragments belongs to the
Vaishnava seet, Saiva divinities are also fairly represented: the sculptures, however,
are of inferior artistic merit.

Jamna TEMPLES 1N AHMADABAD,

Notwithstanding all the efforts of the Muhammadan rulers fo stamp out the
Jaina religion in Gujarit, it continued to be practised and buildings to be erected
for its ritnal during the whole period of their rule, and there are now some hundred
and twenty temples of this sect in Ahmadibid, which is the headquarters of the
Gujariit Jains. Besides, in cvery Jain’s or Srivak's house, there is a cellar
(bhoyerdn) containing images upon an altar for the family worship.

Of the Jaina temples, many of course require no notice, but a few of the more
notable may be mentioned. In the Mindvi pol of the Jamilpur ward, is a temple
known as the Samara or Sameta Sikhara, from its containing an ideal repre-
sentation of Sammeya or Sameta Sikhara—the religious title of Mount Parsvandtha
in the Hazaribigh district of Dengal, which is particularly sacred among the Jainas,
and where, they say, twenty-one out of their twenty-four Arhats or Tirthakaras
attained to moksha or deliverance from transmigration,—all in a standing (kdyotsarga)
attitude.! Hence it is visited by Srivak pilgrims from the remotest parts of India;
and these who cannot undertake the long pilgrimage pay their devotions to its
representations here and elsewhere. For there are other temples m honour of the
holy mount: thus in the two wings of the temple of Vastupila and Tejabpila on
mount (Girndr are solid structures called samosanas, built in tiers,—that in the
south wing being Sameta Sikhara, and the other Sumeru or a personified Mount
Meru; and on Satrufijaya, near the great temple of Adinitha, is another of Sameta
Sikhara, with a representation of the same sort.

This temple in the Mandvi pol consists of a large room, the roof of which is
supported by pillars about G} feet from the walls—four across each end and six on
cach side—including the corner ones. The entrance is close to the south-east
corner, and near the south end of the west side is a shrine in the wall containing
the image of PirSvanfitha, with other smaller Jinas in brass and marble. The floor
is of beauntifully inlaid marble. But the north end of the area within the pillars is

! Trans. R. Asiat. Soc.,, vol. 11, p. 349 ; Bibler, The Indian Sect of the Juinas, Eng. tr., p. 66.
Mount Pirdvanitha is in lat. 23° 58' N, and long. 86° 11" E. See Ind. Ant., vol. XXXT, pp. Gaff.

2 Arch. Swre, Westn, Ind., vol. II, Plate xxxiv, p. 170; Fergusson, Indian and Eastn. Archit.,
P 231; Lists of Ant. Rem, Bombay Pres, 1st e, p. 197 (No. 108.)
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occupied by a large wooden representation, locally known as Samara-Sikhara! Tt
stands on a plinth about three feet high and rises in pyramidal form to a height of
fully 10 feet. Little shrines are formed on it, some larger, some smaller, of which some
are appropriated o various Tirthakaras, whilst others are surronnded by dancers
and musicians—figures about 8 inches in height—the summit being crowned hy a
larger shrine with choristers under its canopy. The whole is moved by mechanism,
by which the little fignures dance round the temples to which they are attached.
A wire railing surrounds this huge toy, and a silk canopy hangs over it.

This temple is ascribed to the second half of the seventeenth century, and is
said to have cost 1,36,000 rupees; but another version says it was built by one
Rupvijaya at much less cost, and the money raised by subseription.

In the same neighbourhood, in TokarSih’s pol, is an old temple of Godi
Pirsvanitha, built by the Jaina panch, at a cost, it is said, of about half a likh
of rupees,

In the Khidiyd ward in Kilupur is an old temple of Sambhavanftha, the third
Tirthakara, which, like many others, has an underground cellar (bhoyerin), contain-
ing images of Sambhava and of Chintiman-nitha. These underground cellars seem to
have been introduced to save, if possible, their valued images from the iconoclastic
propensities of the Muhammaduns?

There are also, in this division, an old temple of Neminitha in the (*hang-pol,
and two in the Phatisa-pol,—one of Mahdvira, rebuilt in 1866 by Seth Umabhii
Rupchand, and the other, known as Hanfanithji's, rebuilt in 1862 by Sethini
Harkuawarbdi. The same lady, in 1859, also built a temple of Dharmanitha—the
fifteenth Arhat—in the Janksil-pol of the Daryipur division, at a cost of 20,000 Tupees.

The temple of Adidvara Bhagavin in Jhavériwidi was remewed abont 1850
by Seth Lallubhii Pinichand. Its underground cellar is about 17 feet square, is
entered from the west side, and in the east end is the shrine containing three large seated
Tirthakaras on a long marble plinth with small standing figures (kdyotzarga) between ;
the central Jina is AdiSvara Bhagavin or Rishabhandtha. The shrine is cut off from
the mandapa by a wall with three doorways in it, throngh which the images are seen:
one of them is dated Bam, 1606 or A.D. 1600,

The hall is domed on very flat arches, cutting off the corners of the square, and in
the north and south walls are three small recesses as for images, whilst the floor is laid
with coloured marbles. On the west and east of the dome and in the corners, shafts
open into the floor above, and throngh gratings admit a certain amount of light as
well as air.

The stair passes round the south-west corner of this hall and lands in the south-
east of the larger hall above. In the lower landing of the stair, opposite the entrance,
is a niche containing small figures of Lallubhai Pindchand and his wife.

The npper hall is squarve, with a marble floor, surrounded by a square of twelve
pillars, and m the middle of the area they surround are three of the gratings giving

! The words Samara and Sameta are syvouymons,
* Notes of a Visit to Gujarat, pp. 41, 42 ; Arehaol. Sure. Westi. India, vol. IT, p. 208.
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light to the lower floor, The pillars support an architrave over which are coloured
glass windows. In six recesses in the walls are figures of the Yakshas and Yakshinis
that attend the different Tirthakaras, among which are readily recognized Gomukha
and Chakre§vari, the attendants on Adinitha, and also Ajita and Satirakii belonging to
Pushpadanta the ninth Jina, together with their cognizances or ehihnas. The shrine is
on the east side, has very elaborately carved wooden doors, and contains five principal
seated figures, of white marble, about two and a half feet high; the central one
representing Suvidhinitha or Pushpadanta is slightly larger than the others

and wears a golden crown, whilst many smaller figures are placed among the Jinas
on the same plinth.

In the pradakshipa or passage behind the images, are other two gratings over
shafts from the lower hall; and all round the shrine walls are little recesses for
figures of the Jaina mythology. Above the heads of the principal images the walls
are filled in with looking-glass: below they are mostly colonred red, and the pillars,
lintels and roof are of carved wood. Outside this hall is a marble-floored room
leading to the street. Lakshmichand Kushalchand is said to have repaired or rebuilt
the temple, or part of it, in 1544 A.D.

The temple of Sambhavanitha, the third Tirthakara in Jhavériwidd-pol, is
one of the largest and oldest of these shrines, and is said to have been built at
an expense of a lakh of rupees. Outside, it is very plain and unpretentions, whilst
inside it consists of three apartments—a maudapa or porch, the Sabha mandapa or
assembly hall, and the nijmandir or shrine. The floors are laid with coloured
marbles and the roof supported on pillavs. From the principal hall a stair leads
down to an underground temple of the same size and plan and similarly finished.
The images are three Tirthakaras about double life size.

In Wisa-pol, in Jhavériwidi is an old temple of Jagavallabha PirSvanitha,
which has two underground cellars, one containing a statue of Jagavallabha ParSvanitha

with a smaller statue on each side; and the other has an image of AdiSvara with
smaller figures also on each side.

There are several other temples besides these in the Daryapura ward of the city,
most of which have been restored by wealthy Srivaks within the last eighty years.!

Tur GreEatr Jawa Tewere oF Sepn Hamarsizen.

The most notable Jaina temple, however, at Ahmadibad is that of Seth
Hathisingh, son-in-law of Seth Hemdbhiii Vakhatchand, which stands just outside
the Dehli gate on the right of the way to Shih-i-Bigh. Together with a Dharmasila
and a large mansion close by, it was finished in 1843 at an outlay of about a million
rupees. The three buildings occupy a large rectangular area, the mansion standing
next to the road with a classic portico and coutaining some handsome rooms.

The temple itself, with its enclosing cloisters, measures over all about 126 feet
from north to south—and, exclusive of the entrance porch on. the east, 160 feet from
east to west. The court is surrounded by cloisters (bhamti) in which, besides three

v Bombay Grazetteer, vol. IV, p. 301.
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small temples on the north, south and west sides—each in line with the centre of
the principal mamdapa—there are the orthodox number of fifty-two small shrines,
each crowned by a Sikhara or spire. As will be seen from Plate LXIX, this gives
a dignity to the onter enclosure, combined with a meaning which is seldom found
in any other style of architecture, and the whole arrangement leads pleasingly up to
the central feature, showing great skill in the subordination of the various parts.

The inner facade of the cloisters or bhaniti (Skr. bhrama) is interrupted only by
the three small temples mentioned above, by the large entrance porch on the east,
and by smaller entrances on the north and south near the east end. The corridor
is about nine feet wide all round and is raised by four steps above the level of the
court.

The entrance porch on the cast projects considerably and is flanked inside by
stairs, in line with the bhasti on each side: these rise abave the roof of the upper
storey in turrets of the “broken square ™ pattern employed in the §ikharas,

From outside some seven steps lead up to the platform of the external porch
which is of great magnificence, two storeys in height and most elaborately ornamented.
This porch has two advanced pillars and other four in front of the entrance. The
platform is broken on the south side by a small old Saiva shrine for the remaval
of which, it is said, a very large sum of money was offered on the part of Seth
Hathisingh and the Srivaks, and the poreh was long left unfinished in the hope of
its acceptance. This was refused, and finally the cell was left undisturbed, but builg
closely round on three sides,

The doorway leading into the conrt is mmeh inferior to most of those of an
earlier period ; the jambs and lintel are cut up into many eompartments and filled
with small figures too numerous and too much alike in grouping and size to be
effective. The columms of this porch at once strike us as designed after those in
the temple on Mount Abu and others, whilst those of the temple itself are different,
and resemble more those of the luter Somaji's Chaumukh temple at Satrufijaya.

The temple was designed and constructed under the direction of a saldt or
master-mason named Premachand. Fifty years ago Mr. A. K. Forbes thus stated the
eustom in such a case, which iy still prevalent in India:—* When o Rajput chief
erects his new residence, or a Jaina merchant consecrates a shrine to his religion,—
no drawings are made, but the general design, with the accommodation required, is
deseribed in words by the rija or the Seth to the principal saldt or master-mason.
Such Iutely erected edifices as are within reach are then examined, with the view that
they may be used as models, and the improvements desired are suggested at this
time or during the progress of the woark, by one or other of the parties, the handi-
craftsmen being by no means excluded, and the result is un edifice substantially the
same as those which immediately preceded it, but more adapted to the tastes and
exigencies of the day. That these tastes are always purer than those which formerly
prevailed is more, of course, than can be asserted, at a time when the false principle
of servilely imitating a foreign model (because foreign) is already beginning to exercise
a too powerful influence,™

' Bombay Quarterly Review, yol. V (1836), p. 805,
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The temple itself consists of the usual three parts: an open mandap on a base
about 37 feet square, with a double row of pillars on the three exposed sides, and
roofed by a large ribbed dome standing on the twelve inner pillars. On each of
the three outer sides it has a large projecting porch. Beyond this is the principal
mandapa—24% feet square inside, also with projecting porches on the north and
south sides two storeys in height: all porches are approached by steps from the east.
In the inmer corner of this mandapa are two rooms, and in the front corners stairs
lead to the upper storey, which is roofed in that style peculiar to Jaina temples,
consisting of rows of sloping little moulded forms resembling a tiling of waterpots.
Three doors with richly earved thresholds lead from the hall into the shrine, which
is about 22 feet in length by 6 in depth—the plinth or throne along the back wall
bears three larger figures of Tirthakaras and many others of various sizes.

The central figure is that of Dharmanstha, the fifteenth Jina, to whom the
temple is dedicated, whose symbol is the wajra or thunderbolt, and his attendant
genii the Yaksha Kinnara and the Yakshipi Kandarpi. Like the mandapa, the
shrine has an nupper storey which is surmounted by a triple spire of the usual
pyramidal form with slightly earving sides, erowned by kalasas and surmounted

by flags.

Under the west side of the portico is a long underground room with two small
dhrines on the west side and other two roons on the east. This spartment is reached
by a stair leading down from the court on the south side.

The temple has been finished with as much wealth of ornament as in the best
days of the style, which has but little degenerated from its former excellence. But
the seulpture is poor and the details have lost in purity. Still its whole arrangement
is very perfect. “ Each part,” as Mr. Fergusson remarked, * goes on increasing in
dignity as we approach the sanctuary. The exterior expresses the interior more com-
pletely than even a Gothic design; and, whether looked at from its courtz (Plate
LXXI) or from the ontside (Plate LXIX), it possesses variety without confusion and
an appropriateness of every part to the purpose for which it was intended.™

Hixpl Tesrres.

In the preceding account no notice has been taken of the Brahmanical or
strictly Hindfl temples. They are numerous, of course, in a large city like Ahmadibad,
but few of them are old or of architectural merit. There is, however, one deserving
of some notice—that of the followers of Svmi Niriyana. This seet was founded
in the early part of the nineteenth century by a Sarvaiyi Brahman named
Ghanadaydma, born at Chhapaya, a village a liftle to the north of Ayodhyi in
Audh, in 1780. He became an ascetic and under the name of Nilakantha visited
religions shrines, and came to Kithidwid where in 1800 he took the name of
Sahajinand, and began to preach a reformed type of the Vaishnava religion,
inculeating a moral, and even ascetic life, He made numerous converts in Gujarit,

U fud. and Eastn, Arehit., p. 258 ; Ahmedabad, pp. 961, ; Briggs, Cities of Gujarashtre, pp. 321.
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assumed the title of Svimi Niriyana, and established two gddis or seats of episcopal
rule—Ahmadibid and Vadtal (in Khedd district); but Gadhadi, Muri and Jundgadh
are also recognised as having their own temples and seats of authority., Sviimi
Niriyana died at Gadhada in 1820 At these cities and in many other towns, the
sect have temples—some of them large and noteworthy and with connected monastic
establishments. Their temple at Ahmadibiad is situated about 500 yards south-east
from Muhifiz Khin's mosque; it was completed in 1850, and is in the usual
Hindii style. The shrine, like Seth Hathisingh's, has three spires over the cells
where the images of Krishna, Rédbi and Svimi Nariyapa himself arve placed; and
the mapdapa or hall is roofed by an octagonal dome supported, as usual, on twelve
pillars. The one difference from the prevalent Jaina form is that the angles are
filled in, making the porch squarer than is usual in Jaina temples, though this form
is sometimes used by them also; and it is not an mmprovement but destroys that
play of outline which is the great charm of the original arrangement. Barring this
slight defect, the design of the whole is not unworthy of the earlier style, Its
gateway is wanting in purity of detail and in perfect proportion, but is still so
beautiful that it would be extremely interesting to trace back its form to the
original.®

! Bee Imdian Antiquery, vol, 1, Pp. 331-335 ; dsiatic Jowrnad, vol, XV (1823), p. 348 ; Heber's Journal
(#o. Ed.), vol. T, pp. 143-4; Briggs, Cities of Gujarnshtra, pp. 226-229, aud appendiz, Pp- xiii-xxiv,

* Ferguseon, Ahmedabad, pp. 9496, and plates 117, 118, This temple was not included in the sarvey,
aud we have no plan or recent photograph of ir.
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CHAPTER XVIIL

VIRAMGAM AND MANDAL: KAPADVANJ AND SARNAL
VimanMaas.,
Prates LXXIT 10 LXXIV.

IRAMGAM is a town of about 23,000 inhabitants, lying 35 miles nearly due

west from Ahmadibid, and connected with it by a railway which hranches
here to Mehsina lying northwards, to Pitri and Khirighoda to the west, and to
Wadhwin and Kithidwid to the south-east. It has always been a place of con-
siderable importance, and about A.D. 1100 Mayanalladevi, the mother of Siddharija
is credited with the formation of an artificial lake known as the Méinasa saTrovar
—and now ealled Méinasarovar or Minsar taliv, on the west of the town—which
is still its chief beauty. From this and two other reservoirs—the Gangisar lake
on the south and south-east and the Dhuniya taldv in the south-west, the town is
supplied with water,

The Manasarovar is irregular in shape, but supposed to resemble the conch
shell (Plate LXXII), and is quite surrounded by a ghdf or flight of stone sieps
leading down to the water.

Collecting from the west the water forms a small lake and is thence received
throngh a stone grating in the west side into a deep octagonal kunda or silt well,
having niches in the sides occupied by images in bold relief. From this hunda it
passes—Dby a masonry channel through five circular openings—three above and two
below—into the lake. Over the terrace covering the tunnel is a large pyramidal
roofed pavilion—repaired by the Marithas—behind which are five shrines of the usual
size dedicated to Bauchariji, locally styled Mansar Mita.

On the platform above the ghdt or steps were raised a multitude of small shrines,
each with its separate spire; originally there must have been in all about 520, but
almost a third of these are ruined, especially along the north side and east end, where
the platform has partially subsided and thrown them forward; but 357 are still left,
With one or two exceptions these shrines are very small and of one patiern (Plates

LXXII and LXXIII, figs. 2, 3 and 4),

The shrines on the north side of the lake were all Vaishnava: those on the
east end were most probably Saiva, but the floors have been torn up. All the
shrines on the south side and south half of the west side are Saiva, and have
figures of Mahikal, Bhairava and Natefa outside—on the right, left and back,
or east, west and south walls, In the two larger double temples on the south-east
(Plate LXXITI, fig. 1), Bhairava is on the sides towards the lake and Mahdkil on
the south sides, whilst Natefa is on the back of each and GaneSa on the door
lintels. These larger temples have a mandapa on twelve pillars between the pair of

shrines : the west shrine was Vaishnava whilst the east one was Saiva. The cells
M 2
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in each case are fully double the dimensions of the others round the lake. On the
north side, near the east end, are two long rooms with three niches in the back
walls, and one in eath end ; the figures round the doors of these may perhaps be
Vaishnava but Ganesda occupies the dedicatory block on the lintels. They have had
a verandah in front with overhanging balcony. West of this is a descent or slope
for cattle and on the west side of it, a somewhat larger shrine than uswal facing
east is Saiva—the only one on this side. The surronnding ghd! is interrupted in
several places by rondways, which descend to the water's edge. The appearance of
this fine sheet of water is represented in the photographs on Plate LXXIV, the first
being a view from near the double temples along the south side looking west, and
the second another view along the east end looking northwards.

MAspaL.
Prares LXXV, LXXVI, LXXVIL

About fourteen miles north-west from Viramgim and mm the same taluka is
Mindal, a town of some 8000 inhabitants. Tt was also a place of some importance
in medizeval times, and appears to have been under Jhild chieftains till the time
of Bahddur Shih of Gujarit, when Viramgim and Méindal were annexed to the
royal domains. It contains some handsome temples, but the principal remains are
four Musulman masjids—the Jami', Sayyidi, Qfzi and Ganjni, the last twn
comparatively modern and of but little importance.

The Jimi' masjid 153 a large plain structure (Plate LXXV, fig. 1), TInside it
measures 152 feet in length by 35 feet deep, having five large domes with small ones
in front and rear of each—the other portions of the roof being covered in the Hinda
manner by cutting off the corners of the squares formed by the lintels over the
pillars.  The pillars have all been reft from Hindi temples and stilted one upon
another to attain the requisite height. There are five mihrdbs and the usual raised
pulpit on the right of the central mikrdl : the mikrdbs are very plain and devoid of
taste. In the north end, is a gallery, or muliik khdna, entered from outside by a
stair landing in a small domed porch. Altogether, with its mass of dead wall above
the doorways, this is a very poor specimen of Muhammadan architecture, and probably
not of an early date.

The Sayyidi Masjid is much smaller than the preceding, measuring 31 feet
square inside and roofed with a single large dome in the centre, small ones in front
and behind it and at the corners what look like small domes from outside, hut
inside cover square areas of which the corners are first cut off and the remaining
square space covered by a large Hagsione.

The fagade is open and divided by four neatly moulded pillars (Plate LXXVI,
fig. G): the cornice consists of a panelled projecting eaves slab, with neat string-
course above it, and over a projecting twenia with pendent ornamentation are the
usunl kangaras. The figure, Plate LXXVII, fig. 2, will explain this.
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The three mihrdbs in the back are very richly carved—differing in the patterns
on the jambs from those prevailing at Ahmadabid (Plate LXXVII, figs. 3, 4 and 5).
In each end and in the back wall are two windows, richly carved outside, which

have been filled with the usual tasteful and varied perforated stone-work—but this
has been very mmch destroyed.

The back wall (Plate LXXYV, fig. 2) conveys the best idea of the exceptionally
rich decoration upon this beautiful mosque. The three buttresses are of a style
quite distinct from what we find elsewhere, the lower portions of them being more
like the bases of the mindrs of the sixteenth century, about the middle of which
this was probably constructed. The court and mosque are now very much below
the level of the surrounding ground, and are reached by a flight of steps.'

About Mindal, as in many places in Kithidwdd and northern Gujardt, are to
be seen numbers of Piliyas or memorial and sati stones. Figures 3 and 4,
Plate LXXV, give representations of two of these: the first is the piliya of a local
hero of A.D. 1620-30, having above the sun and moon, and then a bas-relief of the
warrior. The other—a sati stone—is dated 1607-8, A.D., and is in memory of one
who was burnt on the funeral pyre of her husband.
7

KAPADVANT,
Prares LXXVI-LXXXIIL

-~ Kapadvanj or Kapadvanaj—Sanskrit Karpatavinijya*—is an old city in
the Khédi district on the Mohar river, lying thirty miles due east from
Abhmadibidd, and is now a town of 18,000 inhabitants. Here a notable Jaina
religious chief, Abhayadéva, died in the thirteenth century. Near the walls of the
present town is the site of an ancient city, and among the bmldings are several
very old structures, as well as the ruins of many fine mosques and tombs. Among
the modern ones the most notable is a Jaina temple, built about the middle of last
century, at a cost of a hundred and fifty thousand rupees.

The Jami' Masjid deserves some attention. (Plate LXXVIID). With the court
in front, it forms a quadrangle measuring outside 87 feet from north to south by 129
from east to west, with entrances on the east and mnorth sides. The west end of
this enclosure is occupied by the mosque, which is 79 feet in length inside by
48 feet deep, roofed by six domes i two rows of three each. In front it is quite
open and trubeate, and in the north-west corner is a small mulik khina measuring
18 feet by 24, with the entrance in the north wall. In the back wall there are
three mihrdbs, and four narrow windows divided by thick mmllions nto four apertures
each, and filled with perforated work, as shown in Plate LXXIX, fig. 3.

The mimbar is of the high type of earlier times, and the pillars, as illustrated

by figures 1 and 2 on the same plate, are mostly hexagonal, of purely Hindd type, -

1 H. Consens, Progress Report, Dec, 1889-Feb. 1890
= Tud, Ant, vol. XI, p. 248; Epig, Ind., vol. 1, p. 55 ; vol. II, pp. 41, 8B5.
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and must have been torn from mnative temples. The domes testify to the same
origin as is illustrated by the drawings of the central one on Plate LXXVIII, fig. 2,
where it may be noted that, whilst the eight figures that adorned the inside have
been removed, the blocks on which they stood have not been arranged symmetrically
with the lintels of the supporting octagon.! Part of the corridor round the fromt
court seems to be in rnins—the roof of a portion of the south side, apparently, and
the whole of the north side corridor being gone. —

The prineipal ohject among the remains at Kapadvaiij, however, iz a large
square kunda or reservoir in the market place. This ocenpies an  area about
a hundred feet square, with a platform below the first descent, from which a series
of short stairs, parallel to the sides, lead down from one narrow landing to another,
and reaching a broader ome about 23 feet from the first. Between each pair of
descending steps in each of the five tiers is a niche—some hundred and thirty-six
in all—originally oceupied by images (see Plates LXXX and LXXXT), In the centre
is a deep well about nine and a half foet square,

On the north, west and south sides the first platform is broken into on the level
of the next landing to make room for pavilions about nine feet square, each
standing on four pillars, and carved on the architrave with mythological figures
(Plate LXXIX, fig. 4). On the south side, close behind the somewhat ruined
pavilion, is a draw-well about sixteen feet in diameter,

On the east side, steps lead up to a platform on which stands a fine
Kirttistambha or Torana arch (Plate LXXXII), not very greatly injured, though
it probably belongs to the early part of the twelfth century. It consists of fwo Lighly
carved pillars, 4 feet broad at the plinth, and rising to a height of 13 feet
10 inches ineluding a broad ecruciform capital, whose inmer arms support the
ornamental forapa or cusped arch. Over this capital a prolongation of the shaft
supports a sur-capital, 3 feet above the first, over which again lies the architrave in
two fascim richly carved—the lower in florid pattern, and the upper with gods
in the lalita mudrd in the middle, and elephants, horsemen, &e., at the ends.
This supports the projecting cornice with its decorative gutte, surmounted by
a plinth, and on this stands the pediment in which Sjva or Bhairava is the
central figure,

On the arms of the principal capitals are placed human and animal figures, which
slope outwards as struts and are held in place by the heads of the sur-capitals,
The column shafts are square below, then octagonal and above circular. At 2 height
of ten feet are small projecting brackets that at one time supported other figures
as struts held above by the lower capitals, but these have entifely disappeared.

To the south of the Kunda is an nndergronnd temple dedicated to Mahideva
which has never been properly explored.?

Mr. Consens, in his survey, noted some very good ald wood-carving in the town,
especially in  windows and brackets, and his drawings on Plate LXXXIIL, of a

! No photograph or olevation of this mosque, udr any uote respeeting its architeeturs, has by
supplied by Mr. Cousens, who eonducted the SUTFEY,
* Bombay Gazetteer, vol, I, e 173,
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! oo |
window in the wall of a brick house (figs. 1 and 2), and of a carved bracket
(fig. 3), are given in illustration.

SARNALL

‘[ Prares LXXXIV axvp LXXXV.

Lastly, in the Khéda district, 44 miles ESE. from Abmadibid and four
miles east by south f#rom the town of Thisrd, is the village of Barnal, on the
vight bank of the rivér Mahi, in latitude 22° 47" N. and longitude 73° 20° E.
Sarnal, along with neighbouring villages of Bhadrasa and Aklicha, is said
to oceupy part of the hite of an ancient city called Kuntalpur, the old foundations
of which may still be traced.

Here there is an important old temple said to have been desecrated by ‘Ali-ad-din
Khilji when he invadéd Gujarit in the end of the thirteenth century. The south-
east side of the mandapa is considerably ruined, but the plan is so purely Chalukyan
in arrangement that the temple was deserving of a careful survey.!

The mandapa or portico is about 40 feet each way, and its roof is supported by
the eight pillars of the central dome and by the smaller ones standing in pairs on
the screen walls that surround it (see Plate LXXXIV).

In plan this portico follows the pattern of temples of the Chalukyan style in the
Kanarese districts, with their numerous projecting angles. The inner eight columuns
are each 14 feet in height, have double capitals and are square for the lower third
part of their height, then through an octagonal and sixteen-sided belt are changed
into eylindrical form (Plate LXXXYV, fig. 4). They are not spaced equally apart on
the floor as in most Jaina and Musalman domes: those on the sides being quite
11 feet between centres, whilst at the corners they are only 5 feet: and this is so
arranged as to bring them info line in each direction with the outer pillars on the
sereen wall.

A small ante-<chamber or porch is formed in front of the shrine, and the
doorway of the latter (figs. 1-3) is elaborately carved on the jambs, lintel and architrave
in a style that must relegate this temple to the twelfth century; but it has been
much damaged by the iconoclast. The figure sculpture on the middle of the lintel
indicates a Saiva temple and a boldly cut kirttimukh® projects from the upper
cornice.

The shrine or garbha-griha is 11 feet square inside, and its floor is somewhat
lower than that of the Sabha-mandapa. Outside, its walls are much broken up by

! To this iemple nttﬂnﬁul}_ was direoted in the first edition of the Lists of Anfig. Remains in Bombay
Presidency (1883), pp. 138, 184 as one “of primary importance,” for the survey. Mr. Couseus, in surveying
the eastern part of Gujardt, prepared the dmwings produced on Plates Ixxxiv amd lxxxv, but withont
either architectural elevation or photograph of the temple, and as only the dmftsmen visitel Swrnal, he
was unable to supply any notes respecting it.

¥ Arch. Swurv. Wesin, Ind., vol. IX, p. 25,
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numerous projections, which lie in a cirele about 24 feet in diameter and among which
are seven recesses for images, facing so many of the eight points of the Hindd
compass—that on the east being the entrance of the shrine! The regents of the
eight points—Indra, Agni, Yama, Nairriti, Varuna, Marut or Viyu, Knbera
and Siva, were among the greater gods of earlier times, and are mostly still held
in reverence. Between each pair of the projections containing these niches are two
other advanced angles, divided vertically into numerous members,

|
The temple takes its name from the Galtd, a small stream which here joins the
Mahi. I

! These points are :—8.E., Dakshipapirvi, over which Agni or Vahns presides with the elephant
Pundariks ; 8., Dakshipn, held by Yama or Pitripati, with the elepbant Vimuna : 8.W., Dakshipapadchimi,
held by Nairriti with Kumoda ; W., Paschimfi, by Varnns and Adjans ; N.W,, Uttarapadchimi, by Marog
and Pushpadanta; N., Uttard, by Kubers and Sirvublmuma; N.E., Uttaraplirvi by lfana or Siva and
Supratika ; and E., Pirvidik, over which Indr presides with the elephant Airivati. See Ind. Antig.,
vol. VI, p. 361.
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INDEX

T0 VOLUMES VI, VIL, AND VIII OF THE ARCHEOLOGICAL SURVEY OF WESTERN INDIA.,

‘Abdul Glafir Maghir ‘Alam, 3l iu

descent from Shah ‘Alam - - VI, 15
‘Abdul-Huiy, writer of juseription in

Ganj ‘Indyat Shil's mosque - - VIIIL, 64
“Abdul-Hamid Khin, noting governor of

Ahmadibidd, 1705 - - - 2 A i
‘Abdul-Karim  Latif, srehiteet of Hilal

Khin's mosque at Dholks - - V1,32
Abdullah Ehin Babfdur Firae Jung,

E3th viceroy of Alimadahdd - - Y1, 16
*Abdullal Quib sl “Alam, Sayyid Burhin

ttfidin ' = = = - ¥YIII, 15
*Abdullal Razziq, see Alul Razziq,
‘Abdul-Qidir  Jildni, Pir-i-Dastgir or

Pirin-pir - - - - VI, 75
‘Abdul-Ralim Khin, Khin Mirza, vieeroy

of Gujurfit - - . - V1,14
‘Alsdul Babyméin al Mearri, father of Junsid,

governor of Ouidh - - - YL 3
‘Abdus-Salin, son of Abmad-al-Hajab-

al-Qurnishi - - - - Vi1, 29
Abhayadeva, Jaina teacher - - VIII, 93
Abhayasimhs, Mabirdjs of Jodhpur,

d4th vicervy of Gujardt - - - VI, 18,19
Abhiras or Ahirz, early tribe in Sanrishtra YI, 2
abjad, numerieal nrrangement of the

ulplinhet - - = - V1II, 44
Abit, Mt,, Vimals Sah's Templo on -¥L, 5.7, 8:

VIL 11, 14 ; VIIL, 88

Abii Bakr Kbiu, son of Mabmid Beg - V11, 84
Abi Talib's tomb In Shabrkotda - - VIIL, 81
Abunl Fath Maghrad-din, Jalidndur Shil,

Sultan of Dehli - - - VI, 18
Abul Fagl's din-i-Akbari - - - V1, 6n, 11
Abul Razzig or ‘Abdnllah Razziq’s rauza

nnd masjid - - - - VLI 66

Abi Turab, his tomb and gudam-i-rasitd V111, 20,
a0-51

Achut Bibi's mosque and tomb, V1, 12; VII, 64-66 -
VIIT, 79

Adaluj wiiv or step-well - VI, 2,4, 10-13
“Adil Khin Asiri, officer undor Muznffar L. VITI, 25

Adiniitha, Jains Tirthamkara Temple at Satrufijaya,
VI, 85 ; his mitendant Yakshas, 87

Adigvara Bhagaviin, same = Adindcha, VILI, B6, 87

adl—ijistice - . - - VIIL 59
Afml Khiin Bombani, vazir to Bahidur

Shith, his mosqne - - - VI, 82
Agnior Vahnn, guandian of the South-east  VIII, 96

Abmud al-Hajab al-Quraishi - - VI, 29
Abmad  Ayyas, governor of Gujurit,

1525- 1338 - - - - V.8
Abmal Khin, son of Mshmiul Shih Bez VIIL 38

Abmuds —the four - - - VIL 15; VIIL 72

Abmad Kattii Ganj Bakhsh, VII, 46, 50 ; mausolenm
of, 47-48,

Abmad Shah I, VL 10, 14, 24, 39; VIL, |, 2.4, 8,
15-17, 25, 29, 80, 42, 35 ; VIII, 70, 72, T4, 84 1
his musjil in the Bhade, VII, 17-19, 71 ; VI1it,
Tw's raum, V1L, 36-34 ; Lungurkhana, VIII, 635,

Abmud Shih I1 (1554-1561), VI, 14; VII, 7, 8, 38

Abmadibad, V1, 1, 3, 4, 6, 10, 12, 16 aod », 19, 36 -
founded, V11, i, 8, 7, 9, 46 architecture, VII,
10, 15,

Abmndibid Qizi's mesjud = - YVIII, 62. 63

Abmadnngar - . W - vnnas
Abmad Shihi Sultins - - - - VIII, 79
Ajnvapils, Chanlukyn king of Gujarkt

(1073 1076) - g : 3 VI, 7
Ajitaniitha, 2nd Jaion Tirthuhkars - VI, 87
Ajirrasimha, brother of Virasitahs of Kalol VIII, 12
Ajic Sing, 48th and 50th vicarvy, 1715

aud 17T19-1721 - - - - - VI, 18
Akbar, Emperor, invasion of Grijarit - VI, 14-16,

a0 VII, 7, 82 ; VIII, 50, 87
Aklichn, village near Sprnal - -  VIII, 95

‘Alamgir or Auraligzib, Sultin (1638-1707), VI, 16,
17, 27 ; VIL, 7, 9; VILI, 54, 33, 61, 62

‘Alam Khin Lali, Gujurit noble, 1540 - Vi, 14
‘Alam Khin's eanza in Dhnapoth - - VIIL 73
‘Aldnd-din Husain Shih of Bengnl (148 4-

1321) - - - = VIII, 20
Alind-din Khilji - VI.5.20,24; V1L, | : V111,95
Alexnmlrian traders . - - Y12
*All bin *Abdul-nabi al Baghdidi, 1621 - Vi, 26
ul Ldrisi, the geographer - - - ¥1,6, 30
Alf Kbin Bhukii's mosque ot Dholkil, VI, 54-36

VII, 58
AN Klidio, imperial guard - - VL 1
Al Kldo or Babl masjid - - VI, 42
ALf or Almad Murtsza's masjid in Kbis

Bixdr - - - - - VI 72
‘Al Khin's masjid - - - VIII, 68
*Ali Khiin's or Chhota Tdriis masjid - VIII, 34f.
Alim, Mubhammadan theologinns - - ¥YHYL 7T
*Alwi, poetical pnme of Wajihnd-din =~ - VI, 58
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Amiinnt Khiin - - - - YLAT
Ambarviitha, temple - - - YLV
Amin Khin Ghori, gnvemnr of Jnua__nd.h

1684 - - - VI, 15

Amir Husain bin Mirn, governor of
Gujarit, 13501364 - - - VL9

Amir Batadnt Khin, founder of Wajilind-

din"s tomb, 1602 - = - VIIL, 53
Amrit bin Jamil, governor nr Sindh,
eighth eentury - . Y13
Anandndeva Vigheld, chief of Kalol - VIIL, 12
Andhiri Bagh or dark gnrdeu, at Shiili.i-
Bigh - - - VIL &7
Anhilapstans, Avhilapurs, Aphilwida, V1,3 51;‘ ﬁjl‘*;
. i -
Animal life, preservation of, wmong the
Jninns - - - - VIIL 76
Anjumnn-i lslim - - - - - V111,927
Ankiedvar, tn. - - - - VI 18
ankusa, elepbant goad - - E - VIII, 11
Aunpsingh  Bhandari, duputr nf A]ll-
gingh, 1720 - ¥YI, 18

itrwu temple in Haddurdbid distriets - VII 12
‘Arab Shah, gndson of Shih ‘Alam - VI, 60
Aris, battle of - - - - YIi.19
Aras Bibi, Mubammadan [ndy, d, 1888 -VIII, 66, 67

Arasur, monnt, with Jaina temples - ¥l 3
Arnvalli Hills - - - - 4 4 |
arenafe style of architecture - VITI, 18, 22, 32, 45
Avrhatz, or Juinn Tirthadkaras - - VIII, 83

Arjumand Bano Begam, Mnmth Malidl,

wife of Jabdngir - -  WIIIL, 57
Arjunndeva Vighela (1261-1274) - - Y1, 8
Argorije Vigheln = = - VI, 7,30

Ada, Bhilla, ehief of Asdwal - . =
*Asnf Khin, prolably Ghm asud-din *All

VIHI, 84

‘Asaf Khin - - - VIII, 19
Asaf Khiin Jo*far Bog, brother of Azam

or Agim Khiin - - - VL 16u; VIII, 59
Agafued-donls Azad Ehin Bahfuur, go-

veraar of Gojardic (1712) - - VI 18

Ashi, Asapalli, now Asirwi or Adiwal, subarh of
Abmadibisl, V1, 6; step-well at, V111, 15, 84.

Ashraf Hhiin's masjid - - VIII, 70, 71
Adokn, Emperor - - - - - VI, 2
Asurn, demon - - - - ¥YIII, 54
Andichya Brihmans - - - - Vi 4
auliya, Saiut, titls of Misi Suhig - VI, 79

Anrangzil, ser ‘Alumgir.
Ayodhiya, ity in Amdh - - - VI, 16, 17
Atznm Khiin, title of Mir Mn! animad

Biuir. governor of Guojardis, 1635-1642 VI, 16,

V111, 59, 78
A'gam Khin's palace, now the jail - VIII, a4
Aznmitbiid, in_ in the Koll country - VLI, 539
azan, the eall o proyer - - - V1L, 36, 66

‘Azim Mirzd Aziz Kokaltish Kbiin, first vieeroy
of Guijarit, 15721575, V1, 14; his mausoleum nt
Dehli, 16m.

‘Aziz Himar, o royal favourite, 1545 - YL9
Bibés, the twelve - - = VI, 120l n
Bibh Lolui, also ealled Mohommnd

Jutfar, hiz masjid - - VIII, 4547, &l
Bithi, or Alf Khin's masjid - B - VIII, 42
Derefiim, Fortieth of & piic; Badimi

Masjid SRR - VI 79
Buld Mivan Saheb’s I:-I:trlll.l-iitllﬁ' - YIII, 70
Badshih Sayyid's or Nagind Po! mmijlil

in Duryiipur - - - V111, 65
Bihfs Pivird ford, scene of defent of the

Musulmans by the Marithas - - V1,17
Baldulur Gilani, a Du.klnin] unhle of

Débbal - - - VIILI, 28
Bahiidur Khiin, Khin Jabin, gn'rerm:rr of

Gujarit, 1668-T1 - - Vi, 17

Babdutur Shih, Sultin (1526-1537) VI, 138, 24, 40 ;
VII, 6-4%; VIII, 92

Bahiulur Shih, Mn'szzam %uh of Dehli,
17071712 - - - VI 1T
Bﬁ.: ar THidé Harir's ﬂmp-weli or wae, V1, 12; VI,

1, 2, 4.6, 10-12; ber mosque, VI, 12; VI,
6-8, 25 ; and rnugm 89,

Baillamiin or Bailiiminy - - - VI 3und »

Bairim Khin, Khin Khinin - - VI 14

Bilaji Tuitralmth, Mnrﬁthﬁ Comnmndnr,

1707 - - VLT
faldackin - - - - VI, 26,27
Bila Muhind-lin Frnnpnr-t '.I}l.rgﬁh in

Jumdlpar - - - VIIL, 75
Balbharn of Mankir, Ghllubm ruler of

Milkhed - - - VI, 23
Bande *Al Khfin, anin Khin IV,

Nuawih of Kamblny, 1523 1841 - YI, 25
Bigir Khiin, I'Iﬂputj' viceroy of (.ru.]ll.rﬁ-t

1632 - . VI, 16
Biirapa, general of Tu.ﬂn[m. l.llﬁ Chﬁlnk yai

king - - Y14
e wodfinf, or wifat shari

of Huhnmmnd'e{hnth i ﬂ-m:i"ﬁﬁ“]: YIII, 20
Barodn, saeked by Mabmid Baiqars,

1482 - - - VL1,2,48 11, 15,19, 38
Barygazn or Bharukachhn, sow Bliaroeh V1,2, 3, 20
hisilions, Cliristian - = - - ¥1,26
Bassein, treaty of, 1802 - - - V1, 25
Batuvii or Vatuvi, bniiding= at - VI, 12, 46; VII,

1-H3 -
Bewhuls agaion R & -ﬂ]{:lﬁ: o
Baiiral, Buniirah or Bilda, title of Knnauj

kings seconling to Mas'uli - - VI, Gw

Biwi ‘Alishih's masjid ar Pilji Kochrab VIII, 38

Biwil Birakailla Chishti - - - VI, 80



INDEX, 69

Bawi Faizulls, Sayyvid, of the Imam
Shih family of Pirina ; his mosqne and

tomb - - = -  VIIL 38
Begampur, suburb named in honour of

Mumifiz Mah#l - - - = - VI, &7
Bebrimpor, village sonth from Abmadé-

bl - - - - VIII, 45, 83
Beagali siyle of moof - - = = VII,s0

Bliadr or fort. so named from Bhadrakili VI 10, 18 ;
bnildings therein, V11, 43.

Bhadrakili, poddess - - . - VIIL S84
Bhuidrass, village near Sarunl - - VI, 85
Bhagatsimha, Vigheln chicf of Kilol - VIIL, 12
Blmirava, a form of Siva - VIII, 55, 90, 91, 94
bfaiinti, n eloizter - - - YIII, 87
Blumsrin well, nt Malpmwlabad - - VI, 46
Bhérgavas, o cluss of Bralhmans - VI 20

Bliwroch, tn, nnet. Bliwrnknchha, Gr. Barngnza,
VI, 1, 2, 9 11, 15; mosque, 20-22; fort cun-
structed by Buhéidar Shih, VI, 15,

Blatdrka, founder of the Valabli dynasty V1,4
Bhavini, goddess, a Sakii of Siva - VIII, 2, 84
Bhills, aloriginal tribe - - - - ¥L26
Bhilsh, te, in Milwi taken by Babador

Shih - - - - - VI, 13

Bhimndeva I, Chanlukyn king, 1021-1068 V15,7

Bhimadevn TI, Vighels king, 11781241 V1.7
Bhimarija of Dwiirkd - - . . VI, 12
bloyeras. cellars - - Y111, 85, 86
Bhrama, Skr. bhamti, Guj. cloisters = YIII, 88
Bhrigu, 8 Vedie sage ol foupder of the

Blikrgava man: of Bribmans - - VI, 20
Bhityada, Bhivada or Bhiirija, early king

of Kanauj - - - - - VL34

Bibi Achut Kuki, wife of Haji Malik Bahitud-din,

VIIL, 7, 32 ; her mosque, VI, 12; VII, 466,
Bibi Bosti Begam, wife of Mir Ja'far ‘Ali  VIII, 17
Bibi Fatimah's tomb at Cambay - - VI, 88
Bibi Mogblai, mother of Malmid Baiqars VI, 11
Bibiji's mosque at Rajapur Hirpur - VII, T1-73 ;

VIII, 52
Bibi RAjabis tomb at Sarkhej - - VII, 50
Bilidl Khita Qdzi, see Milil Khin,
Bindosarovar at Siddbapur, formed by

Sildbarija - - . - - YL, 6
Lir.l roosts - - = - VIIL 76

Bolirlk seet of Sunuis, VITT, 70 ; of Shiahs, V111, 74.
Borrnduile, Mr.. VII, 86, 87 ; step-well, VIII, 83,

brmekets, carved - - - - - VI, 41
Brihnspati or Gura, Jupitar - V111, 11
Budilha, substitated for Budha - = VI 11

Buddhism, V11, 11 ; Buddhist esves, VI, 2 : Buddhisi
mil pattern, VIII, 3, 13,

Buidlia, the planet Mereary - - - vi, 11
Bukhbriah Sayyids, Darveshes, V11, 60,67 ; V111, 151

¥ 2

Buudi, town and state in Malwa - YL 11
Burhin Nizhm Sbah of Abmadnagar - V1, 13

battresses, VI, 26-27,35,42 ; VII, 20, 23, 34, 43,71,
B0, 86; VIIT, 26, 37, 88, 47, 93

Cambay or Kambhbit, VI, 1, 4. 5 ; its mononments, VI,
23-29, Nowibs of Cambay, VL, 25, &e.; VIII, 65,

eantharua, vistern for ablotion - - VI, 26
enpital, erveiform - — - - - VIII, 94
Chakredvari, Yakehigi of Rishablaoitha VI I1, B7

Chalukya dynasty of the Dekban, V1,3 8; Chalu-
kyan stvle, VI, 7: VIII, 95, 96.

Chamardi Hills in Kithiawid - - Y1, 2
Champi tree in Masi Subig’s HIA T e

enelosure - - - VHLT
Champé masjid in Shilipar = -  VIII, 64
Champdinir, Shahr-ka Masjid - - V1, 40

Chimpinir Fort, VL 7, 11-14, 16, 36 VII, 1, 2,
4-8: VIII, 50, 63 ; mosques, VI, 3944,

Chitmnnds, Clinnlukya king . - VI 4
Chandd or Durgé, goddess - = VIIL, 84
Chanderi, town in Malwa - - - VL 13
Chandragupta, Gupts king - - VI 2
Chandrivati, ane. cap, in N. Gujardt - VIL 15
changizi, coin of nbout the value of the

et S il - - - - YL lan
Changiz Khiin, 2 Gujurit voble who

joingd Akbar - - - - VI, 14
Chir Told masjid or Chir Toda qabirastin

in Shithrkotda . - - VIII, 81
Chashtana, early satrap of Gujaric - VI 2
Chandi or Chapotkata, dynasty - - VI, 4y
Chauhan, sovereign of Ajmir - - YT
Chsul, Portnguese flect defeated near, in

1506 - = - - - VL 12
Clispnsa®th Kambh, towh of *Azim Khifin's

family at Dehli = - - VI, 16a
ehauth, Marithi tax of a fourth share of

TeVENe - - - - - VI, 1%, 89
Chlinpaya, village in Andh - - VIIL 89
chhatris, kiosks, eanopies - - VIOI, 2 & 12
Chhota Udaypur, small state in Rewa-

kintha - - - - = VL 39
Chlimliiviid, village - - - VIHI, 78
chihnas; cognizances of divinities - VIIL 57
Chintdmno-nfth, Joiua figure - - VIIL 86
Chittor, tn. in Mélwi - - - VL 11, 13
Chuddspmi, chiefs of Jundgadh - - YL 9
Cole [ Major) = - - V11, 68, 56
eréaeent symbol - = - V11, 50, 51
Dabhoi or Darbhiovat, tn = - - Yi.7
Dviibhaol, to, in the Koakan - - VIII, 98
Dabishalim or Devishalim, puppet king

set up by Malmid of Gazni - - VL3
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Dida Miyin-or Mir Mnbnmmd Huszain's

masjid - - = VIII, 68
Ditkor, tn. in Gujaris E = : VI, 19
Dimiji Gaikwid - - VI,19; VIII, 83
Daman, tu, in Gujarit = VLI

Déui Limdn, village 5, of Alumadibid - VIIT, 13, 16

Dérii Shikoh, brother of Aurafgzib - VI, &5
Darvesh *Aii's or Ojf Bibi®s masjid - VIIL 23

Daryi Khin, governor of Gujurie, 1371-
1376 - - - - - VL4

Diaryh Khiin, noble of Mabmid Baigarm's
ooirt, s rawze ot Abmaddbdd - VI, 11, 54 ; VI,
a8, 29 SVIIL 78

Daryi Khiln, & Gujarit noble undar

Mabminld Shob 11T - - - VI, 14
Diastiir Khin's mosqne - YL I12; VII 76, 77 ;
V11, 40

Darhlidh vatl, ane, nume of Dabhoi . ' i
dargak, origin of the word 3 - VI, 88a
Dargih of Piranpir in Jamélpor - - YHIL 75
Daryipor-Qizipur, village - - = ¥IIL 78

Déind Khiin Shih, 1459 - ¥I1 1:
Daulat Khin' Ghoti, o rlut'f of Jnnnguqlh

VIII, 1-3, 8

581 = = = Vi,&
Danlat Rio Sindin - - - - VI, 40
Daunlitkhiina or  Mobammad  Ghang's

minsfid - - . - VIIIL, 48
Diehli - - - VLS9 17,14
Dovagnilh Biirivd, o uh!efﬁlnp - - VI 39
Dhandbinka, tn. - - - - VI, 30
Dhir, tn. - . . s VL9, 10, 11
Dharmandtha, 15th Jeinne Tirthamkara - VIIT, 86, 89
Dhnrmagila, n resi-house - - -  YIII 87
Dhavaln, apeestor of the Vigheln chiefs VI, 7, 30

anil »

Dhnvulakkaka or I}Im‘i'nlngrlhﬂ., now

Dholks - - ¥I, 7, 2030
Dholkd, Dholaka, Dlinlaka - VI 6,30, 317
Dhnviyn talfiv at Vienmghm - - YIO,o
Dinndit Khim, minister Mubammad Mordd

Bukhsh - - - = - ¥, 17

Din, island in Kathiliwid - V1,13; VII, |, 6

Diwan khina st Shiab ‘Alam, VIIL 18 22:
Abiulln Razedq’s rewza, VIII, 66,

Dohéd, tn. - - = - VI,11,16, 18

Dost Mulinmimnil Sakliar, writer of the
ipserintion  in  Hasan  Mubsmmad

Chighti's mosque - . - YII1. 44
Dungarsl, minister of Jayasingh Paval of

Chilmpiinir = - - - Y1, 89
Durgh or Chandi, goddess . - ¥1,10; VI 84

Durlabliuriiga, Chanlokyan king (1009 -
Im[} minde the Durlabha sarovar st
Anhilapum. - - - - \'jl
Dwitrnki or 1w irke, fort and tewple of
Krishps = < + ¥ 2,12.15

Sarz, form of daily prayer .

Earthquuke of 1819, V11, 10, 32 ; VIII, 17,22, 32, 48
Ek-toda or one-turret masjid of Mubam-

mnd (xhwiz - - - - VIIT, 48
Ellis (Sir Barrow T}, nction for cousere
vation o) Almadihad - - VIII, I7, 18

Fakrud-danlah Fakrod-din Khin Elul]u"ul-
Jang Bahidur, 58th vioeroy af l'}u]u.rnt,

1747 48 - - - - Y1, 19
Fakrod-duulal  wa'd-din  Abii  Bake,
. T415 ¢ his tombaf Cambay - - Vi1, 24

Furhatul Munlk, title of Nau Khiany his

masjid known as Shih Khub Sayyid's- V11, 82, 53
VI, 33 and w
Fathn ‘A, Nawib of Cimnbay, 17689 1823 YL 25
Fath Khiio, Mahmdd Shih T, Baigars, VL 11 VI, 16
Fath or Photi Masjil in Daryapur - VI, 36-87, 63
Fath Sing Galkwid, 17781780 - = VI, 18
Fatimib, daughter of Mubammad - VI, 47, 75
Fergnszon, Jaz, VI, 46; VI 3, 11, 27, 81, 46, 49

86, 87 ; VIIL, 22, 33, 34, 50, 59
Firiiz Shih 1T Tughlag VI, 33; VII, 46
floml of 1875 : - = VIIL 55, 79

Forbes, Jag., cited = VI, 20; VIE 10, 30, 33, 85;

VI, 4n, 67-39

Gadbindd, tnc in Bhiunsgar State -  VIIL, 90
gadis, thrones of Jaina pontifis = - - VIIIL, 90
Gagi Nasi or Gouj *Iniynt Shih's masjiid VI, 64
Grajul, n naio of Keinbhidyat - - VL 23
Galiyhed's masjid - - - - VI, 72
Galtd river ; Galtasvara temple st Sarnal, VIT1, 95, 96
Ghuidhavt, fort in Kithihwad - = b8
Gapoda, god - - - VIII, 845 B
Ganglsar loke, st Virempgdm - - VIIL 91
Ganj Shihodd’s rauzas in Belrdmpur VIl 83
Ganjoi Masjil st Mindal - - - VI, 92
gurba-grika or shrine of a tomple - YL, 95
Gurnda, vehicle of Vighon = - VI, 8a
Ghanagayima, early namé of Svami

Niiriyngn - - - - VI, &89
ahat, n descent, fight of steps - - VI, 89
Glinnz-ul A'gnm Muhind din Pir-i-Dasrgie

and l”Imllpu' - - - - YHI, 75

Ghayisd-din *Ali Asaf Kbin - VILL 19 pod m

G hazanfar Kokah, brother of Mirgd*Askardt VI, 13n
Ghiiei Bog  Tughlieg, Ghnjhud-dln

Tughlng Shith T - VLB, 16
Ghbgiud-din Klido Balddur Firie Juog,

vieeroy of (iujarit, 17081708 - YL 17
Ghikanth mozque, Mu' smmad Sayyid's  VIIT, 54, 69
Girnir, M1, - - - VI, 46,85

Goddard (Genl.) took Almndibid, 1780 VI, 198
VI, 10; VIIL 22
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Gadhada, tn. and distriet in Gojardt VI, 17, 89 Hirn rate ot Dablioi - - = Vi, 7
= i ' VIIL, 28 Hisimud-din - Ao SR 3 VI, 8§
GUdUEfeantiby, duiow Image-< - VHLSS ' mrope, Sir Thaod. €., - VII, 8, 25, 26, 41, 64, 86
Rt MRRRIE . - = VE R | fiketie Baltke | = VI A B4, 40: VI, 1,6
Seciakhe, Teksid o Ristwbbandths . = VIILST | g i@l oo DA AR il L6 VI 70
Gondul, tn. in hm-:hm"“"f o B VI 15 Husain of Khordsan, futher of the Mirzis VI 14
Goavimi Mﬂi’lﬁ!‘ﬁjiﬁl ar ¥ lj]|ﬂ11hﬁﬂtlarj'l!- V.I.]_L & L_Iﬂﬂl.ill Yiwar Khin Mumm thhﬂ,
Greek geographers nud Western Indin - VIIL, 2 Nawilb of Cambay, 1841 - - Y1, 25
Gujarat, VI, 1-19, 20 ; history, VII, 1-16,
Gumti Masjid ar Issmpur - - - VI, 367
Gupta Dyunsty - - . - Vi3 .
Ihn Batuta quoted - - - VI, 24
Ibrihim Khin, viceroy of Gujardt, 1705 YL 1T
Ibribim Sayyid's tomb iu the Blinde, VII, 43 : his
mosque, VIIT, 46, 40,

Mifiz Mubsmmad Nisir, minister to Idar, to. in Mabi-Kantha, VI, 11; mosque, VI, 10,
Shaishinh Khin, 1648 - - = YL17 ki d ;
b KA i - ; c Lirigi, Aeah goopmplier - - - VI, 6,30
j.g..but, ; & 1masji . VIL, 20.21 ; VIIT, 55 Lkhtivfrnd-danlah's tomb in Cambay - VI1.24,29
Haidar Quli Khiu Bahlidur Zafir Jung, Lichtiviral Mulk VIIL &0

slst vieeroy of Gujarir, 1721-1722 - V1,18 o m it B EEEEC L2
T HanIRd A, wie B Mot Imidul Mulk Kbush Kadam = WS
Ghapanl ‘Alam - ~ = -  VIIL 48 hmdudnl Mulk, Gujarit voble - - VI, 28
Haji Kili, » slave of Mabmod Baiqaa - VII, 75 Imﬁd‘ﬂl Mulk Malik lsan, his mosque in
Haji Khin, repnted builder of Achut Iskhpor.= - s = = VHL40
E{ilr[’s maos e - - = VI, 64 Tmam, n leader in the worship of the
Haji Saheh, or Hiji Sakbis mosque in mosque - - = - - VIII, 87, 41
Dary dpur 3 = L - VIII, 66 watim, land held rent free . - VIII, 16, 37, 59
Hajipur suburh - - = - VII, 64 Tudynt Shih's Mosquo - ~ = VI, ﬁ,_j_
Hiji Yasuf's tomb ar Cambay - - VI, 29 Indru, Hindi god, gusrding of the east - VIII, 95
Hakim ‘Afnnl Mulk, officer of Akbar - VIIL 50 Insu;irlt;nﬂu . ot Bi:nm-uB V1, 21,122 i at Cambay,
. B - iy VI, 23, 26, 29; at Dholkd, VI, 30, 32-34; at
Sl . 1 Gajeis bt Chimpnir, VI, 40, 47 ; at Abuadabid in Jami
Handolh Tank - - = - VHIL a7 Masjid, VII, 85 ; in Sultin Abmad's tomb, VII,
Hansanfithji's Jaine Temple - - “VIII, 86 48 at Sarkhej, VIL, 48 ; in Malik Shibin's mum,
Hurirpira, siburb of Abmadébid - - VIII, 6 V11, 55-57 ; st Butuvé, VII, 62 ; at Dastur Khin's

Hasan, prandson of Mualismmad - V1,20 ; VIIL, 47,75
Hasan Mubammad Clishti's mosque - VITI, 4445
Huthisingh's Jaion temple - - VIII, 87-890
Baneg, o cistern, rosorvolr - - VIIL, 36, 42, 67
Haunz-i-Quth or Kaukdrivh tank -  VII, 44, 52, 53

Aazird, distribution of food to holy men - VII, 87
Hazrat Khin's raam - - - V1, 38
Huzrat Mizh Snhig's mosqne - - VIIT, 78; 132
Hazrat Pir's ranza at Dholkd - - VL 76
Hazuri Shilh's or Malil Sha‘bdn's mosque

in Abmadibad - - - - V1L, &6
Hemabhai Vakbatohand, Nagar Seth of

Almadibid - - - - ¥1II, 57
Hemachandra  or Hemsicharyn, Jaina

seholar - - - - VL T: VIII, 84

Hidiyst Bakhsh Muadrass and Masjid - VIII, 62
Hilal Khiin Qazi’s mosque at Dholkd - V1, 30-32,

34, 146
Hindil Mirzh, brother of Huméyim Sultdn VI, 13

Hindd Architecture, VI, 5, 6, 10-11, 20, 88 ; VI,
B4ff;: designs, VIII, 6, 10; planets, VIII, 11 ;
horizon, eght points of, VIII, 96n; seulptures,
V111, 84 : temples, VIII, 89,

masjid, VIT, 767 in Muohifiz Khiin's masjid, VIT,
T8 3 in Bhil Khab Sayyad’s masjid, VI, 52; in
Riwi Sipari's masjid, VIL 84 ; on Bili Harir's wiv,
VIIL, 4, 8; ou Addlaj wiv, VIII, 12: at Shak
‘Alam, VILL 19 ; in Darvesh ‘Ali's mosque, VIII,
255 in ARl Khin's masjid, VIIL, 45 in Shaikh
Huzan Mubammad Chislitis masjid, VITT, 44 ¢ jn
Babi Lului’s mosqwe, VIIT, 47 ; in Shujicat Khan's
magjid, VIII, 61 ; in Qizxi Mubsmmad Rukhoul
Haq's tomb, VIII, 63; in Ganj Tniyat Shih's
musjid, VIIL 64 ; in the Khardti masjid, VII1, 635 ;
in Ashraf Kbin's masjid, VIIL 70'; in Pir Quthud-
din Sayyid's rauza, VIIL 74 ; in the Kdehni masjid,
VIIL, 73; on Misi Subig's ruga, VIIL 78 ; in
the Bhadr, VIII, 54.

Irndist Khfin, title of Afzim Khin - - VUL, 59

fsanpur : step-well of Jethabhii Jivanlil Nngjibliii
or Mulfi, VII, 20, 73-74 ; VIII, 13, 14, 37, 83:
Gumti masjid, VIIL, 37 ; *Imidal Mulk's mnsjil,
40342,

Islim Khiin, governor of Gujardt, 1632 - VL. 16
Tsma'il Quli Khiin, viceroy of Gujarit, 1390 VI, 14, 15
Ttimiid Khiin Grujardti = V1,14, 15 V1L, s0f
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Jugat or Dwiirkd - - - vI, 12
Jagavallabha Pirdvanithe, o Jaina image  VIIL, 87
Jabiingir, emperor - - VI, 16, VIII, 23
Jabidngir Quli Khin, deputy goveroor of

Gujardt, 1609-1611 - - - ¥I, 16

Jahbinpanib, wall of Chimpanir citadel - V1, 12, 40

Juins: VI, 2,3, 5; Jaina or Gujarit style of archi-
tecture, VI, 6, 7; VII, 11-16, 23,32, 47 ; Jaina
temples, at Mount Abu, VILG ; at Karoavati, VI.6 ;
at Girniir, VI, 6 ; others, V1, 20, 23, 80, 38 ; VIIIL,
33 at Ahmadabid, 837, 93,

Julil Khitn Quthud-din Shih,1451-1459,VI,11;VIL,27

Jalblnd-din Firiz Shik, emperor 1290-

12946 - - - - - VI1,8,93
dalithud-din Mah *Alam, 5th in descent
from Sbdh *Alam - =. .= VII1520

Jimi' Masjids ; at Junigadh, VI, 12; at Bharoch,
V1, 20 ; e Cambay, VI, 25, 26, 27 ; at Chimpinir,
VI, 12, 41-44;: w0 Dholkd, VI, 32, 33, 363 at
Abmudhbad, VII 10, 15, 17-19; 249, 20-36, 71 :
VII, 72; ot Dehli, VIII, 20, 21; at Mandal,
VIII, 92; at Kapadvanj, VIII, 83,

Jamas, hinter who shot Krishoa - g VI, 2

Jarasandha, early king of Magadha - YL 2

Juswantsingh of Jodlipur, viceroy of
Gujaris, 1659-1662 and 1671-1674 - VI,17

jat, u personal grant - - - WVIIL G

Jannpur, VI, 13, 168 ; mosques, VIII, 48, 49,

Jowin Mand Khin Bibi, title of Kamilod
din, Khanji Khin - VI, 19; VII, 73 ; VIII, 24, 88

Jayunti-devi, Hindd gaJdaa. tl.‘.iIl[}]H ab
Karnbvati = 5 VI, 6

Juyasekhar, enrly ruler s Panchiisar - j R

Joyasimha Siddhariija, Chanlukya king V1,86, 7;

VIL, 10
Joaysingh Pathi Riwal of Chimplnir - VL 34
Jethabliii Jivanial Nagjabhdi or Mulji's
wir - - ¥II,28,78; VI, 18, 87, 88
Jhibud, pative state - - - VI 17
Jhaliwid VI, 13 Jhila ehieftains, VILI, 92
dhinjlinwidi, tn, in N. Gujarit - VI, 6
Jiji-Bibic Rini's wikv at Iaunpur - - YVIOIL 14

Jinn, or Tirthimkara of the Jainas VI, 22,

V111, 83, 86
Jditpur, tu., -- = - * - VL 10
Jivithhine, insect toom in a Pifijripol - VIIL 76
Jodlipur, state - - - VI, 1, VIII, 61
Jogni Khdnum, dangliter of Momin Ebdn 11 VI, 24
Johar, or jaufur, immolation of the wives

of Rajpuis - - - - Y1, 39
Jumlatnl-Mulk, I\'izﬁmnl-}iulk, agnd
vieeroy of Gujarat, 1722-1723 - - V1, 18

-]uuﬁ.gnﬂ.h V1,9, 10, 12, 10 TIJ 1,5,6; VII1, 90 ;
Nawdb of, VIII, T1. ’

Jouaid, governor of Sindh, AD. 7244 - \' FE
duzr, early Mubsmmadan oame for
Gujariit - - - - - VI &

Kabah of Makkal, the tras gibla VIII, 26 and »

Kaehh, prov. - - VI 1-4,9'12 15,18
Kichni masjid - - - VI, 32, 75
Kadi, fort in Gujarar, VI, 16 ; Knli pargana, V111, 63,
kakshayana, seat-hack or protection - VIII, 30
kilugas, finials shaped like vazes «  VIIL 'BY
Kile Shihid, tomb sseribal to - - VI 88
Kili, goddess - - - - VIII, 84
Rdlimah, the Muozulman eveed - - WIIL, 7
Kalol, . snd dist, in Gujariie - -  VIIL, 12
Kilyiios, to, in the Konkan - - Vi, 2
Kamal Shih Malwi’s ranza - - VII, 29
Kumiilud-din, father of AL Tordh - VIII, 50

Kamilod-din Gurg, offcer of Mubdrak Shih Yi,&8
Kamilud-lin Kl:u}n Babi, Jawin Manl

Khiu 11 - - - VIII, 82
Fanbilia, u pillar - - - - YL10o

Kambhit, or Kambhiyat, Cambay, VI, 1, 2, 4, 5, 8,
49, 12, 15, 18, 20, 23, 24 ; VIIE 50
Kanaaj or Kaoyikubju, eapital in N, Indin VI, §n, 4
Kunkariyd taliv Hanz-i-Qutb, VI 11 1 and  pelsoe,
VIL 4; VIL 44, 51-53, 738 ; VILI, 39 &2:
Kanthkot, fort in Kachh - - - VL 435
Kupadvaij, Skr. Karpatavaoijya, to., VIIL 15, 93-94 ;
Jamit Masjil at, VILII, 93 ; kusda or resecvoir, aid
Kirttistambha or Torana arely, VITL, 94,
Karlali or Mashadul Husain, place of
pilgrimage 50 miles 5. W. of Baghdad - V1,28
Karpa, Choulokyn king, 1063 1093, VI, 6; VIII,
10, 12, 84 ; Kargssazarn, artificial ke, V1, 6.

Karon [II, Ghaelo, ":'.nahelu kmg. ]."n”‘iﬁ-
15304 - - YL 8

Karnivaii or Sri Nagnra, ane. city on site

of Ahmadabid - VI, 6, 10; VII, 18 ; VIII, 2, 84
Kirmalab Khim, or Shoji'ar Khan, 39t

viveroy, 16861708 - - VL 17: VI1II, 61
Kashig-no Ghomro, at Shiah Badzhih Pir's

raun - - - - - VI, 81
Kithiiwid (Sorath) - VI, 1-5, 5; VIIL 89, 91
Kathi tribe - - - -« VL 2; VI, 59
katib, o Mullh or Maolavi - - - VI 27
kiyotsargs, standing ascetie, uititude of

Jiinas - - - - VI, 85,886

Kém, moon's descending node - - VIIL 11,12

Khalil Khiay, i oo Muozaffar 11, 1511-1526 VI, 13
Khalilibid, tn, - - - - VI, 59
Khin-i A'zim, Mireh ‘Aziz Koka - VL 14, 16
Khiin Jabin, deputy viecroy, 1624 - V1, 16

Khin Jahiin or Réo Mandalik, VIII, 72 : Khin Jahin
I‘.—.ﬁnt{:, Abmd, V11, 10 ; Khin Jahiin H.uﬂ]ul VIII,

Klifin-ki masjid or Alif 'Eluin § MO IE 6t

Dholki - - - VI, 34
Khifin Sarovar Tank st Patan - - Vi1, 51
Khangér, prince of Jundgadh - = VI, Oa
Klmukhmluu* title gtta-u to Mirzd Khiin,

viceroy, 1584 - - - Y, 15



INDEX, 103

Khiinji Khin, Jawin Mard Khin, 1725 - VII1, 52

Khirighoda, vill: - - - YVHI, 91

Kharfiti Masjid, wear Dehli  gate of
Abmadabid - - - - VIII, 65

Khedn, tn. and dist. - VI, 1, 18, 46, VII1, 93, 94

Ehizr Khiin, son of *‘Aland-din Khilji - Vi1, 1
Khonja Bibi, or Darvesh *Alf's mosque - VIII, 25
KEbodiwand Khin, or Malik ¢Alim - - V11,26
Ehwiija Khidr : kis tomb at Kambhay - VI, 29
kvitimwhl, fgure - - - - VIII, 95
kirttistamblo st Kapadvanj - - YIIL 94

Kochrab mosgue, VLI, 73 VIIT, 46,84 ; Kochrava-
devi or Kochurabd, goddess, V I fi.

Koli-, wild tribe, V1, 2,40 ; VIIL, 59 ; of Balor, VIII, 82,

Koti, . in Malwi - - - Y 11
Kypishun, god - - - Y12 VI, 90
Kshatraps or Satrap dynasty - - Vi, 2
Kobera, god of wealth and guardian of
the north - - - - VIIL, 95
Kumirapila, Chaulukya king, 1143-1178 VL. 6, 7:
VI, 1
Kumiri Devi, godiess - - - VI 23
Knmbha Rand of Mewir- = -  VIIL 54
Ruwenda, woll at Konpadvanj - - VI, 91, 94
Runsigar, artificinl reservoir - - VL6

Kuntalpur, anct. eity at Sarnal - - VIIL, 85

Lidle Pir's ranga in Riyakhid Rohilawhd VIII, 43

lalita mudra, attitnde iv sitting - - VIIT, 94
lnmpstands - - - = VIL.79, 80
lfangurkhidna, almshonze - - - VIIL, a7
Liita, anet. name for Kokap - - VI, 4

Latif Khiin, brother of Babidur Shih - V1, 13, 14
Lavnnapmsida, Vagheln chief . = YL 7,24
lighting of mosques = - WII, 28, 4265
Lunsliwadi, tn. - - - - VIII, 65

mudras, w college - = VIII, 60-62, 63
Mahitmt Ehiin, vicaroy 1662-1668 - YL 17
Mahikal, a god - - - - VIO, w
maballa, & wand of the city - - VI, 28, 558
Muabavirn, the 24th Juina Tirthagkara -  VIT1, 86
Miihi, river - = NI, 18,23 VIII, 95, 96

Mahipa, n Vighela ehiel of Kiilal - - ¥VIII, 12
Mahizhn, a demon, and Mahishamarduni
or Mahisaghuoi, the slayer of Mahizha - VIII, 84

Malimbid of Ghazni - - ¥L2,6; VHI,75
Mabmud Khilji of Malwi - V1, 11, 13, 839: VIIL 15
Mabmid Shih 1 Baigurs, Nasirud-lunya

wi'd=din Abul Fath - VI, 11-14, 39, 43, 46 ;

VI, 56,9, 14, 15, 26, 46, r!_.ﬂmfa'{m,
VU] -l: 14, 28, 50, 70, T2

Mabmid Shih IT of Gujarat, 1526 VT, 13 ; VI, 6,8

Malmiid Shih ITT (1536-1553) - VI, 14, 45 ;
VII, 7, 8, 61, 82 ; VI1I, 64, 70

Malmid Shil 1T of Dehli - - YiI, 2
Mabmiulibid, . and remains st - VI, 20, 45-47 ;
VIL 6

Mabmudabid, vame of Chdmpinir - VI, 12, 39-41
mafmidi, ooin - VI, 15 and n; VITI, 4 and 2, 12

Maidin Shak, royal square or palace
eourt, Ahmadildid . - VI, 25 VIII, 59

Muinnln Barovar or Malav, artificial lake

nt Vicamgim - - - - VL 6 36
miajliz, socinl reanions = - - VIII, 23
Maokdhiim Jamil ad=din Jumin Shab, boilt

the Champi-ki masjid - - VIII, 63
Makhdum Shaikl Abmad Katti - V11, 46
Maliiv talav at Dholkd - - - YL 6
Maulik Abmad, ooe of the fonr Ahmads - VI, 72
Malik *Ainnl Molk Multéni - - V1,8

Malik *Alim's Masjid and ran a at Dini

Limdi - - - V11, 26-29; VI, 13
Malik “Ambar Habshi, governor of

Danlatitid - - - - VI, 16
Malik Baliiud-din, Imfdul Mulk, 1466 - VII, 64, TO

Malik Diniir, Zalar Khin, governor of

Gujarit under Mubirmk Shah - - VI, 8
Malik Ghani Khiisazdd, Dasturol Mulk,
built Dastar Klidn’s mosqne - = NH, T8
Malik Ghani, built ‘Infiyat Shih’s masjid VI, 65
Malik Husain Bahmani Nizamil-Mulk, a
Gujarit officer, 1520 - - = VIII, 9%
Maulik Jamblud-Tin, Mobifiz Elifin = VI, 12
Malik Makhsud Vazir, brother of Malik
Balind-din - = - ¥YII, 69
Malik Mufprrib Soltiui, Furhmulwl'ftllk
Rasti Khin, governor of Gujarit,
1377-1347 - - - - V1,910
Malik Muokbil, governor of (Gujarit,
13351347 - - - - NI,B8
Malik Sirang, foonder of Sarangpur - VIIIL, 24, 28,
40, T5
Malik Sarivat Sayyid Jalil, son of Shih
Ghayisnd-din - - - - VIII, 68
Malikushk-sharqg, title of .r"-m:r Husain bin
Mirin - = = = v 1| 4
Malik Shibéin, Inmﬂublﬂ ulk, VI, 61; VII, 72;
rouyn and masjid, VII, 54-57,
Malik Wajlhod-din  Kurmishi  Sadarul-
Mulk  Tijul-Mulk, governor of
Gujarit, 1320 - ‘ . VI, §
Malik Yarkih Mobamuad H!m. governor
of Gujarar, 1387 - - V1, 10

Mumlntdir's treasury, paymonts from - VIII, 25, 44
Miinnen snrovar lake st Virnmgim - VIII, 91-42

Manszar Mith, o name for Banehariji, n
godidess - - - - - VI, 83

Manohha®s Masjid in Rakhayal - -  VIII, 83

Mindal, aoe. Magdale, tn. in Jaliwnd, Maledvari
temple nt, VI, 4, 18 ; mosques ai, VIIT, 92,
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mandipa, portive of u temple = ¥III, 87, 88

Mandelslo, Holstein traveller VI, 17 ; VII, 250,53 ;
Y111, 57, 59

Mandalik Rio, of o muiigendh : - VII. 5
Miydun, enpital of Malwi - YL 13
Ma'Sgalas or Bhanwma, Mars . - VI, 11

Manik. Chaok io Abmadibad - VIL 51,89 VI, 72
Mankir, olil nnme of Mialkhed - - V1, 23
Minod Temple - - - V111, 84
al-Mansur, Khalif of Baghdiil, 754-775 - Y1, 3

magharia, a tomb - - Vil 40; VIII, 62

Muarithns: - VI, 2 17-19 24 40: VII, 4, 19, 41 : |

VIII, 22, 58, (0, 82
Mariam Bibi's masjid and raonza - VIL 73 ; VIII, 82

Marinoe Saoudo referred to - - Y1, 23
wietrepad, m burying ground - - Y1, 40
Marut or Viyu, guandion of the N.-W.
quarive - - B - WIII, 96
Mas"mdi, Arab writer - - - Y1, 23
Méar Bliavini’s wiv or step-well - VI1. 10; VI,
1-3, 5, 84
Manlini Norud-din Sidi's tomb - - VIl 63
Mayagalladevi or Mainalidevi, mother of
Siddbardjn - - - VI, 30; VIII, 91
Mazum Quli Khiin, styled Shoji‘at Khin VI, 18
Modani Rai, Hindu minister of Mabmiid
Khilji - 2 A = n arors
Mehers, tribe - - - - Yi; 8
Melmudibid, see Mahmudibiad,
Memorial stones or Paliyas - V111, 83, 93

Mern, mythical mopntain - - VIII, 85

mifirits - VI, 21, '25-27, 30, 32, 85, 3Tn, 42
'1-'1]_, 19, 23, 26, &-i ol passin ;
VI11I, !9 '2-:!. 25 30, et poswin

mimbar or minbar; pulpic - VL, 27, 31, 35; VII,
43 49, 65, T1, 75, 76, 79 ; VIII,
26, 30, 81, 34, 3Ta, 47, 63,

mindles or minarets: - VI, 41 ; VI, 35, 42, 44, 67,
68, 80 ; VIIL, 22, 24, et passine,

Mir Graddi, son of *Abd Turib - - VII1, 51

Mir Muobwmmad Bagir, A'zgam  Khin,

viceroy - = - VI, 16 and », VIIL, 59

Mir Muhibbullal, son of Abii Turdh - VIIL, 51
Mirn Savyid *Al's masjid - - VIII, 65
Mirdin Mubammsd hhuh LI Assiri, Gujarit

Saltin, 1537 - - V1,13
Mirin Mubhammad *Adil Khan Farnkhi

of Khandesh - - - YL, 12
Mirdoa Chbnlini masgid - - VI 63
Mirgi, wife of Shilk *‘Alam : - VIII, 15
Mirziis, revolt of - V1, 14
Mirzih ' Askarl, imporia]l genernl - VI, 13 and »

Mirzd Aziz Kokd, Khin-i-A'zam, gover-
vor of Gujurdt, 1573-1575 - -VI1, 14, 15, 16

Mirzih “Ten Tarkhin, \rmem_',' of Gu]lrﬂt.

1642-1644 - VL IT

Mirzgdi Jatfar Knj'mun"-dnu]nh. gmernur
of Cambay - = VI, 24

Mirzéd Khorram, afterwards Shih Johan, VI, 57-39
Mirzi Mphaommad Ja‘fer Nazm  Sihoi

Momin Khin's masjid - - VIII, 68
Mirzé Sayyid Beg, built tha Itirua mosque
at Surat - - ¥YIIL 70
Miyin Khin Chishti's mosque-~ VI, 12 ; VII, 69, 704
VIIL, 7, 24 a7
Miyan Mubhammad Husain, known al=o as :
Dada Miyin, his masjid - - VIIT, 66
Mokainsimba or Hﬂgnﬁlmlm.. ehief of
Rélal - - Y1, 9
modsha, deliveranee from (ransmisration VIIL, 85

Mowin Khiw ILNsjmud-dunla Firizs Jaog,
Aith viceroy, 1T37-1748 - VI, 15.18; VIL 9
V1L, 68, 78

Momin Khio 1T, Najond danls Baliidor
Firae Jume, Mived Jo'far, governor of
Cambay, 1745-1783 - -
Momin Khio ILLNajmud=danls Momiaznl-
Mulk Balidur Dilawar Jang, Nawib of
Cambay, 1789-1823 - 2 =

Morki or Shaikh Mubhammad's masjid -

V1, 24

Y1 25
V111, 69
mi’nzzan, ealler to prayer - VI, 35 ; VII, 75, 80 ¢

VIII, 8, 36, 41, 49
Mu'aszzam Khin's tomb - - = - YII, 7
Muhbéirnk Sayyid's tomb at Sojill - VI, 435, 47 ;
VII, 6, GO
Mubfirizol-Mulk Sorbuland Khidn Bahi-
dur Dildwar Jang, viceroy 1723-1750 VI, 18,19 ;

V111, 82
Mudherd, to., tank and sun temple st < V1.6
Muofarrah Mufakr-al-Kowas Khas, Soltin Y1, 33

Mufidkhir Khin, son of Momin Kidn - V1, 19, 24
Mughali Bii's tomh = - - VI 40

Muliifiz Khin, Jundlud-din Silwhdir, VI, 12; his
musjid, VII, T8-81, 83, 85: VIIL 65, '

Mubammad’s birthday . - - VI, 45n
Mulinminad  Akramud-din, founder of
Hidiyat Bakhsh mosque - - VIII, 63
Mubammnd Amin Klfiu, viceroy 1678-
1882, his mosque - - VL I1T; V11,43
Mubammnd Amin Khin Umﬂ.ut.ul - Mulk,
viceroy 1674 - - - YT
Mulipmmad Anwar Kidn Bbi's tomb - VII, 74
) VIII, 82
Mubsmmad A'zam Shih, son of Aurang-
#iby vieeroy 1686 and 1703-1705 - VI, 17

Muobammnd Ghans Gwilide's mosque - VILL, 48-50,

a3
Mohammad Mu'szzam  Bhib. son of
‘Alumgir, afterwards Bahfidur 1 - VLAY
Mu'sammad  Quli, Nowilb of Cambny,
1783 1789 - - . V1,24

Mubammad Safi, styled Saif Khdn - VI, 16; V111, 57
Mubammul S&lih Badiksbi, is mosque  VIII, 21

o\
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Mubammad Sayyids or Ghi-kintdh masjid
Maobsmmad Shih I of Gujerst, Tatar
Khin, 1403-1404 - -

Mubammad Shfih 11 Karim Glunylisud-
dunys wa-nd din, 1443-1451 - WI;11,85;
VI, 1,4 8,87 VI, 22
Mubammnd Shah Tughlag I = YI1.B 9,24 95
Mubammmd Shil Taghlag 11, 13587 1889 VI, 8, 10

V11, 69

VIL-1,3.8

Mubammad Shih Toghlsg 111 - - yilL, 2
Mutiznd-din hin Sim, ealled also Shabdbod-
din Maynmmad (Ghori of Gazni - - ¥L.T
Mutisud-din N |zﬁ.m111-Mulk gwnrnur -‘.lf
Gujurfit, 1347 VI, 4
Mukhtar Khin, 385 viceroy, 1683 1686 VI, 17
V1II, 61

Midariji, Solanki king, 941-996 A.D. VI, 4, 5, 23

V111, 12

Miilardijd IT, Solatki king, 1176 1178 - YL;:aT
Mulli, or Katih, renider in a wosque - Y1 27

Mualih Ahdna, royal ehiapol or gallery - VTI, 18, 23,
34,771 ; VIIL, 92, 43

Murhil Bakhbsb, viesroy 1854 1657 - Y1, 17
Muri, & seat of the Svimi Niriyapa seet  VILL 90
mincrid, n diseiple of & murshid - = V111, 21
Murki-Bibi's tomb - - - - VI, 40, 44
mirahed, o rellzions guide - - VIII, 48
Misi Miyda, late indmdir of Shih *Alam VLI, 21
musallas, jai-nomas, or proyer-mats Y.L, 62
Mustafs Sayyid’s masjid in A modilad - VI, 74
Mustafihisl, Muhumuuuluu name  for

Junigadh - - - VI, 12,15
muzaffar khdno, o rest house, refuge - VIIL 61

Muzaffar Shil 1, 1396 -1403 VIL, 2, 8, 15, 46
Muzaffar Shih IT, 1511-1526 V1,13; VII, 6,7, 84 ;
VI, 40 and »

Mugaffur Shah 111, 1561-1572 - VL1415
V1L, 7, B; VIII, 22

Mylnssn, tomb - - - - VILE 12 21

Nuliid, tn. - - - VL 1L 18
Nadol, Muozafinr shal III tltril.mt.{}d aly i

lagd . - - Vi, 13
Niigarn, old site of Kumbhu}rnl . VI 28
Nughod gardens ot Eankiviyi waliv - VIL &4
Nugrind masjid st Chimpinir - = VI, 45 44
Naging Po| masjid or Bidshali Sayyid's - \'IH G

Nuhrvidal or Pitan, Auvhilwidi - VI, 3,4, 8 10
Nuirpiti, Hindw god, mle: of e S.-W,

quurter = - = VI, 96
Najilal Khin, buili the mindrs ut Shi

‘Alam - - NI, 21
Ninha Ldrus rauza - - - VI, &4
Nang Sara or Ganj “Indyat Shih's mosgne VI, 64
Naurnsishn or Visbhpo, god - - - VIIL 83

Normadd, viver - - Wi, 1, 4, 17,20, 80, 3n

L]
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Narfyugu or Vishgn, god - - ¥, 85
Niigir Khiiy, Mai mdd 11, 1526 - VI, 13
Nagir Bayyid or Qazi Siheb's masjid - VIII, 73
Nugirud-din Khusru, Shah of Dehli, 1320 Y1, 8
Nugirud-din, Nawib of Baroda, his temb  VIII, 21

Nuteds, Torm of Siva - VI11, 84, 90, 91
Nan Khin Farhatol-Maolk, ropaired

Sultan Abmad's tomb - - VI, 38, 82, 83
Nunghrd, tn, in the Kofkgy - - vi, 4
Nawvagrahe, nine so-called plinets - VII, 10

Nawah Sardar Elin's masjid sod jomb VI, 55,
56, 93, 102
Nawih Shihjshin Khio, and Momio

Khnn's masjid - - - V111, 6%, 73
Nawah shujitar Khiln's mosque - VIII, 56,
B1-62, 106

Nemiuatha, old  Joios temple  of, in

Abmaiibiul - - - - - NI, 86
Neopurwidi masjid - VI, 73 ; VIIL, 13,83
nijmandis or-shirine of a temple - - YII1, 8%
Nizamuod-din's tomb st Mahmidabiad - V1, 46
Oji Bibi or Darvesh *Ali’s musque - VI, 25
paduka, footprints, worship of, h}r Hindiis,

Joimas and Buddhisia - - VIIIL, 20
Pildi Kochrab, suburb of Ahmadibid - VI1L, 47
piliyd or mojumental stone - - NII, 83,93
Paschiisar, old eapital in Gujaris - Vi, 8
padiprapol, animal wsylnm - V11, 76
Pargis - - - - - Vi, 23
Pardvaniths, saored mountsin of  the

daipasand the 23rd Tirthamkars - \EUJ??'_’JT
Pirvati or Bhavini, o goddess - 1.2
FPatun step-well, V111, 13 ; pargavs, V111, 63, 52.

Piawigndh, fort of Champanir -~ VI 12; 28,89 ;
NI 78
pendentives, smployment of = - NIl 22
Phuti or Fathn musjid - - -  WIII, 86
pillars - = . - V1, 3940
pippal leaf symbol - - WII, s0; VIIL 21
Piry w boly man - - - S L
Pir Bigir Shal's raum - - - NI 81
Fir Kumal's graveyunl - - = NLIL:T2
Pir Mashiyek's rangn - - - NI, 81
Pir Qasim Khin's rangs - - VI, 81
Pir Vagirshil o \'-’ulmi.ulmh 1’1: 5 IIInHJIll
nnd ranza = - VHL 67
Piriué seot of Hunaluum - - - VIII, 81
Piemnd Shih's masjid snd ravs - - NI, T7]
pirzada or spiritaal guide - - - NI, 44
poshili, Jalnn pewshadha pr wonnstery - VI, 23
Prmbhiisa Pattoma, tn. - - - N2
pradakshina, cirenmumbalatory prssage - VIII, §7
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Pravig, Allshild : = - ¥4

prayers, Mubammadan - - = V1, 33n
Promachand, safat of Hathisingh's Jainy

templa - - - - VIII, 88
propylons of Jasnpur mosqes - - VIII, 48
propylen of Mobammad (Ghans’s mosque VI, 49

Y11, 17, 23, 26, K0 ;

Public Works Depurtmant - :
VIII, 7, 29, 85, 48

Pushpaidnnta, 9th Jainn Ticthamlara - VILL 87
gabr, arave, V1, 384 ; VIL, 21, 39, 63, 72 ; VIIL 39,

Al, 80 : gabrgih, gubristin, burying ground,
VIL 40; VIII, 18,

gacam-i-Mubarak, gudam-i-rasal, foot.
priats of the prophes - - VIIL, 20, 21, &0

Qadam Rosul masjids, at Debll, Gaor, &e, VIII, 20,
al, 51

VIIL, 67, T5a
- VI, 728

iliriyn seer of Darvishes -

Qulandar ligirs - - -

Qisim Khiin, viveroy 1657-1659 = V117
Qiisim Khiin's ravm at Chhndayid - V111, 78
iz ‘Abul Farah Khin's mosque
Jhoveriwids - - - - VI, 54
Qidzl “Ali or Hosuin Sayyid's masjid - VI, 70

Gl Husabuud-dio of Ahmadihid - VIII, 13,54
Qirl Mulnmmond Nizgamud din Khin, firs)

izl of Abmoddbid . - - VI, 63
Qi Mubwminad Saleli’s and Qizi Mu-

hoomad Rukhonl-Haq's tomb - VIII, 63
Qird Ninha ‘Tdris or Clhliota  “Lilriis

masjid - . - - - 'VIIL, 54
Qi Sulubud-din Chishti - - VIII, 63u
Qizi's Masjid ar Minlal - - = VI, 92
Qiel’s Mandirsild or Hidivat Baklsh

miid risn - - = - V111, 62
Qivzinl-Muolk, Abmul Shah LT, 15541561 Vi1, 14

giblas or mikrdhs, VI, 21, 23, 26, 27 ; origin of,
VI, 26, 37 and n; VII, 33a; peoulinr form,
V111, 50.

Quean’s or Rani Ruplvati's mosque m Mirzipur, g

Qulij Khin Andajinl, governor of Suarat,

nud wfterwards of Gujaris . - VI, 16
Quthud-din Aibak of Delli, 1206-1210,
Anvauled Gujurdy = - - VLT

Quibal *Alam or Qutbul Kisib's romb m
Bufuwa - - V1, 46; VII, 6062 ; V111, 40
Quibol Auliva Shaikl Haean Mohammuld
Chishiti’s masjid - VI, 44 45, 51
Cuth bin Khijagi, boilder of Qutbnd din
of Pir Quth Suyyid®, or Quth Shih
Divén's ronzn - - - = VIII, 74
Qo bud-din Shih of Gujurdt, 1451-1459, VI, 11,
Y11, 4, 7, 46, 54, 60, 61, 71 ; VIIL, 50, 70 : his
mu=id, VI, 44-45, 49.
Quibul ‘Alam, see Shih *Alum,

INDEX.

Ridhi, worshipped by the Svami Niriyaogs
soel - - - - - VIIL, 90
Rahn, moon's sscending node - - ¥HIL 11,12
Ritjapur Hirpur mosqne amd ravga - VI, 44, T1-74 ;
VIILI, 23, 39, 82
vitfyachintakirl, o Hindu state minister - YI, 7
Bakhiyal village, VII, 54, 37; VIH, 83; small
wosque, VIII, 85,

Ragd Nikha, s Bajpur chief - = VL 3
Rini's Mosque, Sarungpur, see Shrungpur,

Ripi Udsvimnti’s well ol Aohilavils - Y1, 6
Rani-ka Hajirk or Quesn’s tombs = V1L, 3%—40

Rini Roplvari's musjid aml  tomb i
Mirzapur - - = VIIE 42-35, 65 .
Rani Sipari’s mosque - VII, 73, 78, 83-87 ;
V111, 25, 29, 30, 32, 84, 36

Runpur, Jaiun temple at - - - VI, 84
Rio Bharmal, 1585-1631 - - . VL 15
Rashid Miyéa Pir's Shrine - - VI, 44
Rasulibid or Skih *Alam - - VI, 16, 40
Rithod or Rishtrakits dynasty - - VL 4
Rutnasingh  Bhnoddri, deputy viesroy

1785 - - - - - VI, 19

Riiyapur or (Jigi Sihol's musjid, VIIT, 75 ; Riyuspur
goti, \’IH, B3,

Revatiichaln and Urjuystn, ansient names

of Mt, Girmar - - - - VL2
Ridvan, gatekoepor of paradise - - VIIL 59
Rishablhandtha, Ist Juina Tirthamkarm - VIIL 86
Roho, step-well - - - - VIII, 13
Roshan Pir or Didh Miyan's masjid - VIIL, 66
Rudri-Mala, Saiva shrine st Siddhapur VI, 4-5, 6, &

Riustum *Ali Khil, governor of Surat,

1724 - - -

Bugen, rivoe - - - =

VL 19
Vi, 6

Subhi  mandaps or of
t-E‘mPll'l - - m]. E?-. 95
Sibbramati, river at A lwndéléd - VL 6,11; Vi,
46, 60 ; VIII, 57, 58, 65

assembly Lall

Soaludat Bainh, o native of Kirfied - - VI, 47
Sudbfican, n chief of Thilsri, ancestor of

the Abmad Shili family - - ¥, 10
Béelri or Rinpur, Jnina temple - VI, 28, 32

Safdar Khin Bibi, n title of Mubummmn

Aunwar Khiiy - . - V1, 18; VIII, 52
Sabajinand, uwame sssumed by Svikmi

Nirdynna . . . - VII, 89
Sabasralifgn tank at Patan - - V1, 6
Saifud-din, brother of Nizhmud-lin - VI, 45

Suif Kbn Mubsmmad
YIIL, 21,

Suiva Jdyolielingas, VI, 5 ; Saiva
ViLss, o1

s"ﬁi ﬁ! lﬁi liis mmb,
shrines, V1, 4, 7:
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Sakar Khiin's mosque and rouza - VIIL, 75-76;
VI, 70
Salibat Muobammad Khin, brother of

Joawin Mard Ehiin =~ - - - VIII, 52
srlét, master-mason - - - VIII, 88
Sambhava, Sambhavanftha, Hr-:l Juinn

Tirthakarn - - - VIII, 86, 87

Sameta Sikhars, Ssmmeya or Samara

Sikhara, m}thl}h}gmnl mountain of the

Jninas - - - WIII, 83, 86
sumosnn, representation of a suered mount V111, 85

Samsimud-laula Basfest Jang Balifdur,

49¢th vieeroy, 1716-1719 - - ¥I, 18
Sivi cave temples, in Kithidwid . ¥, 2
Safigrnmasimhs Ripd of Mewdd - VI, 13, VIIL 28
Sani, Saturn - - - - VI, 11, 12
Sanjar Kbin, ealled Ulugh Khiin, brother-

in-law of ‘Alfod-din Khilji - = YI,B
Sapédalakshi, SAkhambari or Simbhar - VI, 4
giira’e, & mansion, o rest-honse - - VIIL, 39
Shimiurndeva, Vighela king, 1274-1296 - VI, 8

VI, 12; VIL 70,72 ;
VIII, 28-31, 37, 72

Barasvatl, river - - - - V1.3
Sardzi Siheh’s rauza - - - NI i3

Sarkhej buildings, VI, 33 VII, 4, 46-51, 69 ; VIII,
78 ; surcophagi, "i"'LLL 78.

Sarnal, vill, and old temple - - VIII, 95, 96

Sutiirnki, ynnm.'l of Punhpnd.nnts Tirtha-

Sarpngpur Queen’s musque

kara - V1, 87
Satruiijayn, bhill u.nd Juina shrines near

Piilitani - - YL 2; VIII, &8
Sati or Pilliyd stones - - - VIII, 93

Saurdshtra, ancient name of Khithidwid - VI, 2
Sayynd Mortazf Khin Bokbéri, Tmemjr
of Gujarft, 1606-1609 - -
Sayyid ‘Abdul Jalil's raug - -
Suyyid ‘Abdul Qadir al-Jilini, founder of
the Qadirivah dervizhes - - VIII, 67, Ton

Sayyid Abdul Qadir, Biwn LLunn tha

VIII, 51
V111, 68

pireddn, 1885 - VI, 71
Sayyid Adham, zon of Euj-g-ul *Alam, a
Bukbirial Sayyid - - V1,67
Sayyid Abwad, deputy viceroy at
‘Ahmadibid, 1659 - - Viil, 55
Sayyid Abmad Gilﬁul. gnvmm at hnmtll
17 - VI, 18
Sayyid Abmud E'nhn' fnthur of Quthu]- _
{I.nrn - - VI, 15
Sayyid Abmad Shabid Pandh ° Ul.m
grandson of Shith ‘Alam - - VII1, 15

Bayyid «Alamud-din or ‘Alam Abil Bakr's
masjid - - VI,81; VII, 22-24; VIII, 67

Sayyid *Askari Miyaa's tomb - - VI, 76
Sayyid Badha bin Suyyid Tagit, tomb of

his wife at Rijnpur-Hirpur - - Vo N
Sayyid Borhfinud-din Quth ‘Alam - VII, 60, 67
VIII, 13

Sayyid Hamidi Bukbéri, left by Akbar to

govern Dholki - - V1, 30
Suyyid Hamid Ja*far Shirdei, fuumli.-r af

the Sunni Bolrd sect - - - VIIL 74
Suyyid Hasan Nor Alam, 4th in deseent

from Shili “‘Alam = = - ¥NII1, 1o
Sayyid Hazrat Shums al-shamas Shaikh

bin Abduolly al-1drhs - - - VL&

Sayyid Ja'far Bhade +Alam, 8th in descent from Shith
*Alam, VIII, 15, 20, 22 ; hi= raugs, VIII, 73.

Sayyidl Julal-i-Bukbéri or Makhidim

Juhfnian Jobfnga<ht - - VILI, 15,20, 50n
Soyrid Jallud-din Mikh ‘Alam. 5th in
descent from Shih *Alam - - VI, 15

Sayyid Juldlud-din Magsod *Alam, Tth in
desesnt from Shih *Alam - - VI, 15, 20

Sayvid Muhammul Jafar's mu.s_].iu] - VI, Ts
Sayyid Muohammad Mabbob *Alam, 9th

in deseent from Shih ‘Alam = ¥I1II, 15, 20
Saryid Mubsmmnad Maghnl ‘Alnm, 6th in

dascent from Shih *Alum = - VIIL 15, 20
Suyyid Muobhammad Shih .r‘i.lnm. son of

Qutbul *Alam - - - VI, 15
Sayvid Mugtafa’s tomb - - - VIII, 66
Bayyid Qfisim, son of Sayyid A lnmud-din VIl 22
Bayyid Shaikh Mubammad or Sayyid Jin VI, 60
Bayyid Sharaf Tamin, bullder of Cambay

mosge - - - V1, 23

Sayyid ‘Usmén, VII, 60 ; masjid and tomb, VI, 125
VII, 67-69 ; VI, 40.

Bayyidi Musjid at Méndal - =  VIII, 9«
sent of a mosque - - - WIII, 48, 67, 72
Shih ‘Abdul Fath's musjid in Shiihapur, VLI, 67, 80
Shih ‘Abdul Khalok "'-'mfnd ‘Abdal

Qiidir - - - - VIIL, 75
Shah *Abdul Wahhab's mnﬁ]ul in Khin-
pur - - - WI1II, 67 G8
sShith or Shaikh Abmad ]:.Imtm*f tomb st
Sarkhej - VI, 11, 133 VII, 46 50; VIIL T2a
Shéh *Alam buildings - VI, 12; VIII, 15-238
Shih *Alnm Mubammad Bukbiri - VIL 40, 44, 60 ;
VIII, 15, 37
Shih *Ali Razziq's ranza - - VI, 54
Shih “Aliji Knmdbani's musjid and muga  VIIL 42

Shith Bada Qisim’s ranzs - - - VI, 75

Shih Badshih Pir's rouza in Shalirkotdf  VIII, 80
Shith Fuzrl's mosque In the arsenal - NILTT
Shah Gluzni's masjid in Réyakhid

Rohilawid - : = - VI, 48
Shih Gumin, subnrb - = - VI, 78
Shith lamatil-i-Safawi, king of Persia - VIIL 50
Sbith Juhiu, Prinee Khurrwm - - VL 16:

VI, 7; VIIL 59

Shilh Khib Sayyid Mubammad Chishti's
mosque - - VII, 82-83; VIIL, 36, 81

Shilh Malbih Majzub's ranzm - - VIIL, 81

Shith Muhammad *All's wasjid in Jamil-
pur - - - - VLT



108 INDEX.

Shih Nawiz Khiin Salavi, viceroy, VI, 17 : :F]Il, 56
Shihi Bigh palace - - VI, 16 VII, 8758

Bhihpur mosque, known a2 Champh-ki masjid,
VIIL, 44, 64 ; Qdsl's mosque, VIII, 46, 47,

Shaikh Farid-i-Bokbiri, VI, 16; VLI, 53 ; Shaikh
Furid’s tomb at Pattana, VIII, 29,

Shaikh Hassi Muqu.rruh Khiin, 14th vieeroy,

1616 - = - - VI, 16
Shaikh Multummuul {or Aht:uul} ﬂln-ﬂm
rauza - . VIIL 71
Shaikh Mn];umnuul Jahid's, or Morki
masjid and ranga - = - WVIII, 69, Tl
Shaikhul-Tzlim, a tithe - - VIIIL, 63 and 0
Shfistnh Khfly, viceroy 1647-48 and 1652 VI, 17 ;
V11, 62
shaking minarets - - - ¥no,32
Showsher Khiing Sadhn,  brother of
Wajilml Mulk of Thiad - - VI, 10
Shomsud-din  Damghiini, governor of
Gujariit, 1377 1387 - - - ¥1,9
Sharifn thja's grave : - - VIII, 76
Sher Khin Babi - - - - VI 73
Sher Khin Tar, viceroy 1637-1642 - Vi 16
Siddbapiara, to, - - - YL46, T 11
Siddhariijs Jaynsithlin - - V1,835 VIII, 51
Sili Bashir's mosque - - VIL, 70; VI1LI, 24f
Bidi Sayvil's masjid and its windows - VII, 41-43

Sikandar Shih (1526) - - V1,13 ; VII, 6, 8

dikhars, spires of temples - - V1L, 88-40
Siliditya IV, of Valabhi : - VI, 8
Sithhaporn, now Sibor - - - ¥YI,3.4
Sipabdir Khin, viceroy 1633-1635 - ¥l 16
fiva, a zod - - - - VI, 23
gloices - - - - - V1II, 51 52
Sojili tomb - - - VI, 45-4T ; V11, 60
Somn or Chiandra, the moon - - 'NTIL, 11

Somaji's Channukh Temple ot Satrufijayn  VIII, 88

Somanitha - - - VI,2 5 6-8 10
Songaih - - - - YL 1L 18
Sarath or Kthidwid - VL1,4,9 11, 16-19
apirul domes - - . = VI, 34, 71
Srivaks or Jainns - - VIII, 76, 85, 87, 88
Srideva, Jaion soholar - - = VI, 84

Erin»gnrm a name of Karvvaii - VI 6; VIII, 54
Stambhatirthn, Cambay ; Stambhedvars,
n god - - - - ..
Sujitt Khin Babfidar, title of Muzum Quli Khin,
VI, 18 ; his mosqus, VI, 20 ; VIIL, 61.62,
Bikra, the planes Venus - - VIII, 11, 12
Sultin Diwar Baklsh, called Mirzd

Bulagi, viceroy 1622-1624 - < VL 16
Sunltin Murdd Mirzh, viceroy 1595-1599 VI, 16
Sumeru, mythieal mount of the Jainns - VIII, 53
sun-worship - - - - VHIL 11

Suntii Muhammadans - VI, 23: VIIL, 67, 71
Supérd, vill, in the Konkan - . Vi, 2

VI, 4, 23+

Surat, in. = - - - - VI, 70
Sitrya temple at Mudherd - - ¥L6 11
Suvidhinfithn - - - =  VIIL, AT
Sviimi Niriyagn, bis sect aod temples VLI, 89 590
Taghi or Taghf, a rabel - - - V1,4
Tuh kldnas, upderground rooms - - VI, &8
Tuilapa-deva, Chillokyan king - - VI, 4
Th; Khiin Narplliy builder Df the Shih

“Alum ranes - - VIII, 16, I8
Tiikn or Tanka masjid at I}hﬁ]kﬂ. - - ¥Vl 82
Tufikn Rajputs - - - - Yl 10
Tuhkawild or Darvesh *Al’s mosque - VI, 23
Tatdr Kbiin Mohommasd Shih, son of

Muzatfhr Shill - - ¥I,10; VIL 2, B
Tejulipiia’s temple ax Abb - VI, 30; VIII, 85
Thénd, teken by Alimad Shih - - VL1
Th#isrh, in Khedh dist. - - VI, 10; VIIL 95
Thattd, in Simlh - - - V1L, 8
Thevenot quoted - - - VIL17: VI, 33

Tinstanes, Gr. for Chastann, an early
satrap - - - - - Y1, 2

Timfirlaog’s invasion of Indin, 1398 VI, 10; VIL, 2
Tin Darwiea, in Abmadibiad VI, 25-30; VIII, 59
Tirthahkaras, Jaina hierarehis VI, 2, 3 ; VIII, 85-87
Torags, ornamental arch - - VI, 54
trabente style - - - VIII, 26, 32, 34, 43
Tribhuvanaphis, Solaikhi king, 1241-1244 V1,7

Trimbak Bhilpadés, rija of Chdmpinir - Y1, 39
triple spires or fikfaras - - VIII, 89, 90
trifula, trident of Siva - - - VI, a5
Uidui or white unt, nickname of Afzam

Khén - - - . - VI, a8
Udaydmaii, queen of Blimadeva I,

Bolanki king - - - VI, 6
Ujjain, city - - - VI,2 8; VI, 57
Ulngh Kbin, Sanjar Kbin - - ¥, 8
Updiraya, Jaina monastery - VI, 84
Urjayata and Revatbehaln, nomes of

Mt Girnfir - - - - ¥I1,2
“wrsy eelebration of festivities - VIIT, 22, 23 anid u,

42, 46, 81
Usmanpura, VII, 60, 69 ; mosque, VII, 78, 85,
Uvarsfid step-well - - - ¥II, 13
Vadial, vill, - - - - VIII, 80

Viighels or ?fﬂghmpﬂ”l Riigh of Dhiolkd, V1,7, 80
olan, VI, 30; VIL 2

Vaishpsva shrines at T’lmmgﬂm . - VI, o1
vagre, thonderboll - - = = VIII, 89
Vakhat Singh of Jodlipur, 54th viceroy,

1780-1737 - - - - ¥I1, 18
Valabli, modern Valh - - YIIL, 2, 8, and o



INDEX. 109
Vullabhdohdrya sect - - - VHL 6 | wagf, o ssered endowment - VI, 28 ; VII, 21, 81 ;
Vallabharija, third Chaulukys king : VI 4 VIIL, 16, 48, 67
Vauardija, of Aohilawddd - - - VL8 Wasna Fathpur, village revenues - VI 17
Varuga, god, gunnlion of the West - VIII, 96 wavs, step-wells : Bii Harir's at Asfrwa, VIII, 1, 2,

Vastupdls, a Jaiua echief, VI, 23, 30 ; NI, 11s
temple, VITI, 83,

Vatuvi or Batuwl, tombs VI, 19, 46 ; V11, 4, 60-63 :

VIII, 16, 40
Vayad step-well . - - ¥II, 13
Vimala S4h's temple at Abiy - VI, 5 VI, 11, 14

Viradhavala, of the Vighela clan = VI1,7,30
Virnmgm and its remnins - - VI, 6,13;
VIIiI, 82, 91-93
Yimsidmhn, chief of Kilol . = VIO, 12
Virata, where the Pigdavas resided - VI, 40
Virdwal, seaport - - - VL 1lin
Visalndeva, Viighela king, 1243-1261 - YL 7§
Vishgun, n god - - = - VIIL, B4
Wahidshih Pir, or Pir Vazirshili's masjid
and ranzs in Mirzapur - - VIII, 67

Wajihud-din, ‘Alwi of Gujarit, VILI, 48 ; his tomb,
Y111, 53-54, 68.
Wajihud-din Maghribi, Shaikh Almad

Kattn - - - VIL 15
Wajiliul-Mulk, father of Mugaffar II - VI, 8, 10
Wagjihul Mulk Gujardsi - 5 = ¥t

4-6, 10, 12; Mith Bhavani’s at Asirwa, VIII,

1-3 ; at Adalaj, VIII, 10-13 ; at Robo, VIIL, 14 ;

at Vuynd, VIII, 13; at Pitan, VIL, 13 wt

Uvirsud, VIIL, 13; at Chhatrdl, VIII, 13; neasr
upur, VIIL, 13 ; at Rakhyal, VII, 56,

wazdk, religions ablotion - - VI, 26; VII, 24
Willinms, Col. Mouier - - - VII, 32
wood-carving at Kapadvanj - = VIII, 94
Yiadavas, the elan of Kyishya - - ¥1,2
Yéahyh, o poet - - - VII, 38, 82
Yakshes and Yakshigls - - - VI, 89
Yama, & god, guardian of the South - VIII, 96
Ydwnr ‘All Khfn, brother of Momin

Ehin IV - - - - VI, 25
Yoginis - - - - - VIOIL &
Yuvarija or deputy rmler - - Y1, 7
Zufur Khiin, afterwards Mugaffar I - VI, 8, 9,10
Zafar Khin Gustari - - - VI, 29
Zainni-Abidin Najm Khin, son-in-law of

Momin Khin I - - - - VI, 24

Zerbakbsh or “ Goll-bestower,” title of

Muhammad Shah I - - - VI, 11
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